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SOCIETE
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SOCIETE GENERALE
as Issuer and Guarantor
(incorporated in France)

and

SG ISSUER SOCIETE GENERALE EFFEKTEN GMBH
as Issuer as Issuer
(incorporated in Luxembourg) (incorporated in Germany)

Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

Under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme (the Programme), each of Societe Generale, SG Issuer and Societe Generale Effekten GmbH (each an Issuer and together the
Issuers) may from time to time issue Notes (the Notes) denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer of such Notes (the relevant Issuer) and the relevant purchaser(s).

When securities to be issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus are qualified as “certificates” (as defined in “ Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes”), any reference in the
relevant section of this Base Prospectus and in the applicable Final Terms to “Notes” and “Noteholders” shall be deemed to be a reference to “Certificates” and
“Certificateholders’”.

Notes issued under the Programme may either be unsecured or secured (Secured Notes), as specified in the applicable Final Terms and as further described herein.
Payments in respect of Notes issued by SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Societe Generale (the Guarantor).
Subject as set out herein, the Notes will not be subject to any minimum or maximum maturity.

The Notes will be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified in the "General Description of the Programme" and any additional dealer appointed under the
Programme from time to time (each a Dealer and together the Dealers). Notes may also be issued to third parties other than Dealers. Dealers and such third parties are referred to
as Purchasers. The terms and conditions of the German Law Notes (the German Law Notes) are set out herein in the " Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes".

German Law Notes may be issued in bearer form (Bearer Notes, which include Bearer SIS Notes (as defined in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Notes"). Bearer Notes may be represented by one or more Global Notes (as defined in the section headed " Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes").

Bearer Notes (other than Bearer SIS Notes) will be deposited with a common depositary (Common Depositary) or, in the case of new global notes (New Global Notes or NGN), a
common safekeeper (Common Safekeeper) on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV as operator of the Euroclear System (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (Clearstream,
Luxembourg) and Clearstream Banking AG, Germany (Clearstream, Germany). Bearer SIS Notes (certified in a Permanent Global SIS Note) will be deposited with the Swiss
securities services corporation SIX SIS Ltd (SIS) or any other intermediary in Switzerland recognised for such purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (SIX Swiss Exchange).

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the CSSF) which is the Luxembourg competent authority for the
purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus Regulation). The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation and such approval shall not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuers, the Guarantor and of the
quality of the securities that are the subject of this Base Prospectus. The CSSF gives no undertaking as to the economic and financial soundness of the Notes issued under the Debt
Instruments Issuance Programme (the Programme) or the quality or solvency of the Issuer, in accordance with the provisions of Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg act on prospectuses
for securities dated 16 July 2019, as amended. Such approval does not extend to money market instruments (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) having a maturity of less than
one year or to Notes (which are not publicly offered) to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF (as defined below).

Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on (i) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's
regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and (ii) the multilateral trading facility Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the
Euro MTF). The regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU of 15 May
2014 (as amended, MiFID Il) (a Regulated Market).

The Euro MTF is not a Regulated Market and accordingly the CSSF is not the competent authority for the approval of this Base Prospectus in connection with Notes issued under the
Programme which are admitted to trading on the Euro MTF, but the Euro MTF is subject to the supervision of the CSSF. The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any
information in this Base Prospectus pertaining to Notes admitted to trading on the Euro MTF. The CSSF therefore assumes no responsibility in relation to the issues of Notes
admitted to trading on the Euro MTF.

Notes issued under the Programme may also be unlisted or listed and admitted to trading on any other market, including any other Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA
and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA. The applicable Final Terms in respect of the issue of any Notes (as defined below) will specify whether or not such
Notes will be listed and admitted to trading on any market and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA and, if so, the relevant market.

This Base Prospectus has been approved on 21 June 2021 and is valid until 21 June 2022 and must during such period and in accordance with Article 23 of Regulation (EU)
2017/1129, as amended, be completed by a supplement to the Base Prospectus in the event of any new significant facts or material errors or inaccuracies. The obligation to
supplement the Base Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies does not apply when the Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

This Base Prospectus will be filed with SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd (prospectus office) as competent review body under the Swiss Financial Services Act (the “FinSA”) for
automatic acceptance of this Base Prospectus as an issuance prospectus in accordance with article 54(2) of the FinSA.The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information
in this Base Prospectus pertaining to Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange.

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) or under the
securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the Notes has not been approved by the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (the CFTC)
under the United States Commodities Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the CEA). No person has registered and no person will register as a commodity pool operator of any
Issuer under the CEA and the rules thereunder (the CFTC Rules) of the CFTC, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered as an investment company under the United
States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the Investment Company Act). The Notes are being offered and sold in reliance
on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder (Regulation S).

Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit
of a person who (a) is not a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S; and (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the
CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a “Non-United States person” defined under CFTC
Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons,” shall be considered a
U.S. person) and (c) is not a "U.S. person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person) (such a person or account, Permitted Transferee). The Notes described herein are available
only to Permitted Transferees.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons. The Notes are not being offered to investors in the United States or to any U.S. persons,
including qualified institutional buyers.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes which are applicable to each issuance (as defined in the
General Terms and Conditions of the Notes) of Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the Final Terms) which (except in the case of Exempted Swiss Public Offer Note or
Exempt Offer Note) (all as defined in the sections entitled “General Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes”)) will be filed with the CSSF.
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THE NOTES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES
OR COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE
MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE
IN THE UNITED STATES.

U.S. Treasury regulations issued under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Section 871(m) Regulations) generally impose a 30% withholding tax on
dividend equivalents paid or deemed paid (within the meaning of the relevant Section 871(m) Regulations) to a non-United States holder (a Non-U.S. Holder) with respect to certain
financial instruments linked to U.S. equities or indices that include U.S. equities (U.S. Underlying Equities). Specifically, and subject to special rules from 2017 through 2022 set out
in Notice 2020-2 (the Notice), the Section 871(m) Regulations will generally apply to Notes issued on or after 1 January 2017 that substantially replicate the economic performance
of one or more U.S. Underlying Equities as determined by the Issuer on the date for such Notes as of which the expected delta of the product is determined by the Issuer based on
tests in accordance with the applicable Section 871(m) Regulations (for the purposes of the Notice, such Notes are deemed “delta-one” instruments) (the Specified Notes). A Note
linked to U.S. Underlying Equities which the Issuer has determined not to be a Specified Note will not be subject to withholding tax under Section 871(m) Regulations. Investors are
advised that the Issuer's determination is binding on all Non-U.S. Holders of the Notes, but it is not binding on the United States Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) and the IRS may
therefore disagree with the Issuer’s determination.

The applicable Final Terms will specify if the Notes are Specified Notes, and, if so, whether relevant the Issuer or its withholding agent will withhold tax under Section 871(m)
Regulations and the rate of the withholding tax. Investors should note that if the Issuer or any withholding agent determines that withholding is required, neither the relevant Issuer
nor the withholding agent will be required to gross up any amounts withheld in connection with a Specified Note. Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the potential
application of Section 871(m) Regulations to their investment in the Notes.

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and
practices of the jurisdiction in which the Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions
may be available for financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised to consult their own tax adviser on the tax impacts of the acquisition,
holding, disposal and redemption of the Notes. The requirement to pay such taxes may reduce the effective yield on the Notes and may also have an adverse impact on
their value.

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes state that "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" are Applicable, the Notes are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA).
For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning
of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10)
of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended (the Prospectus Regulation). Consequently no key information
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in
the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs
Regulation.

IMPORTANT - UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes state "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors", as Applicable, the Notes are not intended to
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a
retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of
the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to
implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MiFID Il product governance/ target market — the Final Terms in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitied “MiFID Il product governance” which will outline the target
market assessment in respect of the Notes, taking into account the five categories referred to in item 18 of the Guidelines published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) on 5 February 2018, and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in
respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU Delegated 2017/593 (the MiFID Product
Governance Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger or the Dealer nor any of their respective
affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market — the Final Terms in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Governance” which will outline the target
market assessment in respect of the Notes, taking into account the five categories referred to in item 18 of the Guidelines published by the ESMA on 5 February 2018 (in accordance
with the FCA’s policy statement entitled “Brexit our approach to EU non-legislative materials”), and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment
in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a
manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR
Product Governance Rules.

The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information in relation to Notes which are only listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange or offered to the public solely in Switzerland.

ARRANGER
Societe Generale

DEALERS
Societe Generale

SG Option Europe
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General Description of the Programme

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, this Base
Prospectus and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.
The following description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended implementing the Prospectus Regulation.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "Form of the Notes", "General Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Notes" shall have the same meanings in this general description.

Hyperlinks of websites referred to in the Base Prospectus are exclusively for information purposes and must not be
regarded as part of the Base Prospectus itself, unless the information to which they refer is incorporated by reference in
the Base Prospectus.

1.

PARTIES TO THE PROGRAMME

Issuers
- Societe Generale

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEl): O2RNE8IBXP4R0TD8PU41
- SG Issuer

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 549300QNMDBVTHX8H127
- Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 529900W18LQJJN6SJ336
Guarantor
Societe Generale
Arranger
Societe Generale
Dealers

Societe Generale, SG Option Europe and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme
Agreement.

Listing Agent, Fiscal Agent

Societe Generale Luxembourg

Paying Agents

Societe Generale (Paris), Societe Generale, Paris, Zurich Branch, Societe Generale, New York Branch, Societe
Generale Luxembourg, Societe Generale, Sucursal en Espafa, Societe Generale Securities Services S.p.A.,
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited (for Notes cleared with Euroclear UK & lIreland Limited)

and/or any such additional or successor paying agent appointed in accordance with the General Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Notes.

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, and other Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, Societe Generale, Paris, Zurich
Branch shall act as Principal Swiss Paying Agent, together with further additional Swiss Paying Agents which
may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

DESCRIPTION

Debt Instruments Issuance Programme.

Notes issued under the Programme are intended to constitute "non-equity securities", within the meaning of
Article 2(c) of Prospectus Regulation.

METHOD OF DISTRIBUTION

Notes may be distributed to qualified investors and/or non-qualified investors and, in each case, on a syndicated
or non-syndicated basis.

Notes may be offered at a price as specified in the applicable Final Terms which:

(a) will be the Issue Price or the Issue Price up to a maximum specified in the applicable Final Terms,
represented by a distribution fee payable upfront by the Issuer to the distributors; or
(b) will be the market price which will be determined by the Dealer on a daily basis (and, as the case may

be, in accordance with market conditions then prevailing including the current market price of the
Underlying(s)); and/or will evolve between the Issue Date and the last day of the Offer Period on a
linear basis in such way specified in the applicable Final Terms on the last day of the Offer Period and
will be provided by the Dealer to any Noteholders upon request; or

(c) will be fully subscribed by the Dealer and thereafter offered to the public in the secondary market in
France, at the Issue Price, during the Offer Period; or
(d) will evolve between dates specified in the applicable Final Terms in order to reach a specific maximum

level on a specific date, in accordance with the following formula:
Offer Price (t) = OfferPriceBase x (1 + ConvergencePercentage x Nb(t) / 360)
Where :
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OfferPriceBase means a number specified in the applicable Final Terms;
ConvergencePercentage means a percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

Nb(t) means the number of calendar days between the Issue Date and the date "t" on which the value
of the Notes is calculated (both dates included);or

(e) will be determined by the Dealer on a continuous basis in accordance with the market conditions then
prevailing and depending on market conditions, the offer price shall be equal to, higher or lower than
the Issue Price; or

(f) will be provided by the Dealer by way of quotes made available in the market specified in the
applicable Final Terms,

and which, in all cases, may be increased by such fees, if any, as disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.
CURRENCIES

The payment obligations in respect of any Notes may be in any currency or currencies agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to compliance as aforesaid, be made in and/or linked to, any
currency or currencies other than the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

ISSUE PRICE

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an issue price (expressed either (i) as a
percentage of the Aggregate Nominal Amount or (i) as an amount per Note of the relevant Specified
Denomination which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms).

REDEMPTION

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity
(other than in specified instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default or in
the event of an optional outstanding Notes trigger call or, in relation to Secured Notes only, following the
occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event) or that such Notes (if Physical Delivery Notes) may be settled at
maturity or otherwise by receipt by the holder(s) of a cash amount and/or by delivery of the relevant Deliverable
Assets or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon
giving not less than thirty nor more than forty five days' irrevocable notice (or such other notice period (if any) as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) to the Noteholders or the relevant Issuer, as the case may be, on a date
or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as may be agreed
between the Issuer and purchaser(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms may provide that Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of such
amounts and on such dates as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

For Notes issued by Societe Generale that are not structured Notes (titres non structurés) as defined under
Article R.613-28 of the French Code Monétaire et Financier, the redemption, purchase or cancellation prior their
Maturity Date will be subject to the prior written permission of the Regulator and/or the Relevant Resolution
Authority to the extent required at such date.

MATURITIES OF THE NOTES

Any maturity as indicated in the applicable Final Terms subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or
regulations applicable to the relevant Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes issued by SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH having a maturity of less than one year from the
date of issue are subject to certain restrictions on their denomination and distribution (see the paragraph
"Certain Restrictions — Notes having a maturity of less than one year" below).

REDENOMINATION AND/OR CONSOLIDATION

The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Notes may be redenominated in euro. The relevant
provisions applicable to any such redenomination are contained in the General Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Notes.

Notes denominated in a currency that may be redenominated into euro may be subject to consolidation with
other Notes denominated in euro.

STATUS OF THE NOTES

Notes issued by Societe Generale will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of Societe Generale ranking as senior preferred obligations, as provided for in Article L. 613-30-3 |
3° of French Code Monétaire et Financier.

Notes issued by SG Issuer (other than Secured Notes) will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of SG Issuer.

Notes (other than Secured Notes) issued by Societe Generale Effekten GmbH will constitute direct,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Societe Generale Effekten GmbH.

Secured Notes will be issued by SG Issuer only.
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The provisions relating to Secured Notes are more fully described in the section “Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Secured Notes”, respectively.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

11.

For Notes issued by Societe Generale that are not structured Notes (titres non structurés) as defined under
Article R.613-28 of the French Code Monétaire et Financier there would be no event of default in respect of
such Notes if the applicable Final Terms specify that Event of Default is Not Applicable and the Noteholders will
not be able to accelerate the maturity of such Notes.

CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS

12.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines, regulations,
restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws,
guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements in full force (see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer
Restrictions") including the following restrictions applicable at the date of this Base Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes issued by SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH having a maturity of less than one year will, if
the proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom, constitute deposits for the purposes of the
prohibition on accepting deposits contained in Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
unless they are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000
or its equivalent, see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions".

Under the Prospectus Regulation, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having a maturity at
issue of less than twelve months and complying with the definition of securities (as defined in the Prospectus
Regulation) do not constitute a prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation.

TYPE OF NOTES

No debt securities that are exchangeable or convertible into shares (under Article 19 of Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980) will be issued under this Base Prospectus. Any benchmark to which a Note refers
will be provided by an administrator included in the register referred to in Article 36 of the Benchmark
Regulation.

Fixed Rate Notes
Fixed rate interest will be payable on such date(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and on redemption

and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer
and the relevant Dealer(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Partly Paid Notes
The Issue Price of Partly Paid Notes will be payable in more than one instalment.

While any part payments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of Partly Paid Notes are overdue, no
interest in a Temporary or Permanent Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for Definitive
Bearer Notes.

If any Noteholder fails to pay any part payment due on any Partly Paid Notes within the time specified, the
relevant Issuer may have a right to redeem such Notes if so specified, and on the terms set out, in the
applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a
notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement evidenced
by a confirmation incorporating the 2021 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes
of the relevant Series) or (ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on an agreed screen page of a
commercial quotation service.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) for each issue of Floating Rate Notes and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes may also have either a minimum interest rate or a maximum interest rate or both.

Interest will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Physical Delivery Notes

Payments in respect of Physical Delivery Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at
maturity or otherwise) and any delivery of any Deliverable Asset(s) in respect of Physical Delivery Notes will be
made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Final Terms, subject always to applicable securities laws.

Zero Coupon Notes
Zero Coupon Notes will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment.
Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a
floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the relevant Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this will affect
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the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the relevant Issuer may be expected to convert
the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing.

Dual Currency Notes

Payments in respect of Dual Currency Notes (whether in respect of principal and/or interest and whether at
maturity or otherwise) will be made in such currency or currencies, and based on such rate or rates of
exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant purchaser(s) may agree (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms).

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes

Floating Rate Notes and Structured Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or
both, or be subject to a rate multiplier, in each case as set forth in the applicable Final Terms.

TYPE OF STRUCTURED NOTES

Structured Notes

Structured Notes will provide investors with an exposure to one or more Underlyings. Payments of any amounts
in respect of Structured Notes will be calculated by reference to such Underlying. Item "Type of Structured
Notes" of the applicable Final Terms will specify the relevant type of Underlying of the Structured Notes. Any
Structured Note may be exposed to more than one Underlying, in which case more than one type of Structured
Note will be specified. For each such Underlying and type of Note, the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions
will apply. The application of such Additional Terms and Conditions will also be specified in item "Type of
Structured Notes" of the applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will specify the relevant Underlying and state where information on the relevant
Underlying, in particular on its past and future performance and on its volatility, can be found and whether or not
the relevant Issuer intends to provide further information on the Underlying.

Each type of Underlying for Structured Notes is further described below.
Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes will be calculated by
reference to one or more shares or depositary receipts as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked
Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes. Share Linked
Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment if certain
corporate events, delisting, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or insolvency occur, all as more fully described
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes.

The issuer will have securities already admitted to trading on a regulated market, equivalent third country
market or SME Growth Market.

Index Linked Notes

Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of Index Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to the performance of one or more Indices as the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes.

Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is not composed by the relevant Issuer. In
accordance with the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended, the applicable Final
Terms contains the name of the Index and an indication of where to obtain information about the index.

SGl Index Linked Notes

Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of SGI Index Linked Notes will be
calculated by reference to one or more Societe Generale Indices as the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

SGI Index Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI Index Linked Notes.

SGl Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an index that is composed by Societe Generale or any
other legal entity belonging to the Societe Generale group (an SGI Index).

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the administrator of the SGI Indices, Societe Generale, is included in the
register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by ESMA pursuant to Articles 34 and 36
of the EU Benchmark Regulation.

In respect of the description of each SGI Index, this Base Prospectus contains in the section "Description of SG/
Indices", in accordance with Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 as amended, an index
description including the essential characteristics to enable an investor to fully understand the index and its
dynamics and make an informed assessment.

It should be noted that additional SGI Indices may be used as underlyings following the publication of a
supplement in accordance with the provisions of Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, containing an index
description of such additional Indices.
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ETF Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETF Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more exchange traded funds
as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Subject to applicable laws and regulations, ETF Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical
delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and
for ETF Linked Notes. ETF Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustments, all as more fully
described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes.

ETP Linked Notes

Payments in respect of ETP Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the performance of one or more
exchange trade products as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms. ETP Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the
Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF
Linked Notes. ETP Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in
the Additional Terms and Condition for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF Linked Notes.

Reference Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Reference Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more reference
rate as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

Reference Rate Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more
foreign exchange rate as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes.

Commodity Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Commodity Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more commodities
and/or commodity indices as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Commodity Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Fund Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in a
single fund or basket of funds on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Subject to applicable laws and regulations, Fund Linked
Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set out in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.

Fund Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment, as applicable, or if certain corporate
events occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes.

Credit Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the credit, and possibly the CDS spread, of a
specified entity or entities and will be issued on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and
the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bankruptcy,
Failure to Pay, Obligation Acceleration, Obligation Default, Repudiation/Moratorium or Restructuring) in relation
to a Reference Entity or, with respect to Basket Notes and Tranche Notes, Reference Entities, in each case as
specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation of the relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be
replaced by (i) an obligation to pay other amounts which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified
in the applicable Final Terms or amounts calculated by reference to the value of the Deliverable Asset(s) (which
may, in each case, be less than the par value of the Notes at the relevant time) and/or (ii) an obligation to
deliver the Deliverable Asset(s), all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes. In addition, interest-bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date
of occurrence of such circumstances.

The issuer of a selected reference obligation will have securities already admitted to trading on a regulated
market, equivalent third country market or SME Growth Market.

Credit Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.

Inflation Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Inflation Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to inflation indices as agreed
between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.



General Description of the Programme

Inflation Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Inflation Linked Notes.

Bond Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Bond Linked Notes will be linked to the credit of a specified obligation (the “Bond” as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) issued by a specified issuer (the “Bond Issuer” as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) and will be issued on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and
the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances (which may include, amongst other things, Bond
Acceleration, Bond Default, Bond Failure to Pay or Bond Restructuring) in relation to a Bond or Bonds (with
respect to Basket of Bond Linked Notes) in each case as specified in the applicable Final Terms, the obligation
of the relevant Issuer to pay principal at maturity may be replaced by (i) an obligation to pay other amounts
which are equal to either certain fixed amount(s) as specified in the applicable Final Terms or amounts
calculated by reference to the value of the underlying assets (which may, in each case, be less than the par
value of the Notes at the relevant time) In addition, interest-bearing Bond Linked Notes may cease to bear
interest on or prior to the date of occurrence of such circumstances.

Bond Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.

Non Equity Security Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Non Equity Security Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more non
equity securities or futures contracts thereon as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s)
and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Non Equity Security Linked Notes may be subject to early
redemption or adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Non Equity
Security Linked Notes.

Future Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Future Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to one or more future contracts as
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
Future Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption or adjustments, as more fully described in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes.

Portfolio Linked Notes

Payments in respect of Portfolio Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to a portfolio of underlyings as the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Portfolio Linked Notes may also provide for redemption by physical delivery of the Deliverable Asset(s) as set
out in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Portfolio Linked Notes. Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to
early redemption or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Condition for Portfolio
Linked Notes.

Preference Share Linked Notes

The redemption Amount payable in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to
the performance of a single specified preference share of the Preference Share Issuer as agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms. Preference Share
Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Preference Share Linked Notes.

Warrant Linked Notes

The redemption amount payable in respect of Warrant Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to the
performance of warrants issued by the Warrants Issuer as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant
purchaser(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Warrant Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption as more fully described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Warrant Linked Notes.
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RISK FACTORS

The discussion below is of a general nature and is intended to describe various risk factors associated with an
investment in the Notes. You should carefully consider the following discussion of risks, and any risk factors
included in the documents incorporated by reference herein.

The Issuers and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing
in Notes issued under the Programme, but the failure of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to pay interest (if any),
principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur or arise for other reasons which may not be
considered significant risks by the Issuers or the Guarantor based on information currently available to them or which
they may not currently be able to anticipate.

Words and expressions defined elsewhere in this Base Prospectus shall have the same meanings when used in this
section.

To the best of each Issuers’ knowledge, in each category of Risk Factors, the risk factor identified by the Issuers as the
most important appears first. For the rest of the risk factors, the order of appearance is not an indication of the
importance or the likelihood of their occurrence.

1. RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP

Risk factors relating to Societe Generale group are detailed on pages 152 to 162 of the 2021 Universal
Registration Document and pages 30 to 32 of the First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration
Document which are incorporated by reference (see Section "Documents Incorporated by Reference").

2. RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUERS AND THE GUARANTOR
2.1 Factors that may affect Societe Generale's ability, as Issuer or Guarantor, to fulfil its obligations under
the Notes

Issue of the Notes by the Issuers on the account of the Guarantor and Limited Recourse

The obligations under the Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and, subject to the Guarantee
unsecured limited recourse obligations of any of the Issuers and shall at all times rank pari passu and without
preference among themselves.

Societe Generale Effekten GmbH and the Guarantor have entered into a trust agreement (the Trust
Agreement) pursuant to which Societe Generale Effekten GmbH shall, inter alia, (i) issue and redeem the
Notes on a fiduciary basis (treuhdnderisch) in its own name but for the account of the Guarantor; (ii) collect any
proceeds resulting from the issuance of the Notes and forward them to the Guarantor; and (iii) use only the
funds made available to it by the Guarantor under the Trust Agreement (which funds shall equal the amount of
any payments owed by the Issuer under the Notes as and when such payment obligations fall due and in a
manner that allows the Issuer to fulfil its payment obligations in a timely manner) for payments owed under the
Notes as and when they fall due and to make such payments on a fiduciary basis in its own name but for the
account of the Guarantor. Societe Generale Effekten GmbH ability to satisfy its payment obligations under the
Notes in full is therefore dependent upon Societe Generale Effekten GmbH receiving in full the amounts
payable to it by the Guarantor under the Trust Agreement.

Due to this trust structure, the Noteholders directly depend on the credit risk of the Guarantor (see
"Creditworthiness of the Guarantor" below) rather than that of Societe Generale Effekten GmbH. Any payment
obligations of the Societe Generale Effekten GmbH under the Notes are limited to the funds received from the
Guarantor under the Trust Agreement.

To the extent the funds to be received from the Guarantor under the Trust Agreement prove ultimately
insufficient to satisfy the claims of all Noteholders in full, then any shortfall arising therefrom will be extinguished
and no Noteholder has any further claims against Societe Generale Effekten GmbH (subject, however, to the
right to exercise any termination or early redemption rights). This applies irrespective of whether Societe
Generale Effekten GmbH would be able to make such payments out of other funds available to it.

For the avoidance of doubt, the above-mentioned limited recourse structure does not limit the rights of
Noteholders under the Guarantee and no not alter or impair the Guarantor’s obligations under the
relevant guarantee.

22 Risks relating to the Societe Generale Effekten GmbH under the Trust Agreement

Any payment obligations of the Societe Generale Effekten GmbH under the Notes are limited to the funds
received from the Guarantor under the Trust Agreement. To the extent the funds to be received from the
Guarantor under the Trust Agreement prove ultimately insufficient to satisfy the claims of all Noteholders in full,
then any shortfall arising therefrom will be extinguished and no Noteholder has any further claims against the
Societe Generale Effekten GmbH (subject, however, to the right to exercise any termination or early redemption
rights). This applies irrespective of whether the Societe Generale Effekten GmbH would be able to make such
payments out of other funds available to it.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Guarantor is obliged to make available to the Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH funds that equal the amount of any payments owed by the Societe Generale Effekten GmbH under the
Notes as and when such payment obligations fall due and in a manner that allows the Societe Generale
Effekten GmbH to fulfil its payment obligations in a timely manner. Due to this fiduciary issue structure the
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Noteholders depend solely and directly on the payments under the Trust Agreement and thus on the credit risk
of the Guarantor.

In case of Notes issued by Societe Generale, if Societe Generale defaults or goes bankrupt, the Noteholders
may suffer a partial or total loss of the amount invested. If Societe Generale is subject to measures in respect of
the regulations relating to the statutory bail-in mechanism (bail-in), their debt may be reduced to zero, converted
into equity (shares) or debt securities or undergo a maturity postponement. Their investment is not covered by
any guarantee or compensation system. Societe Generale’s credit ratings are an assessment of its ability to
honour its commitments. Consequently, any actual or anticipated downgrading of Societe Generale’s credit
ratings may affect the market value of the Notes.

Societe Generale unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the payment of all amounts due under the Notes
by SG Issuer and as a result the Noteholders are exposed to the credit risk of Societe Generale as Guarantor.
Societe Generale’s credit ratings are an assessment of its ability to honour its commitments. Consequently, any
actual or anticipated downgrades of Societe Generale’s credit ratings may affect the market value of the Notes.

Factors that may affect SG Issuer's ability, as Issuer, to fulfil its obligations under the Notes

In case of Notes issued by SG Issuer, SG Issuer's activity consists inter alia in issuing debt securities and the
funds collected are systematically deposited with Societe Generale in the form of either term loans or swap
contracts and pursuant to which SG Issuer will receive from Societe Generale the amounts due under the
Notes. SG Issuer's ability to make payments under the Notes will therefore depend primarily on the performance
of its obligations by Societe Generale under such hedging transactions entered into between SG Issuer and
Societe Generale.

If SG Issuer defaults or goes bankrupt, as a result of the limited recourse clause on SG Issuer included in the
terms and conditions of the Notes, the Noteholders have no recourse against SG Issuer and any amount due
and unpaid by SG Issuer must be claimed against Societe Generale as Guarantor.

If the resolution authorities take structural bail-in measures in accordance with the regulations relating to the
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, against securities issued by Societe Generale
or SG Issuer (statutory bail-in) or against structured securities of Societe Generale (contractual bail-in) then the
investment of the Noteholders may be reduced to zero, converted into equity (shares) or debt securities or be
subject to a maturity postponement and in such case the obligations of Societe Generale as Guarantor shall be
adjusted to such reduction, conversion or postponement. Their investment is not covered by any guarantee or
indemnity system.

Information in relation with the lack of independence of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the Guarantor -
Conflict of interest

Information in relation with the lack of independence of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the
Guarantor - Conflict of interest

Societe Generale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of the Notes issued by SG Issuer
and also as provider of hedging instruments to each Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the
credit risk of Societe Generale but also to operational risks arising from the lack of independence of Societe
Generale, in assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor and provider of the hedging instruments.
Whilst compliance procedures require effective segregation of duties and responsibilities between the relevant
divisions within the Guarantor, the possibility of conflicts of interest arising cannot be wholly eliminated.

The Group provides a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide including the
issuance of "structured securities” where the amounts due under the Notes are linked to the performance of
underlying assets, and may possess or acquire material and/or confidential information about the underlying
assets and/or the reference entities which is not public knowledge and which are or could be important to the
Notes.

Such business activities and such material and/or confidential information may cause consequences adverse to
the Noteholders. The Issuers, the Guarantor and any other member of the Group have no obligation to disclose
such information about such underlying assets or the obligors to which they relate or the reference entities.

The Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, and the Exchange Agent may be all part
of the Group. A deterioration of Societe Generale's credit risk would have a negative impact on the obligations
of each of the entities listed above in relation to the Notes. If one of these entities does not respect its
obligations towards the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor, this could have a negative impact on the
Noteholders.

Risk relating to the Issuer substitution

Societe Generale, SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH may be replaced by each other or by any
subsidiary or any other third party as principal obligor in respect of the Notes without the consent of the relevant
Noteholders; provided certain conditions are satisfied (inter alia no withholding tax triggered by the substitution,
guarantee by Societe Generale to be maintained as the case may be). Any such substitution may impact the
value of the Notes.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE CHARACTERISTICS OF THE NOTES

3.1
3.1.1

Risks related to the characteristics of the Notes
Risks linked to Notes including a risk of capital loss

For Notes which include a risk of capital loss, the redemption value of such Notes may be less than the amount
initially invested. In a worst case scenario, investors may lose their entire investment. Moreover, regardless of
the level of the capital protection, the investor may lose part or all of the initially invested amount, if the Notes
are sold by the investor before the maturity date.

Risks linked to Notes offering a full capital protection at maturity date

For Notes which offer a full capital protection (100%) of the Specified Denomination at maturity date, the
investor may, however, lose part or all of the initially invested amount if the Notes are sold by the investor before
the maturity date (since the value of the Notes during their lifetime may be lower than the amount of the capital
protection due to market fluctuations).

Risks linked to the absence of events of default with respect to Notes issued by Societe Generale which
are not Structured Notes

For Notes issued by Societe Generale which are titres non structurés as defined under Article R.613-28 of the
Monetary and Financial Code for which the applicable Final Terms specify that “Event of Default with respect to
Notes issued by Societe Generale” is “Not Applicable”, the Noteholders will not be able to accelerate the
maturity of such Notes. Accordingly, if Societe Generale fails to meet any obligations under such Notes,
investors will not have the right of acceleration of principal and accrued interests. Upon a payment default, the
sole remedy available to Noteholders for recovery of amounts due in respect of any payment of principal or
interest on such Notes will be the institution of judicial proceedings to enforce such payment. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Issuer will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum
or sums sooner than the initially scheduled due date but with a potential further deterioration of its financial
situation until then. Therefore, the liquidity and market value of the Notes may be adversely affected and
investors who sell Notes on the secondary market could lose all or part of their investment.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

The Final Terms may specify that Notes can be subject to an early redemption which can be triggered at the
Issuer’s sole discretion either on certain predefined dates or at any time during the life of the Notes. The
possibility of an early redemption of the Notes at the Issuer’s discretion may limit the market value of such Note.
Before or during each period during which the Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, their market value will not
rise substantially above their redemption price for Notes and the Noteholders will not benefit from the
subsequent performance of the underlying(s).

Notes subject to automatic redemption

The Final Terms may specify that Notes can be subject to an automatic redemption for Notes if the level of the
underlying(s) becomes higher than, equal to or below one or more predefined level(s) on either predefined
dates or at any time during the life of the Notes. As a result, for those Notes when the level of the underlying(s)
reaches the predefined level(s), the Noteholders will not benefit from the performance of the underlying(s)
subsequent to such event.

Early redemption at the option of the Issuer (following a Tax Event, Special Tax Event, Regulatory Event
or Force Majeure Event or for a decrease in issuance size)

The Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as the case may be, may decide to redeem early the Notes at market value
upon the occurrence of certain events (including, without limitation, a change in law or regulation, including tax
law, or a force majeure event affecting the Issuer or an entity of its group, if the outstanding aggregate nominal
amount of such Notes falls below or equals 10% of the initial aggregate nominal amount of such Notes). This
could result in Noteholders receiving an early redemption amount which may be lower than the amount of the
initial investment (regardless of the level of capital protection at maturity, if any) and being redeemed earlier
than they had anticipated and the Noteholders will not benefit from the performance of the underlying(s)
subsequent to such event.

The redemption of Notes issued by Societe Generale that are not structured Notes (titres non structurés) as
defined under Article R.613-28 of the French Code Monétaire et Financier before the Maturity Date may be
subject to prior written permission of the Regulator. Should the Regulator refuse to give its permission, the
market value of the Notes may be affected negatively, and investors may incur losses in respect of their
investments in the Notes.

Risks related to adjustment, substitution or cancellation of the Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes give the Calculation Agent a certain discretion to determine whether any
event(s) affecting the Notes or the underlying(s) has occurred in accordance with such Terms and Conditions.
The Calculation Agent also has certain discretion in order to determine the consequences thereof for the Notes,
the underlying(s) or the hedging transactions, including determination of the price of the underlying(s) and the
choice between (a) mechanisms to adjust or substitute the underlying(s), (b) the deduction of the increase in the
cost of hedging of any amount due, (c) the monetisation and, consequently, the de-indexation of the formula of
the Notes for all or part of the amounts due under the Notes on the underlying(s) and/or (d) the early redemption
of the Notes by the Issuer, without any obligation to take into account the interest of the Noteholders. In the
absence of manifest or proven error, these adjustments, substitutions or cancellation decisions will be binding
upon the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent and the Noteholders. Each of these measures imposed on
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3.1.10

3.1.11

3.1.12

3.1.13

the Notes may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested (regardless of the level of capital
protection of the Notes, if any).

Trading in the Notes and/or Underlyings may be suspended, interrupted or terminated

If the Notes are listed on one (or more) regulated or unregulated markets, the trading of such Notes may —
depending on the rules applicable to such markets — be suspended or interrupted by the respective stock
exchange or a competent regulatory authority upon the occurrence of a number of reasons, including violation
of price limits, breach of statutory provisions, occurrence of operational problems of the stock exchange or
generally if deemed required in order to secure a functioning market or to safeguard the interests of investors.
Furthermore, trading in the Notes may be terminated, either upon decision of the stock exchange or a regulatory
authority.

Where trading in an Underlying of the Notes is suspended, interrupted or terminated, trading in the respective
Notes will usually also be suspended, interrupted or terminated and existing orders for the sale or purchase of
such Notes will usually be cancelled. Investors should note that the Issuer has no influence on trading
suspension or interruptions and that investors in any event must bear the risks connected therewith. In
particular, investors may not be able to sell their Notes where trading is suspended, interrupted or terminated,
and the stock exchange quotations of such Notes may not adequately reflect the price of such Notes. All these
risks would, if they materialise, have a material adverse effect on the Notes.

Risk of leveraged exposure

The redemption formula of certain Notes may embed a leverage factor increasing the exposure to the relevant
underlying and will amplify both return and losses. While the use of leverage allows for potential multiples of a
return (assuming a return is achieved) when the applicable underlying moves in the anticipated direction, it will
conversely magnify losses when such underlying moves against expectations of investors. Prospective
investors should note that Notes will involve a higher level of risk, and that whenever there are losses such
losses may be higher than those of a similar security which is not leveraged. Investors should therefore only
invest in such Notes if they fully understand the effects of the leverage that may be embedded in such Notes
whose market value may be significantly more volatile than the market value of Notes that do not have this
feature.

Risks relating to the Paying Agent

Any payments to Noteholders will be made by the Paying Agent on behalf of the Issuers. The Issuers shall
transfer to the Paying Agent such amount as may be due under the Notes on or before each date on which
such payment in respect of the Notes becomes due.

If the Paying Agent, while holding funds for payment to the Noteholders, is declared insolvent, the Noteholders
may not receive all (or any part) of amounts due to them from the Paying Agent in which case the Noteholders
will have to claim any payment directly to the Issuer.

Hedging and trading activity by the Issuers, the Guarantor and other members of the Group could
potentially affect the value of the Notes

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market making
activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any other members of the Group may effect transactions for their
own account or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in any underlying or
reference asset(s), reference entities or obligors or related derivatives.

These transactions may affect the Issuers' hedging positions which could in turn impact the market value of the
Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain
risks relating to currency conversions if Noteholders’ financial activities are denominated principally in a
currency or currency unit (the Investor's Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk
that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency
or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's
Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency
relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2)
the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency
equivalent market value of the Notes.

The Issuer may issue Dual Currency Notes where the amount of principal and/or interest payable are
dependent upon movements in currency exchange rates or are payable in one or more currencies which may
be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Accordingly an investment in Dual Currency
Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct foreign exchange investment and prospective investors should
take advice accordingly.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, Noteholders may receive less interest or
principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Partly-Paid Notes

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one part payment by the
investor. Failure by the investor to pay any subsequent part payment could result in an investor losing some or
all of his investment. In the event that investors purchase Partly-paid Notes on the secondary market prior to all
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3.1.14

3.1.15

3.1.16

3.1.17

the part payments being made and these Notes being fully paid up, such investors incur the risk to be required
to pay such remaining part payments in addition to the price they paid to purchase these Notes.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating
rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of
the interest basis, may affect the market value of such Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a
lower interest return for Noteholders. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such
circumstances, the spread on the floating rate may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on
comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time
may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such
circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the
market value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount to or premium from their principal amount tend to
fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing
securities. The longer the remaining term of such Notes, the greater the price volatility as compared to
conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Risks relating to Physical Delivery Notes

In the case of Notes which are redeemable by delivery of assets, if a Settlement Disruption Event occurs or
exists on the due date for redemption of the Notes and prevents delivery of the asset, the Issuer shall, in lieu of
delivering the Physical Delivery Amount, pay, in respect of each Note, the fair market value of the number of
Underlying(s) (the Fair Market Value) to be delivered converted into the Specified Currency at the current
exchange rate, if applicable. The Fair Market Value will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the basis of
the market conditions on the first Business Day following the Delivery Period.

Risks relating to Notes referencing a benchmark

In accordance with the provisions of Condition 3 of the Terms and Condition of the Notes, the Rate of Interest in
respect of the Floating Rate Notes may be determined by reference to Reference Rates that constitute
"benchmarks" for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, as amended (the Benchmarks Regulation)
published in the Official Journal of the EU on 29 June 2016 and applicable since 1 January 2018.

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks" are the subject of national and international
regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still
to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to
disappear entirely, to be subject to revised calculation methods, or have other consequences which cannot be
predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or referencing
such a "benchmark".

The Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a
benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EEA. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 3.2.3.5 of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, which seek to mitigate any adverse effects for the Noteholders, the
Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a “benchmark”, in
particular:

- an index that is a "benchmark" may not be permitted to be used by a supervised entity (including the Issuer) in
certain ways if its administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration or, if based in a non-EU jurisdiction,
the administrator is not recognised as equivalent or recognised or endorsed and the transitional provisions do
not apply; and

- if the methodology or other terms of the “benchmark” could be changed in order to comply with the
requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of
reducing or increasing the rate or level or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the
“benchmark” and as a consequence, Noteholders could lose part of their investment or receive less income
than would have been the case without such change.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
"benchmarks", could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
"benchmark" and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Such factors may have the following effects on certain "benchmarks": (i) discourage market participants from
continuing to administer or contribute to the "benchmark”; (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used
in the "benchmark" or (iii) lead to the disappearance of the "benchmark”.

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or
other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes
linked to or referencing a "benchmark”.

Investors should be aware that, if a benchmark were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest
on Notes which are linked to or which reference such benchmark will be determined for the relevant period by
the fall-back provisions applicable to such Notes — please refer to the risk factor entitled " The occurrence of an
Index Event could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes linked to or
referencing such "benchmarks™ below). Depending on the manner in which a benchmark rate is to be
determined under the Terms and Conditions, this may in certain circumstances (i) result in the application of a
backward-looking, risk-free overnight rate, whereas the benchmark rate is expressed on the basis of a forward-
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looking term and includes a risk-element based on inter-bank lending or (ii) if Screen Rate Determination
applies, result in the effective application of a fixed rate based on the rate which applied in the previous period
when the benchmark was available. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity
of, and return on, any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark".

Regulation (EU) 2019/2089 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 has amended
the existing provisions of the Benchmarks Regulation by extending the transitional provisions applicable to
material benchmarks and third-country benchmarks until the end of 2021. The existing provisions of the
Benchmarks Regulation were further amended by Regulation (EU) 2021/168 of the European Parliament and of
the Council of 10 February 2021 published in the Official Journal of the European Union on 12 February 2021
(the Amending Regulation).

The Amending Regulation introduces a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind-down of certain
benchmarks by conferring the power to designate a statutory replacement for certain benchmarks on the
European Commission, such replacement being limited to contracts and financial instruments. In addition, the
transitional provisions applicable to third country benchmarks are extended until the end of 2023. The European
Commission is empowered to further extend this period until the end of 2025, if necessary. The Amending
Regulation applies as of 13 February 2021.

The FCA has confirmed on 5 March 2021 that all LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any
administrator or no longer be representative:

-immediately after 31 December 2021, in the case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen settings,
and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar settings; and

-immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the remaining US dollar settings.

Regulatory authorities and central banks are strongly encouraging the transition away from IBORs, such as
LIBOR and EURIBOR, and have identified 'risk free rates' to replace such IBORs as primary benchmarks. This
includes (amongst others) (i) for GBP LIBOR, the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA), so that SONIA
may be established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end of 2021, (ii) for USD LIBOR, the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) to be eventually established as the primary US dollar interest rate
benchmark, and (iii) for EONIA and EURIBOR, a new Euro Short-Term Rate (€STR or EuroSTR) as the new
euro risk-free rate. Similar initiatives are currently underway in respect of each of the LIBOR rates in other
currencies -— i.e. Japanese Yen (IBOR), Honk Kong Dollar (HIBOR), Swiss franc (CHF LIBOR), Australian
dollar (BBSW) and Canadian dollar (CDOR) — to transition over to identified alternative risk free rates.

The occurrence of an Index Event could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any
such Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks"

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Notes, occurrence of certain events affecting the benchmarks (each
an Index Event) such as loss of any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision,
approval or inclusion in any official register in respect of the Reference Rate or the administrator or sponsor of
the Reference Rate, the permanent cessation of the Reference Rate or the loss of representativeness of the
Reference Rate will trigger the application of certain fallbacks arrangements including if an inter-bank offered
rate (such as EURIBOR) or other relevant reference rate (which could include, without limitation, any mid-swap
rate) becomes unavailable, or if the Issuer, the Calculation Agent, any Paying Agent or any other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) are no longer
permitted lawfully to calculate interest on any Notes by reference to such benchmark under the Benchmarks
Regulation or otherwise.

Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a
Replacement Reference Rate with or without the application of an Adjustment Spread (which, if applied, could
be positive or negative, and would be applied with a view to reducing or eliminating, to the fullest extent
reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors
arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark) (both as defined in Condition 3.2.3.7 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes), and may include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to ensure the
proper operation of the successor or replacement benchmark, all as determined by the Calculation Agent and
without the consent of the Noteholders.

Investors should note that, the Calculation Agent will have a certain discretion to determine the Replacement
Reference, a Rate and as the case may be the Adjustment Spread in the circumstances described above. Any
such adjustment could have unexpected commercial consequences and, due to the particular circumstances of
each Noteholder, any such adjustment may not be favourable to such Noteholder.

The reform and eventual replacement of IBORs with risk-free rates may cause the relevant IBOR to perform
differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. These
risk-free rates have a different methodology and other important differences from the IBORs they will eventually
replace. Any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on Notes
linked to any such rates.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates as reference rates for Floating Rate Notes

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes allows Notes referencing inter alia SONIA, SOFR, the Euro short term
rate (€STR), SARON, TONA to be issued. The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates, as
reference rate in the capital markets, and their adoption as alternative to the relevant interbank offered rates.
The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk free rates that differs significantly from
that set out in the Terms and Conditions and used in relation to Floating Rate Notes that reference a risk free
rate issued under this Base Prospectus.
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3.1.18

3.1.19

3.1.20

3.1.21

The nascent development of the use of these risk free rates as interest reference rate for bond markets, as well
as continued development of risk free rates-based rates for such markets and of the market infrastructure for
adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market
price of the Notes. Interest on Notes which reference a risk free rate is only capable of being determined shortly
prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date.

In addition, the Issuer or Calculation Agent has no control over the determination, calculation or publication of
these risk-free rates. There can be no guarantee that they will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a
manner that is materially adverse to the interests of Noteholders.

The mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may
impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any
acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes.

These risk-free rates may fail to gain market acceptance and any market of the Notes indexed on these rates
may be illiquid and unpredictable. Investors should not rely on indicative or historical data concerning these risk
free rates. The investors are exposed to some discretion of the Calculation Agent to determine the interest rate
that will replace the benchmarks that will cease to be published or used and to calculate the amount of interest
needed to calculate the amounts due under the Notes on the basis of the risk-free rates.

Risks relating to legal, tax and regulatory changes

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur during the term of the Notes that may adversely affect the Notes,
the underlying, related derivatives or the collateral assets in the case of Secured Notes. The regulatory
environment is evolving, and changes in the regulation of any entities may adversely affect their value.
Regulators and self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are authorised to take extraordinary actions in the
event of market emergencies. The regulation of securities and derivatives transactions is an evolving area of
law and is subject to modification by government and judicial action. The effect of any future regulatory change
on the underlying, related derivatives or on the collateral assets could be material, including clearing and margin
requirements for derivatives and consequently may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes (including any non-contractual obligations arising therefrom or
connected therewith) are based on relevant laws in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus. No assurance
can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to such laws, or the official application
or interpretation of such laws or administrative practices after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Limited recourse against SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

Each holder of a Notes issued by SG Issuer or by Societe Generale Effekten GmbH is deemed to have
acknowledged and undertaken, on its acquisition of such Notes, that, in the event of a payment default by SG
Issuer or by Societe Generale Effekten GmbH, as the case may be, of any amount due in respect of any Notes
(such payment defaults, Defaulted Payments), such holder shall not institute any proceeding, judicial or
otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH, as the case may
be, to enforce such Defaulted Payments and waives all rights to institute such proceedings or make such claims
in respect of such Defaulted Payments against the SG Issuer or Societe Generale Effekten GmbH.

Nevertheless, Noteholders will continue to be able to claim against the Guarantor in respect of any unpaid
amount.

As a consequence, prospective investors in Notes issued by SG Issuer or by Societe Generale Effekten GmbH,
as the case may be, should note that in the case of Defaulted Payments the entitlement of the Noteholders will
be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under the Guarantee, and the relevant provisions of the
Guarantee.

Waiver of set-off

Pursuant to the General Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Noteholders waive any right of or claims of set-
off, netting, compensation, retention and counterclaim (and, for the avoidance of doubt, including all such rights,
claims and liabilities arising under or in relation to any and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or
any non-contractual obligations, in each case whether or not relating to the Notes) in relation to the Notes, to
the extent permitted by applicable law. As a result, the Noteholders will not at any time be entitled to set-off the
Issuer’s obligations under the Notes against obligations owed by them to the Issuer.

Risks relating to Notes denominated in Renminbi (RMB)

RMB foreign exchange control risk

RMB is not completely freely convertible at present, and the conversion of RMB into other currencies is subject
to exchange controls imposed by the PRC government. New PRC regulations may be promulgated or any
existing RMB clearing and settlement arrangements may be terminated or amended in the future which may

have the effect of restricting availability of RMB outside the PRC. The limited availability of RMB outside the
PRC may affect the liquidity of Notes denominated in RMB.

The current size of RMB denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited. The control of currency
conversion and movements in RMB exchange rates may adversely affect RMB denominated assets which may
in turn affect notes linked to such assets.

RMB currency risk

All payments of RMB under the Notes to the Noteholders will be made solely by transfer to a RMB bank account
maintained in Hong Kong or a financial centre outside the PRC in which a bank clears and settles Renminbi
(RMB Settlement Centre) in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the
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3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment in relation to Notes
denominated in RMB by any other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank account in
the PRC), unless a Renminbi Currency Event (i.e. if RMB becomes illiquid, or if any amount can no longer be
converted into RMB or from RMB into another currency or if it becomes impossible to transfer amounts in RMB
between accounts in Hong Kong or from within Hong Kong to accounts outside Hong Kong) is specified as
being applicable in the applicable Final Terms.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the access to RMB for the purposes of making payments under the
Notes or generally may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to convert RMB from/to
another freely convertible currency, or transfer RMB between accounts in Hong Kong (or any other RMB
Settlement Centre), or to remit RMB into or out of the PRC, or the general RMB exchange market becomes
illiquid, any payment of RMB under the Notes may be delayed or the Issuer may make such payments in
another currency selected by the Issuer using an exchange rate determined by the Calculation Agent, or the
Issuer may redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency.

RMB exchange rate risk

The value of RMB against other currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the PRC and international
political and economic conditions and by many other factors. As a result, the value of any payments of RMB (in
any applicable foreign currencies) may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value
of RMB depreciates against other currencies, the value of an investor's investment in such other currencies will
decline.

RMB interest rate risk

Where applicable, the value of payments of RMB under the Notes may be susceptible to interest rate
fluctuations, including Chinese RMB Repo Rates and/or the Shanghai Interbank Offered Rate (SHIBOR). The
PRC government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation
may increase interest rate volatility. Furthermore, due to the foreign exchange control imposed by the applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the prevailing market conditions, the RMB interest rate in the markets outside the
PRC may significantly deviate from the RMB interest rate in the PRC.

Payments with respect to Notes denominated in RMB may be made only in the manner designated in
such Notes

Noteholders may be required to provide certification and other information (including RMB account information)
in order to be allowed to receive payments in RMB in accordance with the RMB clearing and settlement system
for participating banks in Hong Kong. All payments to investors in respect of Notes denominated in RMB will be
made solely (i) for so long as Notes denominated in RMB are represented by Global Notes or Registered Global
Notes held with the Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper, as the case may be, for Clearstream Banking
S.A. and Euroclear Bank SA/NV or any alternative clearing system, by transfer to a RMB bank account
maintained in Hong Kong or (ii) for so long as Notes denominated in RMB are in definitive form, by transfer to a
RMB bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. Other than
described in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any
other means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by cheque or draft or by transfer to a bank
account in the PRC).

Risks relating to the market of the Notes
Market value of the Notes

At any time, the market value of the Notes depends essentially on changes in market parameters (price level of
the underlying(s), interest rates, volatility and credit spreads) and may therefore result in a risk of total or partial
loss on the amount initially invested.

Risks relating to the secondary market of the Notes

If the Notes are subject to market making agreements, the aim is to ensure the liquidity of the Notes on the
markets where they are traded, assuming normal market conditions and normally functioning IT systems.
Certain exceptional market circumstances may adversely affect the liquidity of the Notes. Noteholders may not
be able to sell their Notes easily or may have to sell them at a price that significantly affects the amount they
earn. This may result in a partial or total loss of the amount invested.

Certain Notes have materially relevant liquidity risk. Certain exceptional market circumstances may adversely
affect the liquidity of the Notes. Noteholders may not be able to sell their Notes easily or may have to sell them
at a price that significantly affects the amount they earn. This may result in a partial or total loss of the amount
invested.

There may be no market on which Notes may be traded, which may have a material adverse effect on the price
at which such Notes can be resold and may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested. The Notes
may be completely illiquid and may not be able to be resold.

Reinvestment risks

The Notes may be redeemed or be subject to cancellation at a time when an investor generally would not be
able to reinvest the proceeds at an expected yield as high as the return on the Notes being early redeemed or

cancelled, as the case may be, and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower yield. Prospective
investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
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RISK FACTORS RELATING TO STRUCTURED NOTES

4.2

4.21

4.2.2

4.3
4.3.1

Common risks relating to all Structured Notes

The amounts due the under Structured Notes are calculated by reference to the prices of the underlying assets
depending on the indexing formula for these amounts, it being specified that the past performance of an
underlying asset does not in any way prejudge its future performance. Potential investors are exposed to the
risk of losing all or a substantial part of the amount invested. The issuers or owners of assets underlying the
Notes do not participate in the offer of the Notes and have no obligation to take into account the interests of the
Noteholders, when they take decisions likely to affect the value of these assets.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an Index

The policies of the sponsor of an index as regards additions, deletions and substitutions of the assets
underlying the index and the manner in which the index sponsor takes account of certain changes affecting
such underlying assets may affect the value of the index.

The policies of an index sponsor with respect to the calculation of an index could also affect the value of the
index. An index sponsor may discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of information relating to its
index. Any such actions could affect the value of the Notes.

An index sponsor may at any time during the life of the Notes discontinue or suspend calculation or
dissemination of information relating to its index. As a consequence investors in Index Linked Notes are
exposed to the risk of discontinuance of the operational capacity and expertise of the Index Sponsor to ensure
the calculation and maintenance of the index according to the methodology in force throughout the life of the
Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an SGI Index

The composition of certain indices to which the Notes are linked, and the methodologies used in relation to
these indices, can be determined and selected by Societe Generale or one of its related companies. In the
choice of these methodologies, it can be expected that Societe Generale or the relevant related company of
Societe Generale will take into account its own objectives and interests and / or those of the Group, and no
guarantee can be given that the methodologies chosen will not be less favorable for the interests of investors
than the methodologies used by other index sponsors in comparable circumstances.

If the hedging activities of Societe Generale or one of its related companies are disrupted in relation to a
particular index, Societe Generale or the related company concerned may decide to end the calculations of this
index, sooner than would another index sponsor in comparable circumstances. This could cause adjustments,
de-indexation, substitution of the Index or the early redemption of the Notes.

Conflicts of interest in connection with proprietary indices

Societe Generale acts as sponsor of proprietary indices (SGI Indices). These indices are calculated by an
external calculation agent in accordance with rules which describe the methodology for determining the
composition and calculation of these proprietary indices (the Rules).

(i) With regard to proprietary indices composed in a discretionary basis by Societe Generale or an affiliate of
Societe Generale to which Notes are linked, Societe Generale may face a conflict of interest between its
obligations as issuer of these Notes and as a composer of these indices, given that the determination of the
composition of these indices may have an impact on the value of the Notes.

(i) With regard to proprietary indices composed by a third party to which the Notes are linked, Societe Generale
may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as issuer of these Notes and as a sponsor of these
indices, insofar as it can modify or supplement the Rules, in accordance with the Rules, which may have an
impact on the value of the Notes.

(iii) With regard to proprietary indices composed by the application of a mathematical formula in a non-
discretionary manner by Societe Generale or any third party, Societe Generale may face a conflict of interest
between its obligations as issuer of these Notes and as a sponsor of these indices, insofar as it may modify, in
accordance with the Rules, certain parameters (such as the funding spread) or provide the assessment of
certain components, which may have an impact on the value of the Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Fund
Risks relating to underlying Funds

Some Funds may have little or no oversight and regulation, which can increase the likelihood of fraud and
negligence on the part of Fund managers and / or investment advisers, their brokerage firm or the banks.

The Funds may include complex tax structures and deferrals in the distribution of important tax information.

The Funds on which Structured Notes may be indexed may not publish information on their transactions and
portfolios.

The members of the Group may from time to time obtain information on specific Funds which may not be
available to the general public in the ordinary course of their business, and not in relation to the offer of Notes
(including as funds which are managed by managers part of Societe Generale group). As part of the ordinary
course of their business, Group members may recommend, or decide not to recommend, certain specific Funds
to their customers which may appear, currently or in the future, among the underlying funds used in the
redemption formula of Structured Notes. All the positions that may be taken by the members of the Group in
respect of the expected future performance of one or more funds (including in respect of funds which are
managed by managers part of Societe Generale group) do not constitute an indication of the future performance
of this/these funds.
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Fund managers' investment strategies

The fund managers (including a manager that is part of Societe Generale group) do not participate in the offer
of the Notes in any way and have no obligation to take into account the interest of the Noteholders in taking
measures which could have an impact on the value of the shares or units of the underlying funds and therefore
on the value of the Notes.

The manager and / or investment advisor of the Underlying Fund who implements the investment strategy of the
Fund may decide to invest in financial assets or instruments which themselves carry risk with a view to
maximizing profits, including by borrowing amounts that may represent more than 100% of the Fund's asset
value. The manager and / or investment adviser may be all the more encouraged when his remuneration is
indexed to the performance of the Fund. These elements can have a significant negative impact on the share /
share of the Underlying Fund and therefore on the value of the Notes.

Fund managers and/or investment advisors of the underlying fund(s)

The performance of underlying Fund(s) will depend to a considerable extent on the performance of the fund's
managers and/or investment advisors of the Fund(s). Investors in Fund Linked Notes are therefore exposed to
the risk of fraud and misrepresentation by unaffiliated fund managers or investment advisers. In addition, the
fund managers and/or the investment advisors may be removed or replaced, the allocation of assets may vary
from time to time and the various positions of the investments of the underlying Fund(s) may be economically
offsetting, all of which may affect the performance of the underlying Fund(s).

The fund managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise other funds and/or accounts and
may have financial and other incentives to favour such other funds and/or accounts over the underlying Fund(s).
Also, the fund managers and/or the investment advisors may manage or advise for their own accounts and the
accounts of their clients and may make recommendations or take positions similar or dissimilar to those of the
underlying Fund(s) or which may compete with the underlying Fund(s).

Fees, deductions and charges will reduce any amounts due by the Issuer under the Notes

Fund fees and expenses will be deducted from the net asset value of the fund that may offset the Fund's trading
profits, and hence reduce the value of the Fund units.

Accordingly, to the extent that any amount due by the Issuer under the Notes is linked to the net asset value of
a fund, such amount payable to Noteholders will be less than it would have been absent these fees, deductions
and charges.

The illiquidity of the underlying Fund's investments or the occurrence of certain extraordinary events
may cause the determination of any amounts due by the relevant Issuer under the Notes to be reduced
or delayed.

The Intermediary amounts or final redemption amounts and other relevant amounts due to investors in Fund
Linked Notes depend on the redemption proceeds of the units / shares of the Fund which will be paid by the
underlying under a valid redemption order given by a hypothetical investor with effect as of the relevant
valuation date. Substantial redemption orders on units/shares of an underlying Fund on a particular day
(including by Societe Generale in liquidating the hedge relating to Structured Notes) could require such funds to
liquidate positions more rapidly than would be otherwise desirable and have a negative impact on the market
value of the Notes. Many funds have provisions whereby redemption requests are scaled back if the aggregate
amount of such requests reaches a predetermined limit or where redemption orders can be delayed or
suspended discretionarily.

Investments of the underlying Fund may also not be readily saleable on or shortly after a redemption order if
they are illiquid.

If the proceeds from the redemption of the units or shares have not been paid by the underlying Fund on the
initially Scheduled Maturity Date or on any early redemption date, the payment of any amount due by the
relevant Issuer may be postponed after the maturity date up to a maximum period of two years or as specified in
the Final Terms. If at the expiry of this period, the underlying Fund has not paid in full the redemption proceeds
or the units or shares, the amount due under the Notes shall be determined by the Calculation Agent on the
basis of what has actually been paid by the underlying Fund. The amount received by the investors in the Notes
may be as low as zero.

Risks relating to master-feeder structure

The underlying Fund(s) may invest as a “feeder” fund of a “master” fund, alongside present and future additional
investors or feeder funds.

The underlying Fund(s) may be materially affected by the actions of such other investors and feeder funds
investing in the master fund, particularly if they have large investments in the master fund. If such other
investors or feeder funds with a large investment in the master fund redeem from the master fund, illiquidity in
certain securities or markets could make it difficult for the master fund to liquidate positions on favourable terms
to effect such redemption, which could result in losses or a decrease in the net asset value of the unit/share of
the master fund and hence in the market value of the Notes. In addition, to satisfy such redemptions, the sub-
manager may need to liquidate the master fund's most liquid investments; leaving remaining investors (including
the underlying fund(s)) invested in more illiquid instruments. Such withdrawals may also leave the master fund
with a less diversified pool of investments. This may increase the overall portfolio risk of the master fund, and,
ultimately, the Notes. Conversely, the sub-manager of the master-fund may refuse a redemption request if it
believes that such request, if fulfilled, would have a material adverse impact on the remaining investors of the
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master fund. This may negatively impact the liquidity of the master fund and, therefore, the underlying fund(s)
and the Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Credit

Noteholders are exposed, from a date specified in the applicable Final Terms which may be earlier than the
date of their decision to invest in the Notes or the Issue Date, to events related to the creditworthiness of the
Reference Entities. Upon the occurrence of such events, the amount paid or the value of the underlying assets
received at maturity of the Notes (after deduction of the costs, break funding charges, loss of funding, tax and
duties) determined by reference to the value of the debt of the Reference Entity may be less than the invested
amount. In addition, interest-bearing Credit Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior to the date of
occurrence of such circumstances.

In certain circumstances the period between the date on which the existence of a Credit Event is established
and valuation may be as long as 180 days. Therefore, settlement, or as the case may be, notice that no amount
is due under the Credit Linked Notes, may occur several months after the relevant Credit Event on a date which
may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

Risk in respect of Tranche Notes

Tranche Notes are Notes which are exposed to the credit risk of a list of Reference Entities, starting from an
attachment point and ending on a detachment point (both expressed in percentages by reference to such list of
Reference Entities). The principal and interest payable to the Noteholder will start to be impacted when the sum
of losses incurred on the list of Reference Entities will have reached the attachment point, and 100% of the
principal and interest payable to the Noteholder will be fully lost when the sum of losses will have reached the
detachment point. The sum of such losses is expressed in percentages by reference to the list of Reference
Entities.

Compared to an investment in a basket of the same list of Reference Entities, investment in Tranche Notes
creates a leverage effect on the credit risk exposure of the Reference Entities. When the trigger threshold for a
credit event is reached, the principal and interest payable to the Noteholder will be impacted more strongly the
closer the detachment point is and the faster the detachment point is reached. The leverage effect comes from
the impact of each affected Reference Entity in Tranche Notes once the attachment point has been reached.
The leverage effect depends on the width of the tranche (detachment point minus attachment point) and is
much higher compared to the impact the same Reference Entity has in a basket of Reference Entities which are
not Tranche Notes.

Risk in respect of Basket Notes

In respect of Basket Notes, the greater the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the lower the
amount due under the Notes will be. Conversely, the fewer the Reference Entities, the greater the impact of a
Credit Event affecting one of them will be on the Final Redemption Amount.

Risk in respect of Credit Linked Notes on bespoke Basket Notes

In respect of bespoke Basket Notes, the greater the number of Reference Entities subject to a Credit Event, the
lower the Final Redemption Amount will be. Conversely, the fewer the Reference Entities, the greater the
impact of a Credit Event affecting one of them will be on the Final Redemption Amount.

The concentration of the Reference Entities in any one industry or geographic region would subject the Notes to
a greater degree of risk with respect to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic region.

Increased risk in respect of First-to-Default Notes

First-to-Default Notes are Notes where the credit risk to the Noteholder is materialised on the occurrence of the
first credit event of any Reference Entity in a basket of Reference Entities. Given that the credit risk to the
Noteholder can materialise on the occurrence of the first credit event of any Reference Entity in the basket, the
Noteholder can lose a significant part or all of its investment in the Notes as soon as one single Reference
Entity in the basket becomes subject to a credit event. In addition, the more Reference Entities there are in the
basket of Reference Entities, the more likely it is that a credit event can occur, and the greater the degree of risk
that the Noteholder may lose its entire principal invested in the Notes.

Valuation and settlement in case of Credit Event

Under the terms of the Notes, where Societe Generale acts as Calculation Agent, it may, for the purposes of
determining the amount due under the Credit Linked Notes under the Quotation Dealers Method or the Physical
Delivery Amount following one or more Credit Event(s), select obligations with the lowest price of any
obligations which meet the relevant criteria.

Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the terms of the Credit Linked Notes provide
that the Calculation Agent will, depending on the election mentioned in the related Final Terms, determine the
Final Value either by obtaining quotations from Quotation Dealers in respect of Selected Obligation(s) or by
reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms. In this regard, investors should note that: (A) the Final
Value as determined by reference to Transaction Auction Settlement Terms may be lower than the Final Value
determined otherwise and will typically reduce theamount due under the Notes; and (B) (i) if Transaction Auction
Settlement Terms are not published or (ii) a Fallback Settlement Event occurs within a certain period and if it is
not possible to obtain quotations from Quotation Dealers for the Selected Obligations within a further period, the
Final Value of the Selected Obligations will be deemed to be zero and therefore the amount due under the
Notes will be equal to zero.

17



Risk Factors

44.7

4.4.8

4.5

4.51

4.5.2

4.5.3

4.5.4

4.5.5

Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the applicable Final Terms (which can be zero), the terms of Credit Linked
Notes provide that the Final Value of a Reference Entity in respect of which a Credit Event Determination Date
has occurred will be equal to the fixed percentage of the Notional Amount specified in the applicable Final
Terms (which can be zero).

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference to
prices quoted by market participants or by using an auction valuation method in respect of such Reference
Entity, or even be equal to zero.

Deferral of valuation and/or payments

In certain circumstances the period between the date on which the existence of a Credit Event is established
and valuation may be as long as 180 days therefore, settlement, or as the case may be, notice that no amount
is due under the Credit Linked Notes, may occur several months after the relevant Credit Event on a date which
may be much later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Bond

Noteholders are exposed as from a date specified in the Final Terms (which may be earlier than the date of
their decision to invest in the Notes or the Issue Date) to events (specified in the Final Terms) relating to the
creditworthiness of the relevant Bond Issuer. In the event of the occurrence of one of these events, the amount
paid or the value of the Bond received, at maturity of the Notes (after deduction of costs, breakage cost funding
charges, loss of funding, taxes and duties) determined by reference to the value of the Bond(s) may be less
than the amount invested. In addition, interest-bearing Bond Linked Notes may cease to bear interest on or prior
to the date of occurrence of such events. Investors' attention is drawn to the fact that no, or an amount reduced
of, Cash Redemption Amount may be due under the Bond Linked Notes and settlement (whether American
Settlement or European Settlement is specified in the applicable Final Terms) may occur several months or
years after the relevant Bond Event and on a date which may be later than the Scheduled Maturity Date of the
Notes.

Ranking of the Bonds

Depending on the ranking, the obligations of the Bond Issuer and/or as the case may be the Bond Guarantor,
may rank junior in priority of payment to unsubordinated creditors, to holders of subordinated obligations
expressed by their terms to rank in priority to the Bonds and/or to creditors preferred by mandatory and/or
overriding provisions of law. In the event of incomplete payment to creditors that rank senior to the ranking of
the Bonds, the obligations of the Bond Issuer and/or the Bond Guarantor, as the case may be, in connection
with the Bonds may be terminated. The ranking of the Bonds may accordingly increase the credit risk on the
Bond Issuer and/or the Bond Guarantor as the case may be and as a result may increase the likelihood of the
occurrence of a Bond Event(s).

Risk in respect of Bond Linked Notes on Basket Notes

In respect of Basket Notes, the greater the number of Bonds in the basket subject to a Bond Event, the lower
the amount due under the Notes will be. Conversely, the fewer the Bonds in the basket, the greater the impact
of a Bond Event affecting one of them will be on the Final Redemption Amount. The concentration of the Bond
Issuers in any one industry or geographic region would subject the Notes to a greater degree of risk with respect
to economic downturns relating to such industry or geographic region.

Floating recovery

Where Floating Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will determine the Bond
Final Value by obtaining quotations from Quotation Dealers in respect of the Bonds. In this regard, investors
should note that: (i) the Bond Final Value as determined by the Calculation Agent may be lower than the Bonds'
market value determined otherwise and will typically reduce the amount due under the Notes and (ii) such Bond
Final Value cannot exceed 100% (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) of the Bond
Notional Amount irrespective of the Bonds market value determined otherwise.

Fixed Recovery

Where Fixed Recovery is specified in the related Final Terms, the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes provide that the Bond Final Value of a Bond in respect of which a Bond Event Determination Date
has occurred will be equal to the fixed percentage of the Specified Denomination specified in the related Final
Terms.

This percentage may be lower than the recovery value, which would have been determined by reference to
prices quoted by market participants or by using an auction valuation method in respect of such Bond or may
even be equal to zero.

Exposure to a hypothetical transaction and Breakage Cost Amount

Where the Notes include reference to a hypothetical transaction deemed entered into between Societe
Generale and a hypothetical counterparty, the Notes will also be linked to this hypothetical transaction. The
Cash Redemption Amount due under the Notes may be adversely affected by this hypothetical transaction.

If the Breakage Cost Amount option is specified as applicable in the related Final Terms and a Bond Event
Determination Date occurs in respect of a Bond, Noteholders are exposed to the mark-to-market variation
between (i) the date on which a Bond Event has first occurred and (ii) the date on which,(a) if Bond Final Value
is stated as Fixed Recovery is applicable, a Bond Event Notice is delivered to the relevant Clearing System for
the information of the Noteholders or (b) if a Bond Final Value is stated as Floating Recovery, the Bond Final
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Price is calculated by the Calculation Agent of (x) a repurchase transaction entered into by Societe Generale (if
any) with the Bond as underlying asset (whose purpose for Societe Generale as the hedging counterparty of the
Issuer is to refinance the relevant Bond) and (y) a repurchase transaction entered into by Societe Generale (if
any) with the Collateral Assets as underlying asset (whose purpose for Societe Generale as the hedging
counterparty of the Issuer is to refinance the relevant Collateral Assets). As a consequence, the Cash
Redemption Amount to be received by the Noteholders on the relevant Bond Linked Notes may be reduced,
potentially down to zero.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Foreign Exchange Rate

The performance of Foreign Exchange Rates, currency units or units of account are dependent upon the supply
and demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are subject to economic
factors, including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate differences between the respective
countries, economic forecasts, international political factors, fiscal and monetary policy, government debt,
currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency concerned, speculation and
intervening measures taken by governments and central banks. Such measures include, without limitation,
imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency to replace an existing currency, alteration
of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by devaluation or revaluation of a currency or imposition of
exchange controls with respect to the exchange or transfer of a specified currency that would affect exchange
rates as well as the availability of a specified currency. Any such measures could have a negative impact on the
performance of a Foreign Exchange Rate and consequently the value of the Notes.

Currency exchange risks can be expected to heighten in periods of financial turmoil. In periods of financial
turmoil, capital can move quickly out of regions that are perceived to be more vulnerable to the effects of a crisis
with sudden and severely adverse consequences to the currencies of those regions as a result. In addition,
governments around the world have recently made, and may be expected to continue to make, very significant
interventions in their economies, and sometimes directly in their currencies. It is not possible to predict the effect
of any future legal or regulatory action relating to a currency. Further interventions, other government actions or
suspensions of actions, as well as other changes in government economic policy or other financial or economic
events affecting the currency markets - including the replacement of entire currencies with new currencies —
may cause Foreign Exchange Rates to fluctuate sharply in the future, which could have a negative impact on
the value of the Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Preference Shares or Warrants

The market value of the Preference Shares or Warrants to which Notes may be linked will fluctuate up or down
depending on the performance of the relevant underlying(s) or basis of reference to which the Preference
Shares or Warrants are linked (the Preference Share Underlying or Warrant Underlying) such as equity, debt or
derivative securities, indices, investments, funds, exchange traded funds, commodities, credit, baskets of
securities or indices, currencies, portfolios and trading strategies. The composition of the relevant Preference
Share Underlying(s)/Warrant Underlying(s) may be designed to change over time as a result of performance or
other factors.

As a result, if the performance of the Preference Share Underlying/Warrant Underlying is negative, the value of
the Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes will be adversely affected. Purchasers of Preference
Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their investment if the value of the
Preference Shares/Warrants falls.

The basis and rate of taxation in respect of Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes and reliefs
depend on each investor's individual circumstances and could change at any time. This could have a negative
impact on the return of the Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes. In the event that the
Preference Share Linked Notes/Warrant Linked Notes pay a coupon other than on redemption (such term
including early or final redemption), prospective investors should be aware that such coupon will likely be
subject to income tax.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to Inflation

The level of an Inflation Index may lag or otherwise not track the actual level of inflation in the relevant
jurisdiction.

Inflation Indices may not correlate with other indices and may not correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation
observed by purchasers of the Inflation Linked Notes in such jurisdiction. The value of the Inflation Linked Notes
which are linked to an Inflation Index may be based on a calculation made by reference to such Inflation Index
for a month which is several months prior to the date of payment on the Inflation Linked Notes and therefore
could be substantially different from the level of inflation at the time of the payment on the Inflation Linked
Notes.

Upon the occurrence of certain events in relation to an Inflation Index, e.g., the Inflation Index level has not
been published or is discontinued or is corrected or such Inflation Index is rebased or materially modified, then
depending on the particular event, the Issuer may determine the level, substitute the original Inflation Index,
adjust the terms and conditions of the Inflation Linked Notes or redeem the Inflation Linked Notes. Any such
event and its consequences may have an adverse effect on the value of the Inflation Linked Notes.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to ETP and to ETF

Exchange traded products and Exchange traded funds are subject to market trading risks

An ETP or an ETF faces numerous market trading risks, including but not limited to the potential lack of an
active market, losses from trading in secondary markets, periods of high volatility, limited liquidity and disruption
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in the creation or redemption process of such ETP or such ETF. If any of these risks materialises, this may lead
to the ETP or ETF shares trading at a premium or discount to its fair market value.

Action or non-performance by the ETP issuer, the sponsor of the ETP or the Calculation Agent or by the
management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF that may adversely affect the Notes

In case of an ETP Linked Notes, the ETP issuer and/or the sponsor of the ETP and in case of an ETF Linked
Notes, the management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF will have no involvement in the offer
and sale of the Notes and will have no obligation to any purchaser of such Notes. In its day-to-day operations
and its investment strategy, an ETP will rely on the ETP issuer, the sponsor of the ETP and the Calculation
Agent and an ETF will rely on the fund advisor, the investment advisor, the management company and/or on
third parties providing services such as safekeeping of assets or acting as counterparty to derivatives or other
instruments used by such ETF to employ its investment strategy. The insolvency or non-performance of
services of any such persons or institutions may expose an ETP or an ETF to lose value. Failure of procedures
or systems, as well as human error or external events associated with, in case of an ETP, an ETP's issuer,
sponsor or Calculation Agent and in case of an ETF, an ETF's management and/or administration, may reduce
the value of the ETP or the ETF and affect the market value of the Notes.

Credit risk of the issuer of the ETP or the ETF

The value of the ETP Linked Notes or the ETF Linked Notes is dependent on the value of the ETPs or the
ETFs, which will depend in part on the creditworthiness of the issuer of the ETPs or of the ETFs, which may
vary over the term of the relevant Notes.

Exposure to the ETP Underlying

ETPs usually aim to track the performance of an underlying financial instrument or basket thereof which may
include, without limitation, listed equities, commodities, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, debt instruments,
derivatives or any index thereof (the ETP Underlying). In addition, when compared to exchange traded funds,
exposure to ETPs may involve a higher level of leverage and/or short exposures and/or more concentrated
exposures.

Prospective investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks involved in investing in ETPs
including, without limitation, risks relating to the ETP Underlying and to the underlying economics of the ETPs.
Consequently, prospective investors should review the ETP Conditions and consult with their own professional
advisers if they consider it necessary.

Risk that the ETP does not accurately track its underlyings’ performance

Where the Notes are linked to an ETP, Noteholders are exposed to the performance of such ETP and not
necessarily the performance of the ETP Underlying. Accordingly, investors who purchase Notes that are linked
to an ETP may receive a different return than if such investors had directly invested into the ETP units or the
ETP Underlyings.

Where the underlying Asset is an exchange traded fund, there is a risk that such Exchange Traded Fund
will not accurately track its underlying share or index

Where the Notes are linked to an exchange traded fund (an ETF) and the investment objective of such ETF is to
track the performance of a share or an index, the investors of such Notes are exposed to the performance of
such ETF rather than the underlying share or index such ETF tracks. For certain reasons, including to comply
with certain tax and regulatory constraints, an ETF may not be able to track or replicate the constituent
securities of the underlying share or index, which could give rise to a difference between the performance of the
underlying share or index and such ETF. Accordingly, investors who purchase Notes that are linked to an ETF
may receive a lower return than if such investors had invested in the share or the index underlying of such ETF
directly.

Exchange traded funds not actively managed

When the investment objective of an ETF is to track the performance of an index or other asset, such ETF may
be affected by general movements in market segments related to the index or other asset it is tracking. Such an
ETF invests in instruments included in, or that are representative of, the index or other asset it is tracking
regardless of their investment merits.

Exchange traded funds may engage in securities lending

Securities lending involves the risk that the ETF may lose money because the borrower of the ETF's loaned
securities fails to return the securities in a timely manner or at all or that insufficient collateral has been posted in
respect of such securities lending transaction.

Risks relating to Structured Notes linked to a Reference Rate

The performance of the Reference Rates is dependent on economic factors, including inflation rates in the
relevant countries, economic forecasts, international political factors, monetary and fiscal policy, government
debt, speculation and actions taken by governments and central banks. Such factors could have a negative
impact on the performance of the Reference Rate and consequently on the value of the Notes. These factors
can be expected to intensify in periods of financial turmoil.

Risks relating to Future Linked Notes

An investment in Future Linked Notes may bear similar market risks as a direct investment in the relevant future
contract(s). The value of the future contract(s) underlying the Notes may vary over time and may increase or
decrease by reference to a variety of factors which include the factors affecting the Future Underlier, as defined
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes.
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Futures contracts have a predetermined Expiry Date as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Future Linked Notes. If the applicable Final Terms specify that Roll Adjustment applies, the Notes are valued by
reference to futures contracts that have an Expiry Date that does not correspond to the term of the Notes,
consequently the Calculation Agent will roll the Future Contracts (the Roll Adjustment) which means that the
future contracts that is the closest to expiration (the Active Future Contract) will be replaced before it expires by
a future contract that has an Expiry Date later in the future (the Next Active Future Contract).

On each Roll Date, the price of the Active Future Contract may be lower than (respectively higher than) the
price of the Next Active Future Contract if the future curve is in contango (respectively in backwardation). The
Roll Adjustment may as a consequence have either a positive or negative impact on the value of the Notes.
This may result in a partial or total loss of the investment in the Notes.

In addition to the effects of contango and backwardation, each "roll" may generate costs that will be taken by
the Calculation Agent. These costs correspond to the expenses incurred in replacing the futures contract
(transaction costs) and may have an adverse effect on the return of the Notes.

Prospective purchasers of Notes should be aware that in respect of Notes on futures contract that are rolled, the
potential negative impact on the value of the Notes induced by the roll may lead to a performance of the Notes
lower than the performance that would have been generated by Notes on the Future Underlier itself.

Risks relating to Portfolio Linked Notes

The market value of Portfolio Linked Notes will fluctuate up or down depending on the performance of the
relevant components of the Portfolio such as equity, debt or derivative securities, indices, investments, funds,
exchange traded funds, commodities, credit, baskets of securities or indices, currencies, portfolios and trading
strategies. Such performance may be affected by changes in the value of the different components in the
Portfolio to which the relevant issue of Portfolio Linked Notes relates. This value may be affected by (i) the
economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or
quotation system(s) on which any component comprising the Portfolio may be traded, (ii) risks highlighted in
section "Risk Factors" (Risk factors relating to Structured Notes) relating to individual types of underlyings which
are included in the relevant Portfolio and (iii) other factors set out elsewhere in "Risk Factors". The composition
of the Portfolio may be designed to change over time as a result of performance or other factors.

As a result, if the performance of the Portfolio is negative, the value of the Portfolio Linked Notes reference will
be adversely affected. Purchasers of Portfolio Linked Notes risk losing all or a part of their investment if the
value of the Portfolio falls.

Consequently, prospective investors, when considering investing in Portfolio Linked Notes, should also consider
the risk factors linked to the Portfolio Components.

In addition, there may be correlation between price movements of one component and the price movements of
another component of the Portfolio that may have a negative impact on the value of the Portfolio. As such, the
value of Portfolio Linked Notes can therefore be volatile and this may result in Noteholders losing all, or a
substantial part, of their investment.

In addition, Portfolio Linked Notes may be subject to a number of costs which would negatively impact the value
of the Portfolio Linked Notes.

Risks relating to actively managed Portfolio Linked Notes

- Exposure to the Dynamic Portfolio

Holders of Notes linked to a Dynamic Portfolio are exposed to the risk of changes in the market value of such

Notes resulting from both changes in the prices of the assets comprising the Dynamic Portfolio and
recommendations for replacement or weighting of the assets comprising the Weighting Adviser's Portfolio.

- Risks relating to the Weighting Advisor

Investors in actively managed Portfolio Linked Notes are exposed to the risk of the operational capacity and
expertise of the Weighting Adviser to provide recommendations for replacement or weighting of the assets
comprising the Portfolio throughout the life of the Notes.

Even though the Issuer and the Calculation Agent have designated the Weighting Advisor, the Weighting
Advisor shall act in the exclusive interest of the Noteholders. Consequently, the Weighting Advisor is exclusively
responsible to the Noteholders for any recommendations for replacement or weighting of the assets comprising
the Portfolio or for any fraud, negligence or misrepresentation.

In addition, in the event of termination of the Weighting Advisory Agreement, investors are exposed to the risk of

de-indexation to the Dynamic Portfolio and a monetary return, replacement of the Weighting Advisor or early

redemption of the Notes.

Noteholders should refer to the Weighting Advisory Agreement for more information.

- Risk of conflict of interests between the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent and the
Weighting Advisor and the Noteholders

The Issuers, the Guarantor, the Calculation Agent or the Weighting Advisor, may engage in trading and other

business activities relating to the Portfolio Components without regards to the Notes and that are not for the

Noteholders' accounts or on behalf of the Noteholders.
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ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SECURED NOTES (ISSUED BY SG ISSUER ONLY)

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

Risks relating to the Collateral Assets

- There is no guarantee that the Collateral Assets will be sufficient to ensure that, following enforcement of
a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral Assets available
to be delivered will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Secured
Notes. In addition, Collateral Percentage may be lower than 100%. In that case, the Noteholders will still
have a claim against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts.

- The value of the assets used as collateral value can be 3 per cent lower than the required collateral
value. This tolerance threshold amplifies most of the risks associated with Secured Notes described
herein and in particular the risk that following enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available
for distribution or the value of the Collateral Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee or
the Security Agent will not be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the relevant
Secured Notes. In that case, the Noteholders will still have a claim against the Guarantor for any unpaid
amounts.

- Lack of diversification of the Collateral Assets

In case of low diversification of the Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool pursuant to the Eligibility Criteria and
the Collateral Rules, any depreciation in the value of such assets in the period between the most recent
Collateral Test Date and the realisation of the Collateral Assets will have a proportionally larger impact on any
shortfall as the amount recovered in respect of the Collateral Assets on their sale will be dependent on the then
current market value of a smaller range of Collateral Assets.

- "Haircut" applied to Collateral Assets

The level(s) of Haircut specified in the applicable Final Terms is intended to reflect the risk of a depreciation in
the value of Collateral Assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and the date on which
such Collateral Assets may be realised. Investors should note that the value of a Collateral Asset may change
over time and the Haircut applied to the Collateral Assets may become outdated and may not provide suitable
protection against a potential depreciation in value of the relevant Collateral Asset.

- llliquid Collateral Assets

Certain of the Collateral Assets may be illiquid and not easily or not at all realisable in certain market
circumstances or can only be sold at a discounted value. In that case, investors may receive the delivery of the
Collateral Assets as if Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets were applicable in relation thereto.

Secured Note Acceleration Event and Enforcement of the security

A Noteholder is only entitled to send a Collateral Enforcement Notice if neither SG Issuer nor the Guarantor has
paid all amounts due to such Noteholder within a period of 3 Collateral Business Days following the occurrence
of the relevant Secured Notes Acceleration Event.

During the 3 Collateral Business Days period there may be a depreciation in the value of the relevant Collateral
Assets, thus reducing the amount available to satisfy the claims of Noteholders upon realisation of the Collateral
Assets. In addition, the Collateral Assets may suffer a fall in value between the time at which the Collateral
Enforcement Notice is sent by a Noteholder and the time at which the Collateral Assets are realised in full or,
where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, delivered.

Frequency of Collateral Test Dates

The lower the frequency of the periodic Collateral Test Dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and hence
the greater the period of time between each such periodic Collateral Test Date (or even in the absence of any
Collateral Test Date) the more likely it is that upon enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement, the proceeds
of enforcement that a Noteholder will receive or, where Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets is applicable, the
value of the Collateral Assets delivered, will be less than the amounts due to Noteholders in respect of the
relevant Secured Notes.

Correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the Creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the
Guarantor

In the event that there is a positive correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the
creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor, the value of the Collateral Assets may vary in the same way
as the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor.

A default by SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor in relation to their obligations under the Secured Notes may be
associated with a fall in the value of Collateral Assets securing such Secured Notes.

The value of Collateral Assets required to be posted in the Collateral Pool will be based on the Secured Note
Market Value which takes into account SG Issuer's and the Guarantor's creditworthiness whereas, following an
Event of Default, the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent (which determines the claim that a
holder of Non-Waived Notes has on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor), will not take into account SG Issuer's or
the Guarantor's creditworthiness and will not decrease following such Event of Default. As a result, the claim of
the Noteholders against the Issuer/Guarantor may be significantly higher than the value of the Collateral Assets.

Specific risk due to the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the Non-Waived-Notes and
Market Value following an Event of Default for the Nominal Value Type of Collateralisation

When pursuant to the applicable Final Terms the value of the Collateral Assets required to be posted in the
Collateral Pool is based on the aggregate nominal value of the Secured Notes, the value of such Collateral
Assets will not follow the Market Value of the Secured Notes, consequently following the occurrence of an Event
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5.6

5.7

of Default, the amount of Collateral Assets may be significantly lower than the claim on SG Issuer and/or the
Guarantor.

Subordination of Noteholders to payment of expenses and other payments

Following the enforcement of security, the rights of holders of Non-Waived Notes to be paid amounts from the
proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of the related Collateral Assets or, where Physical Delivery of
Collateral Assets is applicable, to be delivered Collateral Assets, will be subordinated to and therefore rank
behind claims relating to any amounts payable to Secured Parties ranking prior to the holders of Non-Waived
Notes in accordance with the relevant order of priority and any rights of preference existing by operation of law.

Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, the
Security Trustee, the Security Agent and/or the Collateral Custodian

In the event of the insolvency of SG Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian,
the realisation of the Collateral Assets may be delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency administrator
or other insolvency official in relation to SG Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral
Custodian or by measures ordered by a competent court. Such delay could adversely affect the position of the
Noteholders in the event of a depreciation in the value of the Collateral Assets during such period.

The Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and the
Security Agent are (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) part of the same group and in the
event of the insolvency of one entity it is possible that another entity may also be insolvent. Such circumstances
may lead to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However, the agreements in which such entities
are nominated will contain provisions permitting their replacement.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus is established pursuant to Article 8 of the Regulation 2017/1129/EU dated as of 14 June 2017, as
amended (the Prospectus Regulation) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuers, the
Guarantor and the Notes which is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor.

Certain information contained in this Base Prospectus and/or documents incorporated herein by reference have been
extracted from sources specified in the sections where such information appears. The Issuers confirm that such
information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as they are aware, and are able to ascertain from
information published by the relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. Final Terms will (if applicable) specify the nature of the responsibility (if any) taken
by the Issuer for any information relating to any underlying to which the Notes may be linked. However, where any
information has been sourced from websites included in this Base Prospectus, such websites are for information
purposes only and do not form part of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with any Supplement thereto and all documents which are deemed to
be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"). This Base Prospectus shall be read
and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated by reference and form part of this Base Prospectus.

None of the Arranger or any Dealer has independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by the Arranger or
any Dealer as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base
Prospectus or any other information provided by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme
or the Notes. None of the Arranger or any Dealer accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by either of the Issuers or the
Guarantor in connection with the Programme or the Notes.

No person is or has been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to give any
information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or
any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes (a) is
intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a recommendation or a
statement of opinion (or a report on either of those things) by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of
the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make
its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of
the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any of the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any circumstances
imply that the information contained herein concerning any of the Issuers or the Guarantor is correct at any time
subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes is
correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Arranger or any of the
Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Issuers or the Guarantor
during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information coming to their attention.
Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND OFFER OF NOTES
GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction
to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base
Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the
Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes
may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or
pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or
offering.

In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes outside the
European Economic Area (EEA) or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose
is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any
advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances
that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base
Prospectus or any Note comes must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of
this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes (see "Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions").

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are
subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor
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should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes
can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any
Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules

INDEPENDENT REVIEW AND ADVICE

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such professional
advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its acquisition of the Notes is fully consistent with its
financial needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and
restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial
risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation
by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what
extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii)
other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or
the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or
similar rules. Prospective investors should also conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the
Issuer, the Guarantor, the Notes and all other relevant market and economic factors as they deem appropriate to
evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in Notes.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer(s) or any other member of
the Group in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or as to the other matters
referred to above.

ASSESSMENT OF INVESTMENT SUITABILITY

Each prospective investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own financial
circumstances and investment objectives, and only after careful consideration with its financial, legal, tax and other
advisers. In particular, each prospective investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of

investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or
any applicable Supplement;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment
portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and
financial markets; and

(V) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest

rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex
financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk
or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A prospective
investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or
with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the
value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the prospective investor's overall investment portfolio.
Some Notes which are complex financial instruments may be redeemable at an amount below par in which case
investors may lose the value of part or their entire investment.

NO LEGAL AND TAX ADVICE

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor are giving legal or tax advices to the investors. Each prospective investor should
consult its own advisers as to legal, tax and related aspects relating to an investment in the Notes. A Noteholder’s
effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax on that Noteholder of its investment in the Notes.

LEGALITY OF PURCHASE

None of the Issuer, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for the lawfulness of the
acquisition of the Notes by a prospective purchaser of the Notes, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its
incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective purchaser with any
law, regulation or regulatory policy applicable to it.

TAXATION

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or documentary
charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the jurisdiction where the Notes are transferred or other
jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available in
relation to the tax treatment of financial instruments such as the Notes. The tax legislation of the investor's Member State
and of the Issuer’s country of incorporation may have an impact on the income received from the securities. Prospective
investors are advised to ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition,
holding, disposal and redemption of the Notes. Only such adviser is in a position to duly consider the specific situation of
the prospective investor.
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NO GROSS-UP RISK

If a withholding or deduction is required by the Tax Jurisdiction and if the applicable Final Terms specify that the Gross-
up provision is not applicable, the Issuer will not be required to pay such additional amounts. In this case, neither the
Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person will be required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so
withheld or deducted. Consequently, investors will receive such payments net of such withholding tax. In such case,
investors should note that they will take the risk of any applicable withholding tax and each Noteholder shall be
responsible for supplying or filing (as applicable) in a timely manner any documentary evidence or forms as the investor
may be entitled to and as may be required in order to obtain relief or reduction of taxes imposed by way of withholding or
deduction on payments under the Notes.

In addition, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person will be required to pay additional amounts to
cover any amounts withheld or deducted on account of any United States withholding taxes, including taxes under
FATCA and Section 871(m) as discussed below. Consequently, investors will receive payments net of any applicable
United States withholding taxes.

UNITED STATES IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Notes and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or under the
securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the Notes has not been approved
by the CFTC under the CEA. No person has registered and no person will register as a commaodity pool operator of any
Issuer under the CEA and the CFTC Rules, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act. The Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S.

Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in an “offshore transaction” (as
defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not a U.S. person as defined in Rule
902(k)(1) of Regulation S; and (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the
CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person
who is not a “Non-United States person” defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of
subsection (D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons,” shall be
considered a U.S. person) and (c) is not a "U.S. person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk
retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk
Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person) (such a person or account, as described herein a Permitted
Transferee). The Notes described herein are available only to Permitted Transferees.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED
BY, ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR
REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR
ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE
PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

This Base Prospectus is not a prospectus for the purposes of Section 12(a)(2) or any other provision of or rule under the
Securities Act.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United
States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury
regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986
(the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent subparagraph (ii) below may apply, any
offer of Notes in any Member State of the EEA (each, a Relevant State) will be made pursuant to an exemption under
the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person
making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in
this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in
circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of
the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, in each
case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the competent authority in that
Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in that
Relevant State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation, provided that any such
prospectus has subsequently been completed by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant
to Articles 1(4) and/or 3(2) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State, such offer is made in the period
beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the
Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent subparagraph (ii) above may
apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor does it authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in
circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such
offer.

SWITZERLAND IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Notes described in this Base Prospectus and related offering documents do not constitute a participation in a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA).
Therefore, the Notes are not subject to authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority FINMA (FINMA) and investors in the Notes issued under this Programme will not benefit from protection under
the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear a credit risk on the Issuer of the Notes or, in the case
of guaranteed Notes, on the Guarantor.
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WITHHOLDING TAX IN FRANCE

The statements herein regarding withholding tax considerations in France are based on the laws in force in France as of
the date of this Base Prospectus and are subject to any changes in law.

The following information is of a general nature only, is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax
advice, and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the French tax considerations which may be
relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. The information contained herein is limited to French
withholding tax issues and prospective investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own professional advisers as
to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including French tax law, to which they may be subject and as to their tax
position, as a result of the purchase, ownership and disposal of the Notes.

Payments made by Societe Generale as Issuer
The following may be relevant to holders of the Notes who do not concurrently hold shares in Societe Generale.

Notes issued by Societe Generale which are not consolidated (“assimilables” for the purposes of French law)
and do not form a single series with Notes issued before 1 March 2010.

Payments of interest and other income made by Societe Generale with respect to Notes issued as from 1 March 2010
(other than Notes (as described below) which are consolidated (assimilables for the purpose of French law) and form a
single series with Notes issued before 1 March 2010 having the benefit of Article 131 quater of the French tax code
(FTC)) will not be subject to the withholding tax provided by Article 125 A Il of the FTC unless such payments are made
outside France in certain non-cooperative States or territories (Etats ou territoires non coopératifs) within the meaning of
Article 238-0 A of the FTC (a Non-Cooperative State or Non-Cooperative States). If such payments under the Notes
are made outside France in certain Non-Cooperative States, a 75 per cent. withholding tax will be applicable (subject to
certain exceptions and to the more favourable provisions of an applicable double tax treaty) by virtue of Article 125 A 1lI
of the FTC. The list of Non-Cooperative States is published by a ministerial executive order and is updated on annual
basis.

Furthermore, according to Article 238 A of the FTC, interest and other income on such Notes will not be deductible from
Societe Generale’s taxable income if they are paid or accrued to persons domiciled or established in a Non-Cooperative
State or paid to an account opened in the books of a financial institution established in such a Non-Cooperative State
(the Deductibility Exclusion). Under certain conditions, any such non-deductible interest and other income may be
recharacterised as constructive dividends pursuant to Articles 109 et seq. of the FTC, in which case such non-deductible
interest and other income may be subject to the withholding tax provided by Article 119 bis 2 of the FTC, at a rate of (i)
12.8 per cent. for payments benefiting individuals who are not French tax residents, (ii) 30 per cent. (to be aligned with
the standard corporate income tax rate set forth in Article 219-1 of the FCT for fiscal years beginning as from 1 January
2020) for payments benefiting legal persons who are not French tax residents or (iii) 75 per cent. for payments made
outside France in certain Non-Cooperative States (subject to certain exceptions and to the more favourable provisions of
an applicable double tax treaty).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the 75 per cent. withholding tax provided by Article 125 A Il of the FTC nor the
Deductibility Exclusion will apply in respect of a particular issue of Notes if the relevant Issuer can prove that the main
purpose and effect of such issue of Notes was not that of allowing the payments of interest or other income to be made
in a Non-Cooperative State (the Exception). Pursuant to the Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques-Imp6ts BOI-INT-
DG-20-50-20140211, no. 550 and 990, BOI-RPPM-RCM-30-10-20-40-20140211, no. 70 and 80, and BOI-IR-DOMIC-10-
20-20-60-20150320, no. 10, an issue of Notes will benefit from the Exception without the Issuer having to provide any
proof of the purpose and effect of such issue of Notes, if such Notes are:

(i) offered by means of a public offer within the meaning of Article L. 411.1 of the French monetary and
financial code or pursuant to an equivalent offer in a State other than a Non-Cooperative State. For this
purpose, an "equivalent offer" means any offer requiring the registration or submission of an offer
document by or with a foreign securities market authority; or

(ii) admitted to trading on a French or foreign regulated market or multilateral securities trading system
provided that such market or system is not located in a Non-Cooperative State, and the operation of
such market is carried out by a market operator or an investment services provider or any other similar
foreign entity, provided further that such market operator, investment services provider or entity is not
located in a Non-Cooperative State; or

(iii) admitted, at the time of their issue, to the operations of a central depositary or of a securities delivery
and payment systems operator within the meaning of Article L. 561-2 of the French monetary and
financial code, or of one or more similar foreign depositaries or operators provided that such depositary
or operator is not located in a Non-Cooperative State.

Notes issued by Societe Generale which are consolidated (assimilables for the purposes of French law) and
form a single series with Notes issued before 1 March 2010

Payments of interest and other income with respect to Notes issued as from 1 March 2010 which are consolidated
(assimilables for the purpose of French law) and form a single series with Notes issued before 1 March 2010 with the
benefit of Article 131 quater of the FTC will be exempt from the withholding tax provided by Article 125 A Il of the FTC.

Notes issued before 1 March 2010, whether denominated in Euro or in any other currency, and constituting obligations
under French law, or titres de créances négociables within the meaning of the Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques-
Imp6ts BOI-RPPM-RCM-30-10-30-30-20140211, no. 50, or other debt securities issued under French or foreign law and
considered by the French tax authorities as falling into similar categories, are deemed to be issued outside France for the
purpose of Article 131 quater of the FTC, in accordance with the above-mentioned Bulletin Officiel des Finances
Publiques-Impdts.
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In addition, interest and other income paid by the relevant Issuer on Notes issued as from 1 March 2010 and which are to
be consolidated (assimilables for the purpose of French law) and form a single series with Notes issued before 1 March
2010 will be subject neither to the Deductibility Exclusion, nor as a result to the withholding tax provided by Article 119
bis 2 of the FTC solely on account of their being paid in a Non-Cooperative State or accrued or paid to persons
established or domiciled in a Non-Cooperative State.

Payments made to individuals fiscally domiciled in France

Pursuant to Article 125 A | of the FTC, where the paying agent (établissement payeur) is established in France and
subject to certain exceptions, interest and other assimilated income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled
(domiciliés fiscalement) in France are subject to a 12.8 per cent. withholding tax, which is deductible from their personal
income tax liability in respect of the year in which the payment has been made. Social contributions (CSG, CRDS and
solidarity levy) are also levied by way of withholding at a global rate of 17.2 per cent. on such interest and other
assimilated income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled (domiciliés fiscalement) in France, subject to
certain exceptions.

WITHHOLDING TAX IN LUXEMBOURG

The statements herein regarding withholding tax considerations in Luxembourg are based on the laws in force in the
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg as of the date of this Base Prospectus and are subject to any changes in law.

The following information is of a general nature only, is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax
advice, and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the Luxembourg tax considerations which may be
relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes. The information contained herein is limited to
Luxembourg withholding tax issues and prospective investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own
professional advisers as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including Luxembourg tax law, to which they may be
subject and as to their tax position, as a result of the purchase, ownership and disposal of the Notes.

Please be aware that the residence concept used under the respective headings below applies for Luxembourg income
tax assessment purposes only. Any reference in the present herein to a withholding tax or a tax of a similar nature, or to
any other concepts, refers to Luxembourg tax law and/or concepts only.

Non-resident holders of Notes issued by SG Issuer

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force, there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of principal,
premium or interest made to non-resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes,
nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Notes held by non-resident
holders of the Notes.

Resident holders of Notes issued by SG Issuer

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the law of 23 December 2005, as amended (the
Relibi Law), there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest made to Luxembourg
resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes, nor is any Luxembourg withholding
tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Notes held by Luxembourg resident holders of the Notes.

Under the Relibi Law payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a paying agent established in
Luxembourg to an individual beneficial owner who is a resident of Luxembourg will be subject to a withholding tax of
20 %. Such withholding tax will be in full discharge of income tax if the beneficial owner is an individual acting in the
course of the management of his/her private wealth. Responsibility for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the
Luxembourg paying agent.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuers are corporations organised under the laws of Luxembourg, Germany and France, respectively (each a
Relevant Jurisdiction). All of the officers and directors named herein reside outside the United States and all or a
substantial portion of the assets of the relevant Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside the United
States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process in connection with a cause of action
under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the Relevant Jurisdiction upon the relevant Issuer or such persons, or to enforce
judgments against them obtained in courts outside the Relevant Jurisdiction predicated upon civil liabilities of the relevant
Issuer or such directors and officers under laws other than those of the Relevant Jurisdiction, including any judgment
predicated upon United States federal securities laws.

IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes states "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as Applicable, the Notes,
are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made
available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of:
(i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive
2016/97/EU (as amended, the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the
Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as
amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling those Notes or otherwise making them available to retail
investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling those Notes or otherwise making them available
to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Each Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with financial
reporting standards which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States (U.S. GAAP).
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OTHER INFORMATION

Credit ratings

The Issuer may ask one or more independent credit rating agencies (established in the EU and registered under the
Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council dated 16 September 2009, as amended
(the CRA Regulation) and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended) to assign credit ratings to a Series of
Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors should only base their investment decision on credit ratings assigned by credit
rating agencies that are on the list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and
Markets Authority (ESMA) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status
of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being
taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list.

Structured Notes Linked to SGI Indices

The roles of the various teams involved within Societe Generale in the design, maintenance and replication of indices
have been strictly defined. The replication of any index is carried out in the same way by a single team within Societe
Generale, whether for hedging of a product held by external investors or for positions held by Societe Generale acting as
co-investors alongside external investors.

Eurosystem eligibility for New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes

New Global Notes and Registered Global Notes issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may be issued with
the intention that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European Central Bank. However, there is no
guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral, or that, even if recognised, the eligibility will continue
during the life of the Notes. Any other Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Bearer Notes

In relation to any issue of English Law Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Bearer Notes
may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a
holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified
Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a Definitive Bearer
Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Bearer Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal
amount of Bearer Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, holders should be aware that Definitive Bearer Notes which have a denomination
that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Notes containing limited events of default

The Notes of a Series will only become immediately due and repayable following the occurrence of a limited number of
events of default (in compliance with Condition “Events of Default” of the General Terms and Conditions).

INTERPRETATION

1. Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus shall have
the meaning attributed thereto in the relevant General Terms and Conditions or any other section of this Base
Prospectus.

2. All references in this Base Prospectus and any applicable Final Terms to:

(a) "U.S. dollars" or "U.S.$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States, those to "Sterling" or "£" refer

to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, those to "Australian dollars" or "A$" refer to the lawful
currency of Australia, those to "Swiss Francs" refer to the lawful currency of Switzerland, those to
"Japanese Yen" or "¥" refer to the lawful currency of Japan, those to "euro", "Euro" or "€" refer to the
lawful currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union
pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended and those to "CNY",
"Yuan", "RMB" or "Renminbi" refer to the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China (the PRC),
which for the purpose of this document, excludes Taiwan and the Special Administrative Regions of
the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau.

Any three letter alphabetic currency codes, including but not limited to the three letter alphabetic
currency codes set out below, shall have the meaning given to them pursuant to ISO 4217 (the
international standard currency code established by the International Organization for Standardization):

Alphabetic code Country Currency

AED UNITED ARAB EMIRATES United Arab Emirates Dirham
ARS ARGENTINA Argentine Peso

AUD AUSTRALIA Australian Dollar

BGN BULGARIA Bulgarian Lev
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Alphabetic code Country Currency

BHD BAHRAIN Bahraini Dinar
BWP BOTSWANA Botswana Pula
BRL BRAZIL Brazilian Real

CAD CANADA Canadian Dollar
CHF SWITZERLAND Swiss Franc

CLP CHILE Chilean Peso

CNY CHINA Onshore Chinese Yuan Renminbi
CNH CHINA Onshore or Offshore Chinese Yuan
CzZK CZECH REPUBLIC Czech Koruna

DKK DENMARK Danish Krone

EUR EUROPEAN MEMBER STATES' Euro

GBP UNITED KINGDOM Pound Sterling
GHS GHANA New Ghanaian cedi
HKD HONG KONG Hong Kong Dollar
HUF HUNGARY Forint

ILS ISRAEL New Israeli Shekel
IDR INDONESIA Indonesian Rupiah
ISK ICELAND Icelandic Krona
JOD JORDAN Jordanian Dinar
JPY JAPAN Yen

KES KENYA Kenyan Shilling
KWD KUWAIT Kuwaiti Dinar

KZT KAZAKHSTAN Kazakhstan Tenge
LBP LEBANON Lebanese Pound
LVL LATVIA Latvian Lats

MAD MOROCCO Moroccan Dirham
MUR MAURITIUS Mauritian Rupee
MXN MEXICO Mexican Peso
MYR MALAYSIA Malaysian Ringgit
NAD NAMIBIA Namibian Dollar
NGN NIGERIA Nigerian Naira
NOK NORWAY Norwegian Krone
OMR OMAN Omani Rial

NZD NEW ZEALAND New Zealand Dollar
PEN PERU Peruvian Nuevo Sol
PHP PHILIPPINES Philippine Peso
PLN POLAND Zloty

QAR QATAR Qatari Riyal

RON ROMANIA Leu

RUB RUSSIA Russian Ruble
SAR SAUDI ARABIA Saudi Arabian Riyal
SEK SWEDEN Swedish Krona
SGD SINGAPORE Singapore Dollar
THB THAILAND Thai Baht

TND TUNISIA Tunisian Dinar
TRY TURKEY Turkish Lira

uUsb UNITED STATES U.S. Dollar

ZAR SOUTH AFRICA Rand

the "Notes" shall be to the German Law Notes.
the "General Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions" shall be to the General Terms and Conditions

of the German Law Notes; and

(d) a "German Law Condition" shall be to the relevant condition in the General Terms and Conditions of
the German Law Notes; and

' European Member States that have adopted the Euro pursuant to the third stage of European economic and monetary union
pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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(e) the "Final Terms" shall be to the final terms document prepared based on the "Form of Final Terms —
European Economic Area".

STABILISATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED
AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (EACH A STABILISING MANAGER AND TOGETHER, THE STABILISING
MANAGER(S)) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLICABLE
FINAL TERMS OR DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A
VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT
OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, STABILISATION MAY NOT NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILISATION
ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS
OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME,
BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT
TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF
NOTES. ANY STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE RELEVANT
STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN
ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the information contained in,
or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus and for the information contained in the applicable Final Terms
for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the
Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in, or
incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to
affect the import of such information.
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REGULATORY INFORMATION

French, Luxembourg and German law and European legislation regarding the resolution of financial institutions
may require the write-down or conversion to equity of the Notes or other resolution measures if the Issuers are
deemed to meet the conditions for resolution

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union dated 15 May 2014
establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (the BRRD) entered
into force on 2 July 2014. The BRRD has been implemented into Luxembourg law by, among others, the Luxembourg
act dated 18 December 2015 on the failure of credit institutions and certain investment firms, as amended (the BRR Act
2015). Under the BRR Act 2015, the competent authority is the Luxembourg financial sector supervisory authority
(Commission de surveillance du secteur financier, the CSSF) and the resolution authority is the CSSF acting as
resolution council (conseil de résolution). The BRRD has been implemented into German law by, among others, the
German Act on the Restructuring and Resolution of Institutions (Sanierungs- und Abwicklungsgesetz, as amended, the
SAG). Under the SAG, the competent authority is the German financial sector supervisory authority (Bundesanstalt fiir
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, the BaFin) and the resolution authority is the BaFin acting as resolution council.

Moreover, Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 2014 establishing
uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the
framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM) and a Single Resolution Fund (the SRM Regulation) has
established a centralised power of resolution entrusted to a Single Resolution Board (the SRB) in cooperation with the
national resolution authorities.

Since November 2014, the European Central Bank (ECB) has taken over the prudential supervision of significant credit
institutions in the member states of the Eurozone under the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM). In addition, the SRM
has been put in place to ensure that the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms across the Eurozone
is harmonised. As mentioned above, the SRM is managed by the SRB. Under Article 5(1) of the SRM Regulation, the
SRM has been granted those responsibilities and powers granted to the EU Member States’ resolution authorities under
the BRRD for those credit institutions and certain investment firms subject to direct supervision by the ECB. The ability of
the SRB to exercise these powers came into force at the beginning of 2016.

Societe Generale has been designated as a significant supervised entity for the purposes of Article 49(1) of Regulation
(EU) No 468/2014 of the ECB of 16 April 2014 establishing the framework for cooperation within the SSM between the
ECB and national competent authorities and with national designated authorities (the SSM Regulation) and is
consequently subject to the direct supervision of the ECB in the context of the SSM. This means that Societe Generale,
SG Issuer and Societe Generale Effekten GmbH (being covered by the consolidated prudential supervision of Societe
Generale) are also subject to the SRM which came into force in 2015. The SRM Regulation mirrors the BRRD and, to a
large part, refers to the BRRD so that the SRB is able to apply the same powers that would otherwise be available to the
relevant national resolution authority.

The stated aim of the BRRD and the SRM Regulation is to provide for the establishment of an EU-wide framework for the
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms. The regime provided for by the BRRD is,
among other things, stated to be needed to provide the resolution authority designated by each EU Member State (the
Resolution Authority) with a credible set of tools to intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing
institution so as to ensure the continuity of the institution’s critical financial and economic functions while minimising the
impact of an institution’s failure on the economy and financial system (including taxpayers’ exposure to losses).

Under the SRM Regulation, a centralised power of resolution is established and entrusted to the SRB acting in
cooperation with and to the national resolution authorities. In accordance with the provisions of the SRM Regulation,
when applicable, the SRB, has replaced the national resolution authorities designated under the BRRD with respect to all
aspects relating to the decision-making process and the national resolution authorities designated under the BRRD
continue to carry out activities relating to the implementation of resolution schemes adopted by the SRB. The provisions
relating to the cooperation between the SRB and the national resolution authorities for the preparation of the institutions’
resolution plans have applied since 1 January 2015 and the SRM has been fully operational since 1 January 2016.

The SRB is the Resolution Authority for the Issuers (Societe Generale, SG Issuer and Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH).

The powers provided to the Resolution Authority in the BRRD and the SRM Regulation include write-down/conversion
powers to ensure that capital instruments (including subordinated debt instruments and/or Unsecured Notes (issued by
SG Issuer)) and eligible liabilities (including senior debt instruments, such as the Senior Notes, if junior instruments prove
insufficient to absorb all losses) absorb losses of the issuing institution that is subject to resolution in accordance with a
set order of priority (the Bail-in Power). The conditions for resolution under the SRM Regulation are deemed to be met
when: (i) the Resolution Authority determines that the institution is failing or is likely to fail, (ii) there is no reasonable
prospect that any measure other than a resolution measure would prevent the failure within a reasonable timeframe, and
(iii) a resolution measure is necessary for the achievement of the resolution objectives (in particular, ensuring the
continuity of critical functions, avoiding a significant adverse effect on the financial system, protecting public funds by
minimizing reliance on extraordinary public financial support, and protecting client funds and assets) and winding up of
the institution under normal insolvency proceedings would not meet those resolution objectives to the same extent.

The Resolution Authority could also, independently of a resolution measure or in combination with a resolution measure,
fully or partially write-down or convert capital instruments (including subordinated debt instruments such as the
Unsecured Notes (issued by SG Issuer)) into equity when it determines that the institution or its group will no longer be
viable unless such write-down or conversion power is exercised or when the institution requires extraordinary public
financial support (except when extraordinary public financial support is provided in Article 10 of the SRM Regulation).
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The terms and conditions of the Notes contain provisions giving effect to the Bail-in Power in the context of resolution
and write-down or conversion of capital instruments at the point of non-viability.

The Bail-in Power could result in the full (i.e., to zero) or partial write-down or conversion of the Notes into ordinary
shares or other instruments of ownership, or the variation of the terms of the Notes (for example, the maturity and/or
interest payable may be altered and/or a temporary suspension of payments may be ordered). Extraordinary public
financial support should only be used as a last resort after having assessed and applied, to the maximum extent
practicable, the resolution measures. No support will be available until a minimum amount of contribution to loss
absorption and recapitalization of 8% of total liabilities including own funds has been made by shareholders, holders of
capital instruments and other eligible liabilities through write-down, conversion or otherwise.

In addition to the Bail-in Power, the BRRD provides the Resolution Authority with broader powers to implement other
resolution measures with respect to institutions that meet the conditions for resolution, which may include (without
limitation) the sale of the institution’s business, the creation of a bridge institution, the separation of assets, the
replacement or substitution of the institution as obligor in respect of debt instruments, modifications to the terms of debt
instruments (including altering the maturity and/or the amount of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary
suspension on payments), removing management, appointing an interim administrator, and discontinuing the listing and
admission to trading of financial instruments.

Before taking a resolution measure, including implementing the Bail-in Power, or exercising the power to write down or
convert relevant capital instruments, the Resolution Authority must ensure that a fair, prudent and realistic valuation of
the assets and liabilities of the institution is carried out by a person independent from any public authority.

The application of any measure under the BRRD and the SRM Regulation or any suggestion of such application with
respect to any of the Issuers or the Group could materially adversely affect the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of
an investment in the Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under any Notes, and as a result
investors may lose their entire investment.

Moreover, if the financial condition deteriorates of any of the Issuers, the existence of the Bail-in Power, the exercise of
write-down/conversion powers or any other resolution tools by the Resolution Authority independently of a resolution
measure or in combination with a resolution measure when it determines that any of the Issuers or the Group will no
longer be viable could cause the market price or value of the Notes to decline more rapidly than would be the case in the
absence of such powers.

Since 1 January 2016, EU credit institutions (such as Societe Generale) and certain investment firms have to meet, at all
times, a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) pursuant to Article 12 of the SRM Regulation.
MREL, which is expressed as a percentage of the total liabilities and own funds of the institution, aims at preventing
institutions from structuring their liabilities in a manner that impedes the effectiveness of the Bail-in Power in order to
facilitate resolution.

The current regime will evolve as a result of the changes adopted by the EU legislators. On 7 June 2019, as part of the
contemplated amendments to the so-called EU Banking Package, the following legislative texts have been published in
the Official Journal of the EU 14 May 2019:

e Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the BRRD as
regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment firms (the BRRD II)
and

e Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the SRM
Regulation as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity (TLAC) of credit institutions and
investment firms (the SRM Il Regulation and, together with the BRRD II, the EU Banking Package Reforms).

The EU Banking Package Reforms will introduce, among other things, the TLAC standard as implemented by the
Financial Stability Board's TLAC Term Sheet (FSB TLAC Term Sheet), by adapting, among others, the existing regime
relating to the specific MREL with aim of reducing risks in the banking sector and further reinforcing institutions’ ability to
withstand potential shocks will strengthen the banking union and reduce risks in the financial system.

The TLAC will be implemented in accordance with the FSB TLAC Term Sheet, which impose a level of Minimum TLAC
that will be determined individually for each global systemically important bank (G-SIB), such as Societe Generale, in an
amount at least equal to (i) 16%, plus applicable buffers, of risk weight assets through January 1, 2022 and 18%, plus
applicable buffers, thereafter and (ii) 6% of the Basel Ill leverage ratio denominator through January 1, 2022 and 6.75%
thereafter (each of which could be extended by additional firm-specific requirements).

According to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential
requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (the CRR), as amended by Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the CRR as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable
funding ratio, requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central
counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings, large exposures, reporting and disclosure requirements
(the CRR Il), EU G-SIBs, such as Societe Generale, will have to comply with TLAC requirements, on top of the MREL
requirements, as from the entry into force of the CRR Il. As such, G-SIBs, such as Societe Generale, will have to comply
at the same time with TLAC and MREL requirements.

Consequently, criteria for MREL-eligible liabilities will be closely aligned with those laid down in the CRR, as amended by
the CRR Il for the TLAC-eligible liabilities, but subject to the complementary adjustments and requirements introduced in
the BRRD II. In particular, certain debt instruments with an embedded derivative component, such as certain structured
notes, will be eligible, subject to certain conditions, to meet the MREL requirements to the extent that they have a fixed or
increasing principal amount repayable at maturity that is known in advance while only an additional return is linked to that
derivative component and depends on the performance of a reference asset.
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The level of capital and eligible liabilities required under MREL will be set by the SRB for Societe Generale on an
individual and/or consolidated basis based on certain criteria including systemic importance any may also be set for SG
Issuer. Eligible liabilities may be senior or subordinated, provided, among other requirements, that they have a remaining
maturity of at least one year and, if governed by non-EU law, they must be able to be written down or converted under
that law (including through contractual provisions).

The scope of liabilities used to meet the MREL includes, in principle, all liabilities resulting from claims arising from
ordinary unsecured creditors (hon-subordinated liabilities) unless they do not meet specific eligibility criteria set out in the
BRRD, as amended by the BRRD II. To enhance the resolvability of institutions and entities through an effective use of
the bail-in tool, the SRB should be able to require that the MREL be met with own funds and other subordinated
liabilities, in particular where there are clear indications that bailed-in creditors are likely to bear losses in resolution that
would exceed the losses that they would incur under normal insolvency proceedings. Moreover, the SRB should assess
the need to require institutions and entities to meet the MREL with own funds and other subordinated liabilities where the
amount of liabilities excluded from the application of the bail- in tool reaches a certain threshold within a class of liabilities
that includes MREL-eligible liabilities. Any subordination of debt instruments requested by the SRB for the MREL shall be
without prejudice to the possibility to partly meet the TLAC requirements with non-subordinated debt instruments in
accordance with the CRR, as amended by the CRR I, as permitted by the TLAC standard. Specific requirements apply
to resolution groups with assets above EUR 100 billion (top-tier banks).

If the SRB finds that there could exist any obstacles to resolvability by any of the Issuers and/or the Group, a higher
MREL requirement could be imposed. Any failure by any of the Issuers, as applicable, and/or the Group to comply with
its MREL may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial conditions and results of operations.

The regulation and reform of “benchmarks”

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks", (including the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR)
and the euro interbank offered rate (EURIBOR)) are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance
and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These
reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes
linked to or referencing such a benchmark.

The EU Benchmark Regulation was published in the Official Journal of the EU on 29 June 2016 and mostly applies,
subject to certain transitional provisions, from 1 January 2018. The EU Benchmark Regulation applies to the provision of
benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other
things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an
equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as
Societe Generale) of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not
deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed). The applicable Final Terms will specify whether the benchmark is
provided by an administrator included in the register referred to in Article 36 of the EU Benchmark Regulation.

Each benchmark specified in this Base Prospectus is listed in the table below, with the name of the relevant
Administrator providing such benchmark.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the relevant Administrator appears/ does not appear, as the case may be, on the
register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority
pursuant to Article 36 of the EU Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the EU Benchmark Regulation),
as specified in the table below.

If “Does not appear and exempted” is specified in the table below, it means that the relevant Administrator does not fall
within the scope of the EU Benchmark Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of that regulation.

If “Does not appear and non-exempted” is specified in the table below, it means that, as far as the Issuer is aware, the
transitional provisions in Article 51 of the EU Benchmark Regulation apply, such that the relevant Administrator is not
currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.

Benchmark Administrator Register

LIBOR ICE Benchmark Administration Limited Does not appear and non-
exempted

USD-LIBOR ICE Benchmark Administration Limited Does not appear and non-
exempted

GBP-LIBOR ICE Benchmark Administration Limited Does not appear and non-
exempted

EURIBOR European Money Markets Institute (EMMI) Does not appear and non-
exempted

EUR-EURIBOR-Swap Rate ICE Benchmark Administration Limited Does not appear and non-
11:00 exempted

34



Regulatory Information

Benchmark

Administrator

Register

USD-CMS

ICE Benchmark Administration Limited

Does not appear and non-
exempted

USD-LIBOR- ICE Swap Rate

ICE Benchmark Administration Limited

Does not appear and non-

11:00 exempted
SHIBOR People's Bank of China Does not appear and exempted
CIBOR Danish Financial Benchmark Facility ApS Appears
NIBOR Norske Finansielle Referanser AS (NoRe) Appears
STIBOR Swedish Financial Benchmark Facility Does not appear and non-

exempted

FTSE MIB index

FTSE International Limited

Does not appear and non-
exempted

SGI China Green Transition
Net Total Return Index in USD
(Bloomberg Ticker: SGITCGT

Index)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGil Inflation Proxy Index (ISIN
DEOOOSLODGP3, Bloomberg
Ticker SGIXINFL)

Societe Generale

Appears

Solactive Industrial Robotics &
Automation AR5% EUR Index
(ISIN DEOOOSLA5D96 /
Bloomberg Ticker:
SOLIROBE)

Societe Generale

Appears

SGil Inflation Proxy Index
(Bloomberg Ticker: SGIXINFL)

Societe Generale

Appears

Solactive European Green
Deal Selection AR5% Index
(Bloomberg Ticker:
SOEUGDS5)

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWACX World Water Net
Total Return Index in EUR
(ISIN DEOOOSLA65R1;
Bloomberg Ticker: WOWAXC)

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWAXPC World Water
Price Return Index in
EUR (ISIN DEOOOSLAG5S9;
Bloomberg Ticker:
WOWAXPC)

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWAX World Water Net
Total Return Index in EUR
(ISIN DEOOOSLAGB5M2,
Bloomberg Ticker WOWAX)

Societe Generale

Appears

WOWAXPDC World Water
Price Return Index in USD
(ISIN DEOOOSLAB5U5,
Bloomberg Ticker

Societe Generale

Appears
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Benchmark Administrator Register
WOWAXPDC)
Harmonia Index (EUR — Societe Generale Appears
Excess Return)
SGI World Champions Index Societe Generale Appears
(EUR — Net Total Return)
SGI European Silver Economy Societe Generale Appears
Index (EUR — Net)
SGI CEO Value (EUR — Net Societe Generale Appears
Total Return)
SBELS35N VaR Controlled Societe Generale Appears
EUR Total Return Index (EUR
- Total Return)
SGI Credit Compression Societe Generale Appears
Europe Index (EUR — Excess
Return)
SGI European Green Deal Societe Generale Appears
Index (EUR — Net Total
Return)
SGI World Alternative Energy Societe Generale Appears

Net Total Return Index

(WAEX)

Does not appear and non-

AL London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

AL3 London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

CU London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

CuU3 London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted

Gl European Energy Exchange (EEX) Appears
A D -
GO ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (IBA) 0es not appear and non

exempted
Does not appear and non-

MCU London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

NI London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

NI3 London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

PB London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
Does not appear and non-

PB3 London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted
GO Does not appear and non-

ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (IBA)

exempted
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Benchmark Administrator Register
PDA 5 o
London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) oes not appear and non
exempted
" D t d non-
London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) 0es not appear an
exempted
PTA 5 o
London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) oes not appear and non
exempted
o D t appear and non-
London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) oes not app
exempted
] 5 t o
ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (IBA) oes not appear and non
exempted

Does not appear and non-
ZN London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted

Does not appear and non-
ZN3 London Metal Exchange Limited (LME) exempted

Regulation (EU) 2019/2089 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 has amended the
existing provisions of the UK Benchmark Regulation by extending the transitional provisions applicable to material
benchmarks and third-country benchmarks until the end of 2021. The existing provisions of the EU Benchmark
Regulation were further amended by Regulation (EU) 2021/168 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10
February 2021 published in the Official Journal of the European Union on 12 February 2021 (the Amending
Regulation).

The Amending Regulation introduces a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind-down of certain
benchmarks by conferring the power to designate a statutory replacement for certain benchmarks on the Commission,
such replacement being limited to contracts and financial instruments. In addition, the transitional provisions applicable to
third-country benchmarks are extended until the end of 2023. The Commission is empowered to further extend this
period until the end of 2025, if necessary. The Amending Regulation applies as of 13 February 2021.

The sustainability of LIBOR has been questioned as a result of the absence of relevant active underlying markets and
possible disincentives (including possibly as a result of benchmark reforms) for market participants to continue
contributing to such benchmarks. On 27 July 2017, and in a subsequent speech by its Chief Executive on 12 July 2018,
the UK Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) confirmed that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for
the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021 (the FCA Announcements). The FCA Announcements indicated that
the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021. On 5 March 2021, the FCA
has confirmed that all LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by any administrator or no longer be
representative.

- immediately after 31 December 2021, in the case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and Japanese yen settings,
and the 1-week and 2-month U.S. dollar settings; and

- immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of the remaining U.S. dollar settings.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks
imposed by the EU Benchmark Regulation, or any of the international or national reforms in making any investment
decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

Financial Transactions Tax (FTT)

A proposal of the European Commission (the Commission’s Proposal) published on 14 February 2013 for a common
FTT in Belgium, Germany, Greece, Spain, France, ltaly, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the participating
Member States) could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member
States and primarily to "financial institutions". As a financial institution, the Issuer is, in certain circumstances, able to
pass on any such tax liabilities to holders of the Notes and therefore this may result in investors receiving less than
expected in respect of the Notes. The FTT could also be payable in relation to relevant transactions by investors in
respect of the Notes (including secondary market transactions) if conditions for a charge to arise are satisfied.

However, the Commission's Proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may
therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains uncertain. Additional EU Member States
may also decide to participate and/or participating Member States may decide to withdraw.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Withholding

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (FATCA) may impose a 30% withholding tax on
certain payments made to certain financial institutions and other entities that do not comply with the requirements under
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FATCA or to investors that fail to provide their broker or custodian with any information, forms, other documentation, or
consents (FATCA Documentation) that may be necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA withholding.

Investors should choose the custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure each is compliant with FATCA) and
provide each custodian or intermediary with any FATCA Documentation that may be necessary to receive payments free
of FATCA withholding. Investors should consult their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA
and how FATCA may affect them.

U.S. Withholding Tax under Section 871(m)

Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder
(Section 871(m)) generally impose a 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalent amounts paid or deemed paid to non-
U.S. holders with respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S. equities or indices that include U.S. equities.
Section 871(m) provides certain exceptions to this withholding regime, in particular for instruments linked to certain
broad-based indices that meet requirements set forth in the applicable Treasury regulations (such an index, a Qualified
Index). Additionally, IRS guidance excludes from the scope of Section 871(m) instruments issued prior to January 1,
2023 that are not "delta-one" instruments with respect to underlying securities that could pay U.S.-source dividends for
U.S. federal income tax purposes (each an Underlying Security). If the Issuer has determined withholding under
Section 871(m) applies, it will generally apply withholding at a 30% rate without regard to any applicable treaty rate(s) or
any investor’s individual tax situation. There is also the risk that withholding pursuant to the Section 871(m) Regulations
will be applied to Notes that were not initially subject to such withholding tax, particularly in cases where a Note is
significantly modified after issuance to replicate the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Securities.
Investors should note that if the Issuer or any withholding agent determines that withholding is required, neither the
Issuer nor the withholding agent will be required to gross up any amounts withheld in connection with a Specified Note.

Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the potential application of Section 871(m) Regulations to
their investment in the Notes.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the European Market Infrastructure
Regulation

Passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) in 2010 in the United
States and of the European Regulation 648/2012, known as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR)
which entered into force on 16 August 2012 and took direct effect in the Member States of the European Union, has led
to significant structural reforms affecting the financial services industry. The Dodd-Frank Act also contains prohibitions,
commonly called, together with the implementing regulations, the Volcker Rule, which regulate the ability of banking
entities to engage as principal in proprietary trading activities and sponsoring or investing in hedge, private equity or
similar funds. Even though some modifications to the Volcker Rule implementing regulations took effect throughout 2020,
the Volcker Rule continues to operate as a constraint on these activities.

Both Title VII (Title VII) of the Dodd-Frank Act and EMIR establish comprehensive regulatory regimes for a broad range
of derivatives contracts including swaps, security-based swaps and mixed swaps (collectively referred to in this risk
factor as Covered Swaps).

In particular, under Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Act and under EMIR, swaps entered into by any Issuer may be required to
be cleared through a central counterparty, executed on a trading venue, and subject to additional margin and capital,
reporting and recordkeeping requirements that could result in additional regulatory burdens, costs and expenses
(including extraordinary, non-recurring expenses of such Issuer). Such requirements may disrupt such Issuer’s ability to
hedge their exposure to various transactions and may materially and adversely impact a transaction’s value or the value
of the Notes. Certain aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act and of EMIR remains to be clarified and the scope of their possible
implications for investors in the Notes cannot currently be predicted. In particular, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) regulations governing security-based swaps will not be effective until November 1, 2021. As such,
investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks posed
by the Dodd-Frank Act and EMIR, in making any investment decision in respect of the Notes.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act, amending the CEA, expanded the definition of a “commodity pool” to include any form of
enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in commodity interests, including swaps. Each Issuer has imposed certain
restrictions on sales in order to fall outside the scope of the CEA. In addition, if any Issuer were deemed to be a
“commodity pool”, it would be required to register as such with the CFTC and the National Futures Association and would
have to comply with a number of reporting requirements that are designed to apply to traded commodity pools. It is
presently unclear how such Issuer could comply with certain of these reporting requirements on an ongoing basis. Such
registration and other requirements would involve material ongoing costs to such Issuer, thereby materially and
adversely impacting a Note’s value.

Furthermore, potential inconsistency between the Dodd-Frank Act, EMIR and other regulations issued by different
regimes could lead to market fragmentation.

Investment Company Act

SG Issuer has not registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) as an investment
company pursuant to the Investment Company Act. Investors in the Notes will not have the protections of the Investment
Company Act.

If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find that the relevant Issuer is required, but in violation of the
Investment Company Act, has failed, to register as an investment company, possible consequences include, but are not
limited to, the following: (i) the SEC could apply to a district court to enjoin the violation; (ii) investors in the relevant
Issuer could sue such Issuer and recover any damages caused by the violation; and (iii) any contract to which the
relevant Issuer is party that is made in, or whose performance involves, a violation of the Investment Company Act would
be unenforceable by any party to the contract unless a court were to find that under the circumstances enforcement
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would produce a more equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent with the purposes of the
Investment Company Act. Should the relevant Issuer be subjected to any or all of the foregoing, such Issuer would be
materially and adversely affected.

Fundamental Review of the Trading Book regulation

For (A) an Index or SGI Index in respect of which the Index Components comprise, without limitation, one or more Equity
Instruments that is a Fund Unit or an Underlying Index composed of Funds, ETF Share or an Underlying Index
composed of ETF, (B) a Fund or (C) ETP or ETF, if from 1 January 2023, the related Fund, Fund Provider of the
underlying Fund, ETF or ETF Service Provider of the underlying ETF, ETP or ETP Issuer of the underlying ETP, as the
case may be, does not make publicly available information or does not provide information (either spontaneously or as
required pursuant to laws and regulations or contractual arrangements) enabling Societe Generale or its affiliates to
calculate its market risks as holder of Fund Units, ETF or ETP, as the case may be, to hedge the obligations of the Issuer
under the Notes, as if it were holding directly the assets of the underlying Fund, ETF or ETP, as the case may be (the
FRTB Information), Societe Generale or its affiliates may be subject to significantly higher capital requirements under
the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book as implemented into French law.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF NOTES

Certain Tranches of Notes may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation
under the Prospectus Regulation to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to below as a Non-exempt
Offer.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, you are offered Notes by any entity, you should check that such entity
has been given consent to use this Base Prospectus for the purposes of making its offer before agreeing to
purchase any Notes. The following entities have consent to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Non-
exempt Offer:

- any entity named as a Dealer in the applicable Final Terms;
- if the clause "Type of Consent" is stated as being "Individual Consent" in the applicable Final Terms:

- any financial intermediary specified in the applicable Final Terms as having been granted specific
consent to use the Base Prospectus; or

- any financial intermediary named on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer as an Authorised Offeror in
respect of the Non-exempt Offer (if that financial intermediary has been appointed after the date of the
applicable Final Terms); and

- if the clause "Type of Consent"' is stated as being "General Consent' in the applicable Final Terms, any
financial intermediary authorised to make such offers under MiFID Il who has published the Acceptance
Statement (as defined below) on its website.

The consent referred to above only relates to Offer Periods (if any) occurring within 12 months from the date of
this Base Prospectus.

The entities listed above have been given consent to use the Base Prospectus only during the Offer Period
specified in the applicable Final Terms and only in the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions.

For Non-exempt Offers which will close after the validity of this Base Prospectus, investors should refer to the
succeeding base prospectus which will be available on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer and the section
“Ongoing Non-exempt Offers”.

Other than as set out above, the Issuer has not authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer by any person

and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person in connection with any
Non-exempt Offer of Notes.

1. CONSENT GIVEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 5(1) OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION

In the context of any offer of Notes that is not within an exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus
under the Prospectus Regulation (a Non-exempt Offer), each of the Issuer and the Guarantor accepts
responsibility, in each Relevant State (as defined below) for which it has given its consent (each a Non-exempt
Offer Jurisdiction) as specified below, for the content of the Base Prospectus under Article 11 of the
Prospectus Regulation in relation to any person (an Investor) to whom any offer of Notes is made by any
financial intermediary to whom it has given its consent to use the Base Prospectus (an Authorised Offeror),
where the offer is made during the period for which that consent is given in a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction for
which that consent was given and is in compliance with all other conditions attached to the giving of the
consent. The consent and conditions attached to it are set out under "Type of Consent' and "Conditions to
Consent" below.

None of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any relevant Dealer makes any representation as to the compliance by an
Authorised Offeror with any applicable conduct of business rules or other applicable regulatory or securities law
requirements in relation to any Non-exempt Offer and none of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any relevant Dealer
has any responsibility or liability for the actions of that Authorised Offeror.

However, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer has any responsibility for any of the
actions of any Authorised Offeror, including the non-compliance by an Authorised Offeror with applicable
conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law requirements in relation
to such offer.

Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises the use of the Base Prospectus in
the case of a Non-exempt Offer of Notes in a Member State of the EEA (each, a Relevant State) other than a
Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction or in a Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction but made by a financial intermediary to
which the relevant Issuer has not given its consent. Such unauthorised Non-exempt Offers are not made by or
on behalf the relevant Issuer the Guarantor or the relevant Dealer and neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor
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nor the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for the actions of any person making such offers and the
related consequences.

Save as provided above, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises that any
Non-exempt Offers of Notes may be made in circumstances which would require a relevant Issuer to publish a
prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, a prospective Investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an
Authorised Offeror, such prospective Investor should check with that person whether anyone is responsible for
this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the relevant Non-exempt Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the
prospective Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible
for its contents it should take legal advice.

TYPE OF CONSENT

2.1

2.2

Subject to the conditions set out below under “Conditions to Consent” and if it is specified in the applicable Final
Terms relating to any Tranche of Notes, the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an
Non-exempt Offer of such Notes during the offer period specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Offer
Period).

The consent given by the Issuer may be an individual consent (an Individual Consent) and/or a general
consent (a General Consent), each as further described below and as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Individual Consent

If the clause “Type of Consent’ is stated as being “Individual Consent’ in the applicable Final Terms, it means
that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of such Notes by
the relevant Dealer and by:

(i) any financial intermediary (other than a Dealer) acting in association with the Issuer named Initial
Authorised Offeror, whose name and address are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
(ii) any financial intermediary acting in association with the Issuer, appointed after the date of the

applicable Final Terms, and named Additional Authorised Offeror, whose name and address will be
published on the relevant website(s) of the Issuer.

General Consent

If the clause “Type of Consent’ is stated as being “General Consent’ in the applicable Final Terms, it means
that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of Notes to any
financial intermediary acting independently from the Issuer named General Authorised Offeror which:

(i) holds all necessary licences, consents, approvals and permissions required by any laws, rules,
regulations and guidance (including from any regulatory body), applicable to the Non-exempt Offer of
the Notes to be authorised to do such offer under the applicable laws of the Non-exempt Offer
Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing MiFID II; and

(i) publishes on its website a statement that it makes such Non-exempt Offer of Notes based on the
General Consent given by the Issuer for the use of the Base Prospectus (the Acceptance Statement):

"We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the offer of [insert title of relevant Notes] (the Notes)
described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the Final Terms) published by [Societe Generale/SG Issuer/
Societe Generale Effekten GmbH] (the Issuer) [and Societe Generale (the Guarantor)]. We hereby accept the
offer by the Issuer [and the Guarantor] of its consent to our use of the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final
Terms) in connection with the offer of the [insert title of relevant Notes] in accordance with the terms and subject
to the conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Base Prospectus, and confirm that we are using the
Base Prospectus accordingly."

Through this publication on its website, the General Authorised Offeror commits itself to respect the following
conditions:

(a) it acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance (including from
any regulatory body applicable to the Non-exempt Offer of the Notes in the Non-exempt Offer
Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing MiFID 1l (hereinafter the Rules) and makes
sure that (i) any investment advice in the Notes by any person is appropriate, (ii) the
information to prospective investors including the information relating to any expenses (and
any commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid by this General Authorised Offeror
under the offer of the Notes is fully and clearly disclosed prior to their investment in the Notes;

(b) it complies with the restrictions set out under “Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions” in
the Base Prospectus related to the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction as if it acted as a Dealer in
the Non-exempt Offer Jurisdiction and considers the relevant manufacturer's target market
assessment and distribution channels identified under the "MiFID Il product governance"
legend set out in the applicable Final Terms;

(c) ensure that the existence of any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) or
rebate received or paid by the relevant financial intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of
the Notes does not violate the Rules, is fully and clearly disclosed to Noteholders or
prospective investors prior to their investment in the Notes and to the extent required by the
Rules, provides further information in respect thereof;

(d) it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and
"know your customer” rules (including, without limitation, taking appropriate steps, in
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compliance with such rules, to establish and document the identity of each prospective
investor prior to initial investment in any Notes by the Investor), and will not permit any
application for Notes in circumstances where the financial intermediary has any suspicions as
to the source of the application monies; it retains investor identification records for at least the
minimum period required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, make such
records available to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or directly to the competent
authorities with jurisdiction over the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer in order to
enable the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money laundering,
anti-corruption, anti-bribery and "know your customer" rules applying to the relevant Issuer
and/or the relevant Dealer, as the case may be;

co-operate with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant information (including,
without limitation, documents and records maintained pursuant to paragraph (d) above) and
such further assistance as reasonably requested upon written request from the Issuer or the
relevant Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within
any time frame set by any such regulator or regulatory process. For this purpose, relevant
information that is available to or can be acquired by the relevant financial intermediary:

(i) in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator in relation to the Notes,
the Issuer or the relevant Dealer; and/or

(i) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer
relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or another Authorised Offeror
including, without limitation, complaints as defined in rules published by any regulator
of competent jurisdiction from time to time; and/or

(i) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from time to time in
relation to the Notes and/or as to allow the Issuer or the relevant Dealer fully to comply
with its own legal, tax and regulatory requirements;

it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealers to breach any Rule
or any requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

it meets any other condition specified under the clause “General Consent/Other conditions to
consent’ in the applicable Final Terms;

it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and the relevant
Dealer, Societe Generale and each of its affiliates for any damage, loss, expense, claim,
request or loss and fees (including reasonable fees from law firms) incurred by one of these
entities because of, or in relation with, any failure by this General Authorised Offeror (or any
of its sub-distributors) to respect any of these obligations above;

it has knowledge of, and is committed to complying with the laws and regulations relating to
anti-bribery, corruption and Influence Peddling, including any changes thereto, applicable to
its activities

neither it nor, to the best of its knowledge, any of the persons whom it controls (including its
directors, officers or employees, each a “Controlled Person”), nor any sub-distributor or
intermediary it has mandated for the purposes of its activities, has committed or will commit
any Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling directly or indirectly, in each case to or for the use or
benefit of, any person or any government official (which shall include any official, employee or
representative of, or any other person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any
government of any jurisdiction, any public international organisation, any political party, or any
quasi-governmental body).

Where:

“Corrupt Act’ shall mean the deliberate act (i) of giving, offering or promising directly or
indirectly through others such as third party intermediaries, or (ii) soliciting or accepting,
directly or indirectly through others such as third party intermediaries, any offer, donation, gift,
invitation, reward or anything of value to any person (including any Public Official), for
themselves or for a third party, that would or could be perceived either as an inducement to
commit an act of corruption or as a deliberate act of corruption, in each case with a view to
inducing any person (including a Public Official) to perform their functions improperly or
dishonestly and/or getting any undue benefit.

“Influence Peddling” shall mean the deliberate act of (i) giving, offering or promising to any
person (including any Public Official), or (ii) yielding to any person (including any Public
Official) who solicits, at any time, directly or indirectly, any offer, donation, gift, invitation,
reward, or anything of value, for themselves or for others, in each case to abuse or for having
abused their real or supposed influence with a view to obtaining from a Public Official any
favourable decision or undue benefit.

“Public Official” shall mean elected officials, dignitaries, candidates for public office,
members of royal families, magistrates, officials or employees, regardless of their grade, or
any person belonging to or acting on behalf of (i) a government (foreign, national or local)
including any department, agency, regulator or one if their bodies or instrumentalities, (ii) a
government department or public authority (including but not limited to customs or tax
authorities, embassies and all bodies issuing permits, (iii) a local or regional public service, (iv)
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a State-owned or controlled enterprise (public hospitals, universities, sovereign investment
funds or any other state-sponsored entity), (v) a political party, or (vi) an international court or
public organisation (e.g. the UN);

(k) it has put in place appropriate rules and procedures, in a form and manner mandated by law
and/or appropriate for a business of its size and resources, aiming at (i) preventing any
Corrupt Act and Influence Peddling from being committed by itself, its Controlled Persons and
— if any — its sub-distributor or other intermediaries it has mandated for the purpose of its
activities and (ii) ensuring that any evidence or suspicion of a Corrupt Act or Influence
Peddling is investigated and handled with the appropriate diligence. Any Corrupt Act or
Influence Peddling related to its Activities shall be promptly reported to Societe Generale or
the relevant Issuer to the extent permitted by applicable law and acted upon accordingly;

(1 neither it nor any of its agents, sub-distributors or Controlled Persons is ineligible or treated by
any governmental or international authority as ineligible to tender for any contract or business
with, or to be awarded any contract or business by, such authority on the basis of any actual
or alleged Corrupt Act or Influence Peddling;

(m) it has kept reasonably detailed books, records and accounts in respect of its activities, in a
form and manner appropriate for a business of its size and resources;
(n) it represents and warrants that it shall not distribute financial instruments to, or enter into any

arrangement with respect to financial instruments with, Sanctioned Persons. It shall
implement and maintain appropriate safeguards designed to prevent any action that would be
contrary to this section.

Where:

“Sanctioned Person” means any individual or entity that is a designated target of Sanctions
or is otherwise subject of Sanctions, including without limitation, as a result of being (a) owned
or controlled directly or indirectly by any person/entity or persons/entities which is or are a
designated target of Sanctions, or (b) organized under the laws of, or a resident of, any
country or territory that is subject to comprehensive or country-wide Sanctions;

“Sanctions” means any economic or financial sanctions, trade embargoes or similar

measures enacted, administered or enforced by any of the following (or by any agency of any
of the following):

(a) the United Nations;
(b) the United States of America;
(c) the United Kingdom; or
(d) the European Union or any present or future member state thereof;
(0) it undertakes to promptly inform Societe Generale or the relevant Issuer of (a) any complaint

received in relation to its activities or the financial instruments; or (b) any event affecting it,
including but not limited to any of: (i) a regulatory investigation or audit of it or its affiliates,
partners or agents; (ii) legal proceedings initiated by a competent regulatory authority against
it or its affiliates, partners or agents; or (iii) a judgment rendered or penalty levied against it or
its affiliates, partners or agents, which in each case might reasonably involve a reputational
risk for Societe Generale or the relevant Issuer; and
(p) it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above is governed by German
law if the applicable Notes are German Law Notes and agrees that any related dispute is
brought before the courts of Germany if the applicable Notes are German Law Notes;
Any General Authorised Offeror who wishes to use the Base Prospectus for a Non-exempt Offer of
Notes in accordance with this General Consent and the related conditions is required, during the time of
the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its website the Acceptance Statement.

CONDITIONS TO CONSENT

The consent by the Issuer to the use of the Base Prospectus in the context of the relevant Non-exempt Offer

are (in addition to the conditions described in paragraph "Type of Consent' above if the clause "Type of

Consent" is stated as being "General Consent' in the applicable Final Terms) that such consent:

(a) is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(b) only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche of
Notes in Austria, Federal Republic of Germany, Luxembourg and Liechtenstein, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

The only Relevant States for which each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has given a consent for the making of

Non-exempt Offers and which may be so specified in the applicable Final Terms as indicated in the paragraph

1.2(ii)(Part B item10) as Non-exempt Offer Jurisdictions will be Austria, Federal Republic of Germany and

Luxembourg.

ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

A prospective Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised Offeror will do so, and
offers and sales of the Notes to an Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any
terms and other arrangements in place between such Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as to
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price, allocation and settlement arrangements (the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer). The
relevant Issuer and the Guarantor will not be a party to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the
Dealer) in connection with the offer or sale of the relevant Notes and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus and the
applicable Final Terms will not contain such information.

The information relating to the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be provided to the
Investors by the Authorised Offeror at the time such Non-exempt Offer is made. None of the relevant
Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer (except where such Dealer is the relevant Authorised Offeror) has
any responsibility or liability to an Investor in respect of such information.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
LIST OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

1.1

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Base Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF and SIX Swiss Exchange, shall be incorporated by
reference into, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

(a) the previous Base Prospectus means the July 2020 Base Prospectus (the Previous Base
Prospectus), and

(b) documents mentioned in section 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 below.

The cross reference table in relation to the Previous Base Prospectus appears in paragraph 2.4. To the
extent that each of the Previous Base Prospectus incorporates itself documents by reference, such
documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.

Where the Form of Final Terms that appears in a Previous Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference in
this Base Prospectus, the introduction paragraph of such previous Form of Final Terms is no longer valid
and the introduction paragraph of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base Prospectus must be used.

The documents incorporated by reference in paragraph 1.1 below are direct and accurate translations into
English of the original version of such documents issued in French. Societe Generale as Issuer accepts
responsibility for such translations.

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
office of Societe Generale and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case at the address
given at the end of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference hereinto are available on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange website (www.bourse.lu).

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale
incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference
herein. Any reference to documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale shall be deemed
to exclude the parts referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) in paragraphs 1.1.1 to 1.1.3 below.

111 2020 Universal Registration Document

The expression "2020 Universal Registration Document” means the English version of the Document
d’enregistrement universel 2020 of Societe Generale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on
12 March 2020 under no. D.20-0122, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the
statement of the person responsible for the universal registration document and the annual financial report
made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Societe Generale, page 568 and (iii) the cross
reference tables, pages 569 to 572.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2020 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph
2.1.1 below.

The 2020 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale website
(https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/Document-d-enregistrement-
universel/2020/sg_urd_eng_2020.pdf).

1.1.2 2021 Universal Registration Document

The expression "2021 Universal Registration Document” means the English version of the Document
d’enregistrement universel 2021 of Societe Generale, the French version of which was submitted to the AMF
on 17 March 2021 under no. D. 21-0138, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the
statement of the person responsible for the universal registration document and the annual financial report
made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Societe Generale, on page 628 and (iii) the cross-
reference table, on pages 629 to 632.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2021 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph
2.1.2 below.

The 2021 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale website
(https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021 -
03/2021%20Universal%20Registration%20Document.pdf).

1.1.3 First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration Document

The expression "First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration Document" means the English
version of the Premier amendement du Document d’enregistrement universel 2021 of Societe Generale, the
French version of which was filed with the AMF on 7 May 2021 under no. D.21-0138-A01, except for (i) the
cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the first amendment
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1.2

1.3

to the universal registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Societe
Generale, page 38 and (iii) the cross reference tables, pages 40 to 42.

The cross-reference table in relation to the First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration Document
appears in the paragraph 2.1.3 below.

The First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration Document is available on the Societe Generale
website

(https://www.societegenerale.com/sites/default/files/documents/2021-05/First-update-of-the-URD-2021 -
D.21-0138-A01.pdf).

Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer incorporates itself
documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.

1.2.1 2019 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2019 Annual Financial Statements"” means the audited annual financial statements of SG
Issuer for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 prepared in accordance with international
financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's report for the
year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2019 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph 2.2.1
below.

The 2019 Annual Financial Statements are available on prospectus.socgen website
(https://prospectus.socgen.com/issuerdoc_search/2019-sg-issuer-annual-financial-statements).

1.2.2 2020 Annual Financial Statements

The expression "2020 Annual Financial Statements" means the English version of the audited annual
financial statements of SG Issuer for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 prepared in
accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the
statutory auditor's report for the year.

The 2020 Annual Financial Statements are available on prospectus.socgen website
(https.//prospectus.socgen.com/issuerdoc_search/2020%20-
%20SG%20ISSUER%20Annual%20Financial%20Statements).

The cross reference table in relation to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements appears in paragraph 2.2.2
below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference herein.

1.3.1 2019 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

The expression "2019 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH" means the
English language version of the audited consolidated financial statements of Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH for the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 prepared in accordance with
international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's
report for the year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2019 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH appears in paragraph 2.3.1 below.

The 2019 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH are available on

prospectus.socgen website (https://sg-
zertifikate.de/SiteContent/1/1/2/924/84/Konzernabschluss _2019_EN.pdf).

1.3.2 2020 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

The expression "2020 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH" means the
English language version of the audited consolidated financial statements of Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH for the financial year from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 prepared in accordance with
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international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and the statutory auditor's
report for the year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2020 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten
GmbH appears in paragraph 2.3.2 below.

The 2020 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH are available on
prospectus.socgen website

(https//sg-

zertifikate.de/SiteContent/1/1/2/924/84/Group_Management_Report_and_Consolidated _Financial_Stateme
nts_for_the_financial_year from January 1_to_December_31_2020.pdf).

1.4 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Previous Base Prospectus
The expression "Previous Base Prospectus" means the July 2020 Base Prospectus.
To the extent that the Previous Base Prospectus incorporates itself documents by reference, such
documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.
The cross reference table in relation to the Previous Base Prospectus appears in paragraph 2.4 below.
Where the Form of Final Terms that appears in a Previous Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference in
this Base Prospectus, the introduction paragraph of such previous Form of Final Terms is no longer valid
and the introduction paragraph of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base Prospectus must be used.
July 2020 Base Prospectus
The expression "July 2020 Base Prospectus" means collectively:
- the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 2 July 2020;
- the supplement dated 9 December 2020; and
- the supplement dated 11 January 2021.
For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 3 August 2020, 20 November 2020, 12 February 2021
and 15 March 2021 are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.
The debt issuance programme prospectus dated 2 July 2020 is available on prospectus.socgen website
(https://prospectus.socgen.com/program_search/Soci%C3%A9t%C3%A9%20G%C3%AIN%C3%A9rale %2
0-%20German%20DIIP%202020%20-%20Prospectus %20(Final%20Filing)).
The supplement dated 9 December 2020 is available on prospectus.socgen website
(https.//prospectus.socgen.com/program_search/SG%20-%20German%20DIIP%202020%20-
%20Supplement%20No.%203).
The supplement dated 11 January 2021 is available on prospectus.socgen website
(https://prospectus.socgen.com/program_search/SG%20-%20German%20DIIP%202020%20-
%20Supplement%20No.%204).

2. CROSS REFERENCE TABLES OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The non-incorporated parts and the non-incorporated documents referred to above are not incorporated by
reference as they are not relevant for an investor or are covered elsewhere in the Base Prospectus.
References to pages appearing in each of the cross-reference tables are to those of each document
incorporated by reference.

2.1 Cross reference tables relating to Societe Generale

2141 2020 Universal Registration Document

2020 Universal
Registration Document
FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER
Historical financial information 135;147; 157-163;
172-173; 181;
183-186; 199-211; 214 -
219;
231-236; 310-473; 474-
540
Financial statements 310-535
Consolidated Balance sheet 310-311
Consolidated income statement 312
accounting policies and explanatory notes on the consolidated financial 316-468
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statements

cash flow statement 315
changes in equity 417-419
Parent Company Balance sheet 481-482
Parent Company income statement 482
accounting policies and explanatory notes on the annual financial 483-535

statements

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

469-473, 536-540

2.1.2 2021 Universal Registration Document
2021 Universal
Registration Document
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980

RISK FACTORS 152-162
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
History and development of the company 7-8
Legal and commercial name of the Issuer 607
Place of registration, registration number and legal entity identifier (LEI) of the 607
Issuer
Date of incorporation and the length of life of the Issuer 607
Domicile and legal form of the Issuer, applicable legislation, country of 607
incorporation, address and telephone number of its registered office and website
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Principal activities 8-10; 47-52
Principal markets 8-13; 16-26; 28-29; 466-

470
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
Summary description of the Group and the Issuer's position within it 8-10; 28-29
TREND INFORMATION 59; 14-15
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors and senior management 64-97
Administrative bodies and senior management's conflicts of interest 146
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
Control of the Issuer 603-604,606

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information

138; 168-171; 179-180;

190;
192-196; 204-205; 208-
218; 224-234;
243-247; 352-522; 529-
592
Financial statements 352-593
Consolidated Balance sheet 352-353
Consolidated income statement 354
Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the consolidated financial 359-519
statements
Cash flow statement 357
Changes in shareholders’ equity 356
Parent Company Balance sheet 536
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2.2

Parent Company income statement

537

Accounting policies and explanatory notes on the annual financial statements

538-592

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

523-528; 593-598

Legal and arbitration proceedings

259; 519-522; 590-592

Significant changes in the Issuer's financial position

59

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

59

213 First Amendment to the 2021 Universal Registration Document

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980

First Amendment to the
2021 Universal
Registration Document

RISK FACTORS 30-32
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

Legal and commercial name of the Issuer 1
Domicile and legal form of the Issuer, applicable legislation, country of 1
incorporation, address and telephone number of its registered office and website

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Principal markets 5-28
TREND INFORMATION 3-28 ; 3-4
FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,

FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information 5-28
Financial statements 5-28
Legal and arbitration proceedings 36-37
Significant changes in the Issuer's financial position 3-28
Cross reference tables relating to SG Issuer

2.21 2019 Annual Financial Statements

Statement of comprehensive income 19
Statement of financial position 18
Statement of changes in equity 20
Statement of cash-flows 21
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles) 22-61
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 13-17
2.2.2 2020 Annual Financial Statements

Statement of comprehensive income 17
Statement of financial position 16
Statement of changes in equity 18
Statement of cash-flows 19
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles) 20-56
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2.4

Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé

12-15

Cross reference tables relating to Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

2.3.1 2019 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

Pages numbers refer to
the page numbers of
the pdf document

Consolidated income statement

32
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 33
Consolidated statement of financial position 34-35
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 36
Consolidated statement of cash-flows 37-38
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 39-122
Auditor’s report by the independent auditor 123-129

2.3.2 2020 Annual Financial Statements Societe Generale Effekten GmbH

Pages numbers refer to
the page numbers of

the pdf document

Consolidated income statement 32
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 33
Consolidated statement of financial position - assets 34
Consolidated statement of financial position — equity and liabilities 35
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 36
Consolidated statement of cash-flows 37-38

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 39-121
Auditor’s report by the independent auditor 124-131

Cross reference tables relating to Previous Base Prospectus

July 2020 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus Terms and Conditions of the German Law 124-225
Notes
Additional terms and conditions 226-938
Form of Final Terms 58-123

Supplement dated 9 December 2020 Additional Terms and Conditions relating to 3-5
Formulae

Supplement dated 11 January 2021 Additional Terms and Conditions relating to 3-4
Formulae

For the avoidance of doubt, such parts of the abovementioned documents which are not explicitly listed in the tables
above, are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus. Information contained in such parts is either of
no relevance for an investor or covered in other parts of this Base Prospectus.
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FINAL TERMS

In this section the expression “necessary information” means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the information
necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and
losses and prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights attaching to the Notes. In relation to the different
types of Notes which may be issued under the Programme, the Issuers and the Guarantor have endeavoured to include
in this Base Prospectus all of the necessary information except for information relating to the Notes which is not known at
the date of this Base Prospectus and which can only be determined at the time of an individual issuance of a Tranche of
Notes.

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required in order to
complete the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will, therefore, be contained in the applicable Final
Terms.

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for the purposes of such Tranche of
Notes only, complete the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with this Base Prospectus.
The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms are the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes as completed to the extent described in the applicable Final Terms.
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SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

If at any time the Issuers shall be required to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation, the Issuers will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus
or a further Base Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on a
regulated market shall constitute a supplement to the Base Prospectus (or a new Base Prospectus, as applicable) as
required (for supplements) by Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation and shall supply each Dealer with such number of
copies of such supplement hereto or new Base Prospectus as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Each Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme there is a
significant new factor, material mistake, material inaccuracy or omission relating to information contained in this Base
Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes and whose inclusion in or removal from this Base
Prospectus is necessary, for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed assessment of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, the Group and the rights attaching to the
Notes, the Issuer shall prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a replacement Base Prospectus for use
in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes, and shall supply each Dealer with such number of copies of
such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new
factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable
of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus (a Supplement) in accordance
with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation or publish a new prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent
issue of Notes. Such Supplement as prepared will have to be approved by the CSSF. Statements contained in any such
Supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether
expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus
or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded
shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

In the case of Notes subject to a Non-exempt Offer to the public, in accordance with Article 23(2) bis of the Prospectus
Regulation, investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Notes before any Supplement is published
have the right, exercisable within three working days after the publication of this Supplement, to withdraw their
acceptances.
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FORM OF THE NOTES
DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this section:
Bearer Notes means Notes in bearer form.

Bearer SIS Notes means SIS Notes in bearer form.
Clearstream, Germany means Clearstream Banking AG Frankfurt.

CHF SIS Notes means Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that fulfil the criteria from time to time
required in order to benefit from a limited exception to the non-US beneficial ownership certification requirement
of the TEFRA D Rules.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking S.A.
Definitive Notes means Definitive Bearer Notes, Definitive Bearer SIS Notes and Definitive Registered Notes.
Definitive Bearer Notes means definitive Bearer Notes issued in exchange for a Global Note.

Definitive Bearer SIS Notes means definitive Bearer Notes issued in exchange for a Permanent Global SIS
Note.

German Law Notes means Bearer Notes and SIS Notes which are governed by German law.
Euroclear means Euroclear Bank SA/NV.

Exchange Date means the day immediately following the later of (i) 40 days after the Temporary Global Note
or, as the case may be, Temporary Global Certificate, is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the
distribution of the relevant Tranche, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or
the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

Global Note means any global Note representing Notes in bearer form (Bearer Global Notes).

Other SIS Notes means (i) Bearer SIS Notes denominated in a currency approved by SIS other than Swiss
Francs, or (ii) Bearer SIS Notes denominated in Swiss Francs that are not CHF SIS Notes.

SIS means the Swiss securities services corporation, SIX SIS SA.

SIS Notes means German Law Notes in the form of Bearer SIS Notes.
SIX Swiss Exchange means the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd.

GERMAN LAW NOTES (OTHER THAN SIS NOTES)

21

2.2

Each Tranche of German Law Notes will be Bearer Notes issued outside the United States in reliance on the
exemption from registration provided by Regulation S.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will be issued in the form of a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global
Note, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, in either case, will:

- if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (hereinafter New Global Note or
NGN) form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the issue date of the
Tranche to a common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg and Clearstream Banking AG, Germany; and

- if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be delivered on or prior to the original
issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg and Clearstream, Germany.

Bearer Global Notes as defined under the General Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes will only be
transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg or Clearstream, Germany as the case may be.

Eurosystem eligibility

New Global Notes issued under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may be issued with the intention that such
Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European Central Bank. However, there is
no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral, or that, even if recognised, the eligibility
will continue during the life of the Notes. Any other Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral
for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem.

SIS NOTES

Each Tranche of SIS Notes will be issued as Bearer SIS Notes, which are, or are intended to be, deposited or
registered with and cleared through SIS or any other clearing institution in Switzerland recognised for such
purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange (SIS or any other such intermediary, the Intermediary). The applicable Final
Terms will indicate whether SIS Notes are CHF SIS Notes or Other SIS Notes.

Bearer SIS Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer SIS Notes will be represented by a permanent global Note (Permanent Global SIS
Note) which will be deposited with the Intermediary on or prior to the issue date of the Tranche. Once the
Permanent Global SIS Note has been deposited with the Intermediary and the Bearer SIS Note represented
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thereby entered into the accounts of one or more participants of the Intermediary, such Bearer SIS Notes will
constitute intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) (Intermediated Securities) within the meaning of the Swiss
Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz).

Each holder of Bearer SIS Notes shall have a quota co-ownership interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the
Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes to the extent of his claim against the Issuer,
provided that, for so long as the Permanent Global SIS Note remains deposited with the Intermediary, the co-
ownership interest shall be suspended and such Bearer SIS Notes may only be transferred by the entry of the
transferred Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) of the transferee.

The records of the Intermediary will determine the number of Bearer SIS Notes held through each participant of
the Intermediary. The holders of Bearer SIS Notes in the form of Intermediated Securities will be the persons
holding such Bearer SIS Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name, or, in the case of
intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries holding such Bearer SIS Notes for their own account in
a securities account that is in their name (and the terms "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related
expressions shall be construed accordingly).

No physical delivery of the Bearer SIS Notes shall be made unless and until Definitive Bearer SIS Notes have
been printed. No holder of Bearer SIS Notes will at any time have the right to effect or demand the exchange of
the Permanent Global SIS Note representing such Bearer SIS Notes into, or the delivery of, Bearer SIS Notes in
definitive form (Definitive Bearer SIS Notes) or uncertificated form.

The relevant Permanent Global SIS Note will only be exchangeable, in whole, but not in part, for Definitive
Bearer SIS Notes and Definitive Bearer SIS Notes may only be printed upon the occurrence of a Bearer SIS
Notes Exchange Event (as defined below in the section "Exchange upon the occurrence of an Exchange
Event"). Upon the occurrence of a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event, the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the
relevant lead manager, as the case may be, shall provide for the printing of Definitive Bearer SIS Notes without
cost to the holders of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes. If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant
Permanent Global SIS Note will immediately be cancelled by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent (in case of
Bearer SIS Notes not listed on SIX Swiss Exchange) or the relevant lead manager (in case of Bearer SIS Notes
that are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange), as the case may be, and the Definitive Bearer SIS notes shall be
delivered to the relevant holders against cancellation of the relevant Bearer SIS Notes in such holders'
securities accounts.

Bearer SIS Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be
governed by German law.

CERTIFICATION AS TO NON-U.S. BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP

4.1

German Law Bearer Notes

Whilst any Bearer Note (except any Bearer SIS Notes, which are represented by Permanent Global SIS Notes
as described above) is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any
other amounts payable in respect of the Notes, due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made
(against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to be issued in
NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners
of interests in such Note are not U.S. Persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. Person
(hereinafter Certification), as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, (i) has been received by Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like
certification (based on the Certifications it has received) to the Fiscal Agent or, (ii) in the case of a Temporary
Global Note or Temporary Global Certificate held otherwise than on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg from the holder thereof.

On and after the Exchange Date (as defined below), interests in the Temporary Global Note will be
exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for, as applicable, (i) interests in a
Permanent Global Note or (ii) Definitive Bearer Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, Receipts,
Coupons and/or Talons attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of
Definitive Bearer Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the Permanent Global Note), in accordance with
the terms of the Temporary Global Note against Certification as to non-US beneficial ownership as described
above and as required by U.S. Treasury regulations unless such Certification has already been given pursuant
to the provisions set forth above; provided, however, that if the relevant Global Note is issued in respect of a
Tranche of Bearer Notes described as Partly Paid Notes in the applicable Final Terms, such Global Note may
be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes and (if applicable) Coupons, Receipts and/or Talons as described
above only if the final part payment on all such Partly Paid Notes then outstanding has been paid. Exchange of
a Temporary Global Note for interests in a Permanent Global Note will only be made if Definitive Bearer Notes
have not already been issued. If Definitive Bearer Notes have already been issued, the Temporary Global Note
may only thereafter be exchanged for Definitive Bearer Notes pursuant to the terms thereof. The holder of a
Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on
or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due Certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an
interest in a Permanent Global Note or, in the case of Bearer Notes, for Definitive Bearer Notes is improperly
withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note (including Permanent
Global SIS Notes) will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or SIS as applicable,
to or to the order of the holder thereof (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent
Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) without any requirement for
Certification.
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4.2

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bearer Notes of each Tranche must not be offered or sold in the United
States or to, or for the benefit or account of, a person that is not a Permitted Transferee. Any future transfer,
resale, pledge or delivery of such Bearer Notes or any interest therein may only be made to a Permitted
Transferee in compliance with the resale provisions set forth in Regulation S of the Securities Act.

For the purposes of this section " Certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership", the Exchange Date shall be
the day immediately following the later of (i) 40 days after the Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be,
Temporary Global Certificate is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the relevant
Tranche, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead
manager (in the case of a syndicated issue).

CHF SIS Notes
CHF SIS Notes are Bearer SIS Notes benefiting from a limited exception to the non-US beneficial ownership

certification requirement of the TEFRA D Rules. Other SIS Notes may be subject to additional selling
restrictions and additional U.S. tax disclosure as set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Special procedures must be followed for CHF SIS Notes in order for such Notes to be exempt from Certification
(as defined below). Each of the relevant Dealers must have represented and agreed in the Programme
Agreement that (a) it will comply with U.S. selling restrictions in so far as they apply to CHF SIS Notes and (b)
the offering and sale of the CHF SIS Notes has been and will be conducted in accordance with Swiss laws and
regulations. The following criteria must be fulfilled in order for the limited exception to the non-US beneficial
ownership certification requirement of the TEFRA D Rules to apply:

- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are denominated only in Swiss Francs;
- the interest on, and the principal of, the CHF SIS Notes are payable only in Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are offered and sold in accordance with Swiss customary practice and
documentation;

- the relevant Dealers agree to use reasonable efforts to sell the CHF SIS Notes within Switzerland;

- the CHF SIS Notes are not listed, or subject to an application for listing, on an exchange located outside
Switzerland;

- the issuance of the CHF SIS Notes complies with any guidelines or restrictions imposed by Swiss
governmental, banking or securities authorities from time to time; and

- more than 80 per cent. by value of the CHF SIS Notes included in the offering of which they are part are
offered and sold to non-Dealers by Dealers maintaining an office located in Switzerland.

EXCHANGE UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EXCHANGE EVENT

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, the Permanent Global SIS Note will not be exchangeable at the option of the

holders of such Bearer SIS Notes, but may be exchanged for Definitive Bearer SIS Notes, in whole, but not in

part, if the Principal Swiss Paying Agent deems:

(i) the printing of definitive Notes, receipts or coupons to be necessary or useful, or

(i) the presentation of definitive Notes, receipts or coupons to be required by Swiss or foreign laws in
connection with the enforcement of rights (including in cases of bankruptcy, consolidation or
reorganisation of the Issuer).

In respect of Bearer SIS Notes, each such circumstance constitutes a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange Event.

If Definitive Bearer SIS Notes are delivered, the relevant permanent Global Note will immediately be cancelled

by the Principal Swiss Paying Agent or the relevant lead manager, as the case may be, and the Definitive

Bearer SIS Notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders against cancellation of the relevant Bearer SIS

Notes in such holders' securities accounts.

OFFER AND SALE IN THE U.S. AND U.S. LEGENDS

Prospective investors should also refer to "Subscription, Sale and Transfer' for additional information in
connection with the offer and sale of German Law Notes in the U.S.

Bearer Notes of each Tranche offered and sold only in an offshore transaction (as defined in Regulation S) may
not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the benefit or account of, a person that is not a Permitted
Transferee, and such Bearer Notes will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer. Any future
transfer, resale, pledge or delivery of such Bearer Notes or any interest therein may only be made in an offshore
transaction (as defined under Regulation S) to a Permitted Transferee in compliance with the resale provisions
set forth in Regulation S of the Securities Act.

The following legend will appear on all permanent Bearer Notes which have an original maturity of more than
one year and on all receipts, interest coupons and talons relating to such Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE UNITED STATES) WHO
HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS,
INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to above provide that United States persons (as defined in the Code), with certain
exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Bearer Notes and will not be entitled to capital gains
treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes,
receipts, interest coupons or talons.
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CLEARING SYSTEMS

Any reference herein to "Euroclear" and/or "Clearstream, Luxembourg" and/or "Clearstream, Germany" shall,
whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing
system specified in the applicable Final Terms (including, without limitation, Euroclear France and the
intermédiaires financiers habilités authorised to maintain accounts therein, in relation to SIS Notes or any other
Notes listed on SIX Swiss Exchange, SIS or any other clearing institution in Switzerland recognised for such
purposes by SIX Swiss Exchange, approved by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Fiscal Agent, and, in the
case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Luxembourg Stock Exchange).
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS / MUSTER DER ENDGULTIGEN BEDINGUNGEN

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

MUSTER DER ENDGULTIGEN BEDINGUNGEN

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be
completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the
Programme where:

Es folgt das Muster der Endgliltigen Bedingungen, die fir
Jjede im Rahmen des Programms begebene Tranche von
Schuldverschreibungen vervollstdndigt werden, wobei:

*

will apply if the minimum denomination is less than
€100,000

* gilt, wenn die Mindeststiickelung niedriger als

EUR 100.000 ist,

** will apply if the minimum denomination is at least
€100,000

*k

gilt, wenn die
EUR 100.000 betrédgt.

Mindeststlickelung  mindestens

[To be included on front of the Final Terms if following the
ICMA 1 "all bonds to all professionals" target market
approach:

[Zu Beginn der Endgliltigen Bedingungen aufzunehmen,
falls nach dem ICMA 1 der Zielmarktansatz ,alle Anleihen
an alle professionellen Marktteilnehmer* git:

MIFID Il product governance / Professional investors
and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of
[the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the
target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led
to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is
eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each
as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
IN][MIFID II]; and (i) all channels for distribution of the
Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients
are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market].
Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into
consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is
responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or
refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment)
and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

MiIFID lI-Produktiiberwachungspflichten/Zielmarkt

ausschlieBlich  fir professionelle Anleger und
geeignete Gegenparteien — Die Zielmarktbestimmung im
Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen hat ausschlieBlich
fir den Zweck des Produkigenehmigungsverfahrens
[des/jedes] Konzepteurs zu dem Ergebnis geflhrt, dass

(i) der  Zielmarkt  fur die  Schuldverschreibungen
ausschlieBlich geeignete Gegenparteien und
professionelle  Kunden, jeweils im  Sinne der

[Richtlinie 2014/65/EU (in der jeweils gulltigen Fassung,
MiFID I)][MiFID Il], umfasst und (ii) alle Kanale fir den
Vertrieb der Schuldverschreibungen an geeignete
Gegenparteien und professionelle Kunden angemessen
sind. [Etwaigen negativen Zielmarkt berlicksichtigen]. Jede
Person, die in der Folge die Schuldverschreibungen
anbietet, verkauft oder empfiehlt (ein
Vertriebsunternehmen), soll die Zielmarktbestimmung
[des Konzepteurs][der Konzepteure] berlicksichtigen; ein
Vertriebsunternehmen, das MiFID Il unterliegt, ist indes
daflir verantwortlich, seine eigene Zielmarktbestimmung im
Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen durchzufiihren

(entweder durch die Ubernahme oder durch die
Prazisierung der Zielmarktbestimmung [des
Konzepteurs][der Konzepteure]) und angemessene

Vertriebskanéle zu bestimmen.]

[The legend may not be necessary if the managers in
relation to the Notes are not subject to UK MiFIR and
therefore there are no UK MIiFIR manufacturers.
Depending on the location of the manufacturers, there may
be situations where either the MiFID Il product governance
legend or the UK MIFIR product governance legend or
where both are included:

[Der Hinweistext ist mdglicherweise nicht erforderlich, falls
die Verwalter ~ im  Zusammenhang mit  den
Schuldverschreibungen nicht der GB-MIFIR unterliegen
und es daher keine Konzepteure im Sinne der GB-MiFIR
gibt. Je nach Standort des Konzepteurs kann es
Situationen geben, in denen entweder der Hinweistext zur
Produktiberwachung geméB MIFID Il oder der Hinweistext
zur Produktiiberwachung gemdB GB-MiFIR oder beide
aufgenommen werden:

UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors
and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of
[the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the
target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led
to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is
only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA
Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and
professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No
600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK MIiFIR); and
(i) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible
counterparties and professional clients are appropriate.
[Consider any negative target market]. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes
(a distributor) should take into consideration the
manufacturer['s/s’] target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product
Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK

GB-MiFIR-Produktiiberwachungspflichten/Zielmarkt

ausschlieBlich  fur professionelle Anleger und
geeignete Gegenparteien — Die Zielmarktbestimmung im
Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen hat ausschlieBlich
fur den Zweck des Produkigenehmigungsverfahrens
[des/jedes] Konzepteurs zu dem Ergebnis geflihrt, dass
(i) der  Zielmarkt  fur die  Schuldverschreibungen
ausschlieBlich geeignete Gegenparteien, wie im Handbuch
zum Geschéftsgebaren (Conduct of Business Sourcebook
— COBS) der britischen Finanzaufsichtsbehérde (Financial
Conduct Authority — FCA) definiert, und professionelle
Kunden umfasst, wie in der Verordnung (EU) Nr. 600/2014
definiert, die geman dem britischen Gesetz von 2018 Uber
den Austritt aus der Europaischen Union (European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018) Teil des nationalen Rechts im
Vereinigten Koénigreich ist (GB-MiFIR), und (ii) alle Kanéle
fir den Vertrieb der Schuldverschreibungen an geeignete
Gegenparteien und professionelle Kunden angemessen
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MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for
undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of
the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer's/s’] target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.]

sind. [Etwaigen negativen Zielmarkt berticksichtigen]. Jede
Person, die in der Folge die Schuldverschreibungen
anbietet, verkauft oder empfiehlt (ein
Vertriebsunternehmen) soll die Zielmarktbestimmung
[des Konzepteurs][der Konzepteure] berlcksichtigen; ein
Vertriebsunternehmen, welches dem Handbuch zur
Produktintervention und Produktiberwachung (Product
Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook) der
britischen Finanzaufsichtsbehérde (Financial Conduct
Authority — FCA) (UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules)
unterliegt, ist indes daflir verantwortlich, seine eigene
Zielmarktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die
Schuldverschreibungen durchzufiihren (entweder durch
die Ubernahme oder durch die Prazisierung der
Zielmarktbestimmung [des Konzepteurs][der
Konzepteure]) und angemessene Vertriebskanéle zu
bestimmen.]

OR

ODER

[To be included on front of the Final Terms if following the
ICMA 2 approach:

[Zu Beginn der Endgliltigen Bedingungen aufzunehmen,
falls nach dem ICMA 2 Folgendes gilt.

MIFID Il product governance / Retail investors,
professional investors and ECPs - Solely for the
purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval
process, the target market assessment in respect of the
Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market
for the Notes is eligible counterparties, professional clients
and retail clients, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU
(as amended, MiFID IN][MiFID Il]; EITHER' [and (ii) all
channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate,
including investment advice, portfolio management, non-
advised sales and pure execution services] OR ?[(ii) all
channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and
professional clients are appropriate; and [(iii) the following
channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are
appropriate - investment advice[,/ and] portfolio
management[,/ and][ non-advised sales J]land pure
execution services]] [(ii) the determination of the
appropriate channels for distribution of the Notes to retail
clients has been made and is available on the website
https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt] [, subject to
the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations
under MIFID I, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative
target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into
consideration the manufacturer['s/s'l target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MIFID Il is
responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or
refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment)
and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject
to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness
obligations under MiFID Il, as applicable]3.]]

MIFID lI-Produktiiberwachungspflichten/Privat-

investoren, professionelle Anleger und geeignete
Gegenparteien — Die Zielmarktbestimmung im Hinblick
auf die Schuldverschreibungen hat ausschlieBlich fiir den
Zweck des Produkitgenehmigungsverfahrens [des/jedes]
Konzepteurs zu dem Ergebnis gefihrt, dass (i) der
Zielmarkt fir die Schuldverschreibungen geeignete
Gegenparteien, professionelle Kunden und Kleinanleger,
jeweils im Sinne der [Richtlinie 2014/65/EU (in der jeweils
gultigen Fassung, MiFID IN][MIFID I1], umfasst;
ENTWEDER* [und (i) alle Kanale fir den Vertrieb der
Schuldverschreibungen angemessen sind, einschlieBlich
Anlageberatung, Portfolioverwaltung, Verkdufen ohne
Beratung und der bloBen  Ausfihrung  von
Kundenauftragen umfasst] ODER 5[(ii) alle Kanale fir den
Vertrieb der Schuldverschreibungen an geeignete
Gegenparteien und professionelle Kunden angemessen
sind; und [(iii) die folgenden Kanéle fir den Vertrieb der
Schuldverschreibungen an Kleinanleger angemessen sind:
Anlageberatung][,/ und] Portfolioverwaltungl[,/
und][Verkdufe ohne Beratung][und die bloBe Ausfiihrung

von Kundenauftrdgen]] [(ii) die Bestimmung der
angemessenen  Kandle fir den  Vertrieb  der
Schuldverschreibungen an Kleinanleger wurde
vorgenommen und ist auf der Website

https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt verflgbar] |,
nach MaBgabe der Pflichten des Vertriebsunternehmens
gemaB MiFID Il im Hinblick auf Geeignetheit bzw.
Angemessenheit]].  [Etwaigen  negativen  Zielmarkt
bertiicksichtigen]. Jede Person, die in der Folge die
Schuldverschreibungen anbietet, verkauft oder empfiehlt
(ein Vertriebsunternehmen), soll die
Zielmarktbestimmung [des Konzepteurs][der Konzepteure]
berlicksichtigen; ein Vertriebsunternehmen, das MiFID Il
unterliegt, ist indes daflir verantwortlich, seine eigene
Zielmarktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die
Schuldverschreibungen durchzufihren (entweder durch

" Include for bonds that are not ESMA complex.

2 Include for certain ESMA complex bonds. This list may need to be amended, for example, if advised sales are deemed necessary. If
there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary. In addition, if the Notes constitute "complex" products, pure
execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the determination of appropriateness.

3 If the Notes constitute "complex" products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the

determination of appropriateness. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary.

4 Bei Anleihen aufnehmen, die nicht ESMA-komplex sind.

5 Bei bestimmten ESMA-komplexen Anleinen aufnehmen. Diese Liste muss gegebenenfalls angepasst werden, z. B. wenn
Anlageberatung fir erforderlich erachtet wird. Im Fall der Anlageberatung ist die Bestimmung der Geeignetheit notwendig. Wenn die
Schuldverschreibungen ,komplexe* Produkte sind, ist auRerdem die bloBe Ausfiihrung von Kundenauftrdgen von Kleinanlegern ohne

Bestimmung der Angemessenheit nicht zulassig.
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die Ubernahme oder durch die Prazisierung der
Zielmarktbestimmung [des  Konzepteurs][der  Kon-
zepteure]) und angemessene Vertriebskandle zu
bestimmen[, nach MaBgabe der Pflichten des
Vertriebsunternehmens geman MiFID Il im Hinblick auf
Geeignetheit bzw. Angemessenheitt.]]

[The legend may not be necessary if the managers in
relation to the Notes are not subject to UK MiFIR and
therefore there are no UK MIiFIR manufacturers.
Depending on the location of the manufacturers, there may
be situations where either the MiFID Il product governance
legend or the UK MIFIR product governance legend or
where both are included.

[Der Hinweistext ist mdglicherweise nicht erforderlich, falls
die Verwalter ~ im  Zusammenhang  mit  den
Schuldverschreibungen nicht der GB-MiFIR unterliegen
und es daher keine Konzepteure im Sinne der GB-MiFIR
gibt. Je nach Standort des Konzepteurs kann es
Situationen geben, in denen entweder der Hinweistext zur
Produktiiberwachung geméan MiFID Il oder der Hinweistext
zur Produktiiberwachung geméafi der GB-MiFIR oder beide
aufgenommen werden:

UK MIFIR product governance / Retail investors,
professional investors and ECPs target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product
approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target
market for the Notes is retail clients, as defined in point (8)
of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part
of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA), and eligible
counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct
of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients,
as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part
of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (UK MiFIR);
EITHER? [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes
are appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio
management, non-advised sales and pure execution
services] OR? [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible
counterparties and professional clients are appropriate;
and [(iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes
to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and]
portfolio management[,/ and][ non-advised sales ]J[and pure
execution services]] [(iii) the determination of the
appropriate channels for distribution of the Notes to retail
clients has been made and is available on the website
https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt] [, subject to
the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations
under COBS, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative
target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into
consideration the manufacturer['s/s’] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance
Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules)
is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or
refining the manufacturer['s/s’] target market assessment)
and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject
to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness
obligations under COBS, as applicable]®.]'?]

GB-MiFIR-Produktiiberwachungspflichten/Zielmarkt

Privatinvestoren, professionelle Anleger und
geeignete Gegenparteien — Die Zielmarktbestimmung im
Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen hat ausschlieBlich
fur den Zweck des Produkigenehmigungsverfahrens
[des/jedes] Konzepteurs zu dem Ergebnis geflihrt, dass
(i) der  Zielmarkt  fur die  Schuldverschreibungen
Kleinanleger, wie in der Verordnung (EU) Nr. 2017/565
Artikel 2 Nummer 8 definiert, wie sie geman dem britischen
Gesetz von 2018 Uber den Austritt aus der Europaischen
Union (European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 — EUWA)
Teil des nationalen Rechts im Vereinigten Kdnigreich ist,
und geeignete Gegenparteien, wie im Handbuch zum
Geschéftsgebaren (Conduct of Business Sourcebook —
COBS) der britischen Finanzaufsichtsbehérde (Financial
Conduct Authority — FCA) definiert, und professionelle
Kunden, wie in der Verordnung (EU) Nr.600/2014
definiert, wie sie geman dem EUWA Teil des nationalen
Rechts im Vereinigten Kdnigreich ist (GB-MiFIR), umfasst;
ENTWEDER'" [und (ii) alle Kanale fir den Vertrieb der
Schuldverschreibungen angemessen sind, einschlieBlich
Anlageberatung, Portfolioverwaltung, Verkdufen ohne
Beratung und der bloBen  Ausfihrung  von
Kundenauftragen, umfasst] ODER '7(ii) alle Kanale flr
den Vertrieb der Schuldverschreibungen an geeignete
Gegenparteien und professionelle Kunden angemessen
sind; und (iii) die folgenden Kanéle fir den Vertrieb der
Schuldverschreibungen an Kleinanleger angemessen sind:
Anlageberatungl,/ und] Portfolioverwaltungl,/
und][Verkaufe ohne Beratung ]J[und die bloBe Ausflihrung

von Kundenauftragen]] [(ii) die Bestimmung der
angemessenen  Kandle fir den  Vertrieb  der
Schuldverschreibungen an Kleinanleger wurde
vorgenommen und ist auf der Website

https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt verfligbar] |,
nach MaBgabe der Pflichten des Vertriebsunternehmens
gemadB COBS im Hinblick auf Geeignetheit bzw.
Angemessenheit]].  [Etwaigen  negativen  Zielmarkt
berlicksichtigen]. Jede Person, die in der Folge die

8 Wenn die Schuldverschreibungen ,komplexe“ Produkte sind, ist die bloRe Ausfiihrung von Kundenauftragen von Kleinanlegern ohne
Bestimmung der Angemessenheit nicht zulassig. Im Fall der Anlageberatung ist die Bestimmung der Geeignetheit notwendig.

7 Include for bonds that are not ESMA complex (in the UK context, as reflected in COBS).

8 Include for certain ESMA complex bonds (in the UK context, as reflected in COBS). This list may need to be amended, for example, if
advised sales are deemed necessary. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary. In addition, if the Notes
constitute "complex" products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the determination of

appropriateness.

9 If the Notes constitute "complex" products, pure execution services are not permitted to retail without the need to make the
determination of appropriateness. If there are advised sales, a determination of suitability will be necessary.

' Please note that non-exempt offers in the UK require a FCA approval. Since the Base Prospectus is not approved by the FCA, an
approval of this document or a drawdown prospectus approved by the FCA should be required before any sales to UK retail investors

on a non-exempt basis.

" Bei Anleihen aufnehmen, die nicht ESMA-komplex sind (im Fall des Vereinigten Kénigreichs gemaR COBS).
2 Bei bestimmten ESMA-komplexen Anleihen aufnenhmen (im Fall des Vereinigten Kdnigreichs gemaB COBS). Diese Liste muss
gegebenenfalls angepasst werden, z. B. wenn Anlageberatung fur erforderlich erachtet wird. Im Fall der Anlageberatung ist die
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Schuldverschreibungen anbietet, verkauft oder empfiehlt
(ein Vertriebsunternehmen), soll die
Zielmarktbestimmung [des Konzepteurs][der Konzepteure]
berlicksichtigen; ein Vertriebsunternehmen, welches dem
Handbuch zur Produktintervention und
Produktiberwachung (Product Intervention and Product
Governance Sourcebook) der britischen
Finanzaufsichtsbehérde (Financial Conduct Authority —
FCA) (UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) unterliegt,
ist indes dafir  verantwortlich, seine eigene
Zielmarktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die
Schuldverschreibungen durchzufiihren (entweder durch
die Ubernahme oder durch die Prazisierung der
Zielmarktbestimmung [des Konzepteurs][der
Konzepteure]) und angemessene Vertriebskanéle zu
bestimmen[, nach MaBgabe der Pflichten des
Vertriebsunternehmens gemaB COBS im Hinblick auf
Geeignetheit bzw. Angemessenheit]'3.]']

APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS

ANWENDBARE ENDGULTIGE BEDINGUNGEN

Dated [o]

vom [e]

[The following language applies if the Notes are listed on
SIX Swiss Exchange or distributed in Switzerland:

[Die folgende Bestimmung findet Anwendung, wenn die
Schuldverschreibungen an der SIX Swiss Exchange notiert
sind oder in der Schweiz vertrieben werden:

The Notes described in these Final Terms do not
constitute a participation in a collective investment
scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act
on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore,
the Notes are not subject to authorisation and
supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority FINMA (FINMA), and investors in the Notes
will not benefit from protection under the CISA or
supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Notes will bear
a credit risk on [the Issuer of the Notes] [the
Guarantor].]

Die in diesen Endgiiltigen Bedingungen
beschriebenen Schuldverschreibungen stellen keine
Beteiligung an einer kollektiven Kapitalanlage im
Sinne des Schweizerischen Bundesgesetzes liber die

kollektiven  Kapitalanlagen (KAG) dar. Daher
unterliegen die  Schuldverschreibungen keiner
Zulassung und  Beaufsichtigung durch die

Eidgenéssische Finanzmarktaufsicht FINMA (FINMA)
und es profitieren Anleger der Schuldverschreibungen
nicht von den im KAG vorgesehenen
SchutzmaBnahmen oder von einer Beaufsichtigung
durch die FINMA. Anleger der Schuldverschreibungen
sind einem Kreditrisiko in Bezug auf [die Emittentin

der Schuldverschreibungen] [die Garantin]
ausgesetzt.]
[Legend to be included if the Notes potentially constitute | [Hinweistext einfiigen, falls die Schuldverschreibungen
"packaged" products and no key information document will | "verpackte" Produkte darstellen und kein Basis-

be prepared or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA
retail investors for any other reason, in which case the
selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable":

informationsblatt (key information document — KID) erstellt
wird oder die Emittentin aus anderen Griinden keine
Angebote an EWR-Privatinvestoren anstrebt; in diesem
Fall sollten die Verkaufsbeschrdnkungen als "Anwendbar”
angegeben werden.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS
— The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one
(or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of
Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
Il); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive
2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance
Distribution Directive), where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10)
of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor
as defined in the Prospectus Regulation.

VERTRIEBSVERBOT AN PRIVATINVESTOREN IM EWR
— Die Schuldverschreibungen sind nicht dazu
bestimmt, dass sie Privatinvestoren im Europaischen
Wirtschaftsraum ("EWR") angeboten, verkauft oder auf
anderem Wege zur Verfiigung gestellt werden und
dementsprechend Privatinvestoren im EWR nicht
angeboten, verkauft oder auf anderem Wege zur
Verfligung gestellt werden. Ein Privatinvestor im Sinne
dieser Vorschrift ist eine Person, die mindestens einer
der folgenden Kategorien zuzuordnen ist: (i) ein
Kleinanleger im Sinne von Artikel 4 Absatz 1 Nummer
11 von Richtlinie 2014/65/EU (in der jeweils giiltigen
Fassung, MiFID Il); (ii) ein Kunde im Sinne von
Richtlinie 2016/97/EU (in der jeweils giiltigen oder

Bestimmung der Geeignetheit notwendig. Wenn die Schuldverschreibungen ,komplexe® Produkte sind, ist auBerdem die bloRRe
Ausflihrung von Kundenauftragen von Kleinanlegern ohne Bestimmung der Angemessenheit nicht zulassig.

8 Wenn die Schuldverschreibungen ,komplexe“ Produkte sind, ist die bloBe Ausflhrung von Kundenauftragen von Kleinanlegern ohne
Bestimmung der Angemessenheit nicht zuléssig. Im Fall der Anlageberatung ist die Bestimmung der Geeignetheit notwendig.

4 Bitte beachten Sie, dass nicht befreite Angebote im Vereinigten Konigreich einer Zustimmung der FCA bedirfen. Da der
Basisprospekt nicht von der FCA gebilligt ist, sollte vor Verkaufen an GB-Privatinvestoren im Rahmen eines nicht befreiten Angebots
eine Genehmigung dieses Dokuments oder ein von der FCA genehmigter Drawdown-Prospekt verlangt werden.
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Consequently no key information document required
by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the
PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in
the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available
to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under
the PRIIPs Regulation.]

ersetzten Fassung, Insurance Distribution Directive
(Versicherungsvermittlungsrichtlinie)), der nicht als
professioneller Kunde im Sinne von Artikel 4 Absatz 1
Nummer 10 MIFID Il einzustufen ist; oder (iii) ein
Anleger, der kein qualifizierter Anleger ist im Sinne der
Prospekt-verordnung. Folglich wurde kein
Informationsdokument, wie nach Verordnung (EU)
Nr. 1286/2014 (in der jeweils gultigen Fassung, PRIIPS
Verordnung) fiir Angebote, Vertrieb und die sonstige
Zurverfugungstellung der Schuldverschreibungen an
Privatinvestoren im EWR erforderlich, erstellt und
dementsprechend kénnte das Angebot, der Vertrieb
oder die sonstige Zurverfiigungstellung von
Schuldverschreibungen an Privatinvestoren im EWR
nach der PRIIPs-Verordnung unzuléssig sein.]

[Legend to be included if the Notes potentially constitute
"packaged” products and no key information document will
be prepared or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to UK
retail investors for any other reason, in which case the
selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable”:

[Hinweistext einfiigen, falls die Schuldverschreibungen
moglicherweise ,verpackte” Produkte darstellen und kein
Basisinformationsblatt erstellt wird oder der Emittent aus
anderen Grinden keine Angebote an GB-Privatinvestoren
anstrebt; in diesem Fall sollten die
Verkaufsbeschrédnkungen als ,Anwendbar® angegeben
werden.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS -
The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a
retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of:
(i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of
Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK
domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); or (ii) a customer
within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the
FSMA) and any rules or regulations made under the
FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that
customer would not qualify as a professional client, as
defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU)
No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it
forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.
Consequently, no key information document required
by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK
domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs
Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in
the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available
to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under
the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]

VERTRIEBSVERBOT AN GB-PRIVATINVESTOREN -
Die Schuldverschreibungen sind nicht dazu bestimmt,
dass sie Privatinvestoren im Vereinigten Kénigreich
angeboten, verkauft oder auf anderem Wege zur

Verfiigung gestellt werden, und sollten
dementsprechend Privatinvestoren im Vereinigten
Koénigreich nicht angeboten, verkauft oder auf

anderem Wege zur Verfiigung gestellt werden. Ein
Privatinvestor im Sinne dieser Vorschrift ist eine
Person, die mindestens einer der folgenden
Kategorien zuzuordnen ist: (i) ein Kleinanleger im
Sinne von Artikel 2 Nummer 8 der Verordnung (EU)
Nr. 2017/565, wie sie geméaB dem britischen Gesetz von
2018 liber den Austritt aus der Europaischen Union
(European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 — EUWA) Teil
des nationalen Rechts im Vereinigten Koénigreich ist;
oder (ii) ein Kunde im Sinne der Bestimmungen des
britischen Gesetzes liber Finanzdienstleistungen und -
maérkte (Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) in
der jeweils geltenden Fassung (der FSMA) und
etwaiger im Rahmen des FSMA erlassener Regelungen
oder Vorschriften zur Umsetzung der Richtlinie (EU)
Nr. 2016/97, der nicht als professioneller Kunde im
Sinne von Artikel2 Absatz1 Nummer8 der
Verordnung (EU) Nr.600/2014, wie sie gemaB dem
EUWA Teil des nationalen Rechts im Vereinigten
Konigreich ist, einzustufen ist; oder (iii) ein Anleger,
der kein qualifizierter Anleger im Sinne von Artikel 2
der Verordnung (EU) Nr. 2017/1129 ist, wie sie geman
dem EUWA Teil des nationalen Rechts im Vereinigten
Konigreich ist. Folglich wurde kein nach der
Verordnung (EU) Nr. 1286/2014, wie sie gemaB dem
EUWA Teil des nationalen Rechts im Vereinigten
Kénigreich ist (die GB-PRIIPs-Verordnung),
erforderliches Basisinformationsblatt fiir Angebote,
Vertrieb und die sonstige Zurverfiigungstellung der
Schuldverschreibungen an  Privatinvestoren im
Vereinigten Konigreich erstellt, und dementsprechend
konnte das Angebot, der Vertrieb oder die sonstige
Zurverfiigungstellung der Schuldverschreibungen an
Privatinvestoren im Vereinigten Kénigreich nach der
GB-PRIIPs-Verordnung unzuléssig sein.]

[SOCIETE GENERALE] [SG ISSUER] [SOCIETE
GENERALE EFFEKTEN GMBH]

[SOCIETE GENERALE] [SG ISSUER] [SOCIETE
GENERALE EFFEKTEN GmbH]

Legal entity identifier (LEI):
[O2RNE8IBXP4R0TD8PU41/

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):
[O2RNESIBXP4R0TD8PU41/
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549300QNMDBVTHX8H127/529900W18LQJJN6SJ336]

549300QNMDBVTHX8H127/529900W18LQJJN6SJ336]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche]
[Title of Notes]

Emission von [Gesamtnennbetrag der Tranche]
[Bezeichnung der Schuldverschreibungen]

[Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
Societe Generale]

[Unbedingt und unwiderruflich garantiert durch die
Societe Generale]

under the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

im Rahmen des Debt Instruments Issuance

Programme
Part A— CONTRACTUAL TERMS TEIL A - VERTRAGLICHE BEDINGUNGEN
[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such | [Begriffe, die in diesen Endgiltigen Bedingungen

for the purposes of the Conditions set forth under the
heading ["General Terms and Conditions of the German
Law Notes"] in the Base Prospectus dated 21 June 2021
[,which constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus
Regulation)]. This document constitutes the Final Terms
of the Notes described herein [for the purposes of Article
8(4) of the Prospectus Regulation] and must be read in
conjunction with the Base Prospectus [and the
supplement[s] to such Base Prospectus [dated [®]] [and
any [other] supplement] published prior to the Issue Date
(as defined below) (the Supplement(s))]; provided,
however, that to the extent such Supplement (i) is
published after these Final Terms have been signed or
issued and (ii) provides for any change to the Conditions
as set out under the heading ["General Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Notes"], such change shall
have no effect with respect to the Conditions of the Notes
to which these Final Terms relate. Full information on the
Issuer, the Guarantor and the offer of the Notes is only
available on the basis of the combination of these Final
Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s). Prior
to acquiring an interest in the Notes described herein,
prospective investors should read and understand the
information provided in these Final Terms, the Base
Prospectus and any Supplement(s) and be aware of the
restrictions applicable to the offer and sale of such Notes
in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of,
persons that are not Permitted Transferees.

verwendet werden, haben dieselbe Bedeutung wie in den
Bedingungen im Abschnitt [,Allgemeine Emissions-
bedingungen der Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschrei-
bungen] im Basisprospekt vom 21. Juni 2021 [, der einen
Basisprospekt im Sinne der Verordnung (EU) 2017/1129
(die Prospektverordnung) ]. Dieses Dokument bildet die
Endgiiltigen Bedingungen der darin beschriebenen
Schuldverschreibungen [fir die Zwecke von Artikel 8(4)
der Prospektverordnung] und ist in Verbindung mit dem
Basisprospekt [und dem Nachtrag/den Nachtrdgen [vom
[®]] [und allen [sonstigen] Nachtragen], die vor dem
Emissionstag (wie nachstehend definiert) verdéffentlicht
wurden (die Nachtrage)] zu lesen; falls ein
entsprechender Nachtrag jedoch (i) nach dem Datum der
Unterzeichnung oder Verdffentlichung dieser Endgiiltigen
Bedingungen verdffentlicht wird und (ii) Anderungen an
den Bedingungen im Abschnitt [,Allgemeine
Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrechtlichen Schuld-
verschreibungen®] vorsieht, haben die betreffenden Ander-
ungen keine Auswirkungen auf die Bedingungen der
Schuldverschreibungen, auf die sich diese Endglltigen
Bedingungen beziehen. Vollstdndige Informationen uber
die Emittentin, die Garantin und das Angebot der Schuld-
verschreibungen sind nur verfigbar, wenn diese End-
glltigen Bedingungen, der Basisprospekt und etwaige
Nachtrdge zusammengenommen werden. Vor dem Erwerb
einer Beteiligung an den in diesen Endgultigen Be-
dingungen beschriebenen Schuldverschreibungen sollten
potenzielle Anleger die Angaben im Basisprospekt und
etwaigen Nachtrédgen lesen und verstehen und sich der
Beschréankungen bewusst sein, die fir das Angebot und
den Verkauf dieser Schuldverschreibungen in den
Vereinigten Staaten oder an oder zugunsten von
Personen, die keine ,Permitted Transferees” sind oder flir
deren Rechnung gelten.

[A summary of the issue of the Notes is annexed to these
Final Terms.]

[Eine Zusammenfassung fir die Schuldverschrei-
bungsemission wird diesen Endgiltigen Bedingungen
beigeflgt.]

Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and
these Final Terms are available for inspection from the
head office of the Issuer[, the Guarantor], the specified
offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes
admitted to trading on the Regulated Market or on the Euro
MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and,
in the case of Non-exempt Offers, on the website of the
Issuer (http://prospectus.socgen.com).]

Exemplare des Basisprospekts, etwaiger Nachtrdge und
dieser Endgultigen Bedingungen kénnen am Sitz der
Emittentin [oder der Garantin], in den angegebenen
Geschéftsstellen der Zahlstellen und - im Fall von
Schuldverschreibungen, die zum Handel am Regulierten
Markt oder dem Euro MTF der Luxemburger Wert-
papierbdrse zugelassen sind — auf der Website der
Luxemburger Wertpapierbérse (www.bourse.lu) und — im
Fall von Nicht befreiten Angeboten — auf der Website der

Emittentin  (http:/prospectus.socgen.com) eingesehen
werden.]
[The following alternative language applies if the first | [die folgende alternative Bestimmung findet Anwendung,
Tranche of Notes which is being increased was issued | wenn die erste aufzustockende  Tranche von

under a prospectus with an earlier date which was
incorporated by reference in this prospectus:

Schuldverschreibungenunter einem Prospekt mit einem
friiheren Datum, der per Verweis in diesen Prospekt
einbezogen wurde, begeben wird::

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such
for the purposes of the Conditions set forth under the
heading ["General Terms and Conditions of the German

[Begriffe, die in diesen Endglltigen Bedingungen
verwendet werden, haben dieselbe Bedeutung wie in den
Bedingungen im Abschnitt [,Allgemeine Emissions-
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Law Notes"] in the Base Prospectus dated 2 July 2020 as
supplemented by the supplement dated 3 August 2020,
the supplement dated 20 November 2020, the supplement
dated 9 December 2020, the supplement dated 11 January
2021, the supplement dated 12 February 2021 and the
supplement dated 15 March 2021 which is incorporated by
reference in the Base Prospectus dated 21 June 2021.
This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes
described herein [for the purposes of Article 8(4) of the
Prospectus Regulation]'® and must be read in conjunction
with the Base Prospectus dated 2 July 2020 [,which
constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus Regulation)
to the extent that such amendments have been
implemented in a Member State)] [and the supplement][s]
to such Base Prospectus dated [e] [and any other
supplement] published prior to the Issue Date (as defined
below) (the Supplement(s))]. Full information on the
Issuer|, the Guarantor] and the offer of the Notes is only
available on the basis of the combination of these Final
Terms, the Base Prospectus and any Supplement(s)
thereto.

bedingungen der  Deutschrechtlichen Schuldver-
schreibungen®] im Basisprospekt vom 2. Juli 2020, wie
durch den Nachtrag vom 3. August 2020, den Nachtrag
vom 20. November 2020, den Nachtrag vom 9. Dezember
2020, den Nachtrag vom 11. Januar 2021, den Nachtrag
vom 12. Februar 2021 und den Nachtrag vom 15. Méarz
2021 erganzt, die per Verweis in den Basisprospekt vom
21. Juni 2021 einbezogen sind. Dieses Dokument bildet
die Endglltigen Bedingungen der darin beschriebenen
Schuldverschreibungen [fiir die Zwecke von Artikel 8(4)
der Prospektverordnung]® und ist in Verbindung mit dem
Basisprospekt vom 2. Juli 2020 [, der einen Basisprospekt
im Sinne der Verordnung (EU) 2017/1129 (die
Prospektverordnung), soweit diese in einem Mitgliedstaat
umgesetzt wurden) bildet,] [und in Verbindung mit [dem
Nachtrag][den Nachtrédgen] zu diesem Basisprospekt vom
[e] [und allen sonstigen Nachtrdgen], der/die vor dem
Emissionstag (wie nachstehend definiert) verdffentlicht
wurde(n) (der Nachtrag/die Nachtrage) zu lesen].
Vollstadndige Informationen (ber die Emittentin[, die
Garantin] und das Angebot der Schuldverschreibungen
sind nur verfligbar, wenn diese Endgultigen Bedingungen,

der Basisprospekt und etwaige Nachtrage
zusammengenommen werden.
[A summary of the issue of the Notes is annexed to these | [Eine Zusammenfassung fir die Schuldverschrei-

Final Terms.]

bungsemission wird diesen Endglltigen Bedingungen
beigefligt.]

Copies of the Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and
these Final Terms are available for inspection from the
head office of the Issuer,[ the Guarantor,] the specified
offices of the Paying Agents and, in the case of Notes
admitted to trading on the Regulated Market or on the Euro
MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on the website
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) [,
and, in the case of Non-exempt Offers, on the website of
the Issuer (http://prospectus.socgen.com).]

Exemplare des Basisprospekts, etwaiger Nachtrage und
dieser Endgiiltigen Bedingungen kénnen am Sitz der
Emittentin[ oder der Garantin,] in den angegebenen
Geschaftsstellen der Zahlstellen und — im Fall von
Schuldverschreibungen, die zum Handel am Regulierten
Markt der Luxemburger Wertpapierbdrse zugelassen sind
— auf der Website der Luxemburger Wertpapierbdrse
(www.bourse.lu) [und — im Fall von Nicht befreiten
Offentlichen Angeboten — auf der Website der Emittentin
(http://prospectus.socgen.com) eingesehen werden.]

[In case of a public offer continuing after the validity of the
Base Prospectus: The Base Prospectus expires on
21 June 2022. The succeeding base prospectus will be
available on http://prospectus.socgen.com.]

[Im Falle eines Offentlichen Angebots, das iiber die
Gliltigkeit des Basisprospekts hinaus fortgesetzt wird: Der
Basisprospekt lauft am 21. Juni 2022 ab. Der
nachfolgende Basisprospekt wird verfligbar sein auf
http://prospectus.socgen.com.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not
Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set
out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for
individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. ltalics denote
guidance for completing the Final Terms. If "Not
Applicable" is specified in respect of a paragraph, the
remaining sub-paragraph(s) shall be deleted.]

[Alle der folgenden Bedingungen, die anwendbar sind,
aufnehmen oder anderenfalls als ,Nicht Anwendbar”
kennzeichnen. Dabei ist zu beachten, dass die
nachstehende Nummerierung beizubehalten ist, auch
wenn einzelne Absétze oder Unterabsétze als ,Nicht
Anwendbar®  gekennzeichnet sind. Kursiv gesetzte
Textteile sind Anweisungen zur Vervollstdndigung der
Endgliltigen Bedingungen. Falls fiir einen Absatz ,Nicht
Anwendbar® angegeben ist, wird der verbleibende
Unterabsatz/werden die verbleibenden Unterabsétze
gestrichen.]

[When completing final terms, consideration should be
given as to whether such terms or information constitute
"significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need
for a Supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 23
of the Prospectus Regulation.]

[Bei der Vervollstdndigung von endgdltigen Bedingungen
ist zu beriicksichtigen, ob es sich bei den betreffenden
Bedingungen oder Angaben um ,wesentliche neue
Faktoren* handelt, die folglich einen Nachtrag zum
Basisprospekt geméafl Artikel 23 der Prospektverordnung
erforderlich machen.]

[When the context requires, any reference to “Notes” and
“Noteholders” in these Final Terms may be replaced by
“Certificates” and “Certificateholders”.]

[Sofern es sich aus dem Zusammenhang ergibt, kénnen
Bezugnahmen in diesen Endgliltigen Bedingungen auf
~Schuldverschreibungen® und ,Schuldverschreibungs-
inhaber” durch ,Zertifikate” bzw. ,Zertifikatsinhaber” ersetzt

15

einheitlichen Prospekt.
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werden.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the
date of issue, the minimum denomination may need to be
£100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency in order to
comply with United Kingdom selling restrictions.]

[Falls die Schuldverschreibungen eine Faélligkeit von
weniger als einem Jahr ab dem Tag der Emission
aufweisen, muss die Mindeststiickelung mdglicherweise
GBP 100.000 oder dem Gegenwert in einer anderen
Wéhrung entsprechen, um die Verkaufsbeschrdnkungen
fur das Vereinigte Kénigreich einzuhalten.]

[Any reference in the applicable Final Terms to any date
expressed under the form « DD/MM/YYYY » shall be
deemed to be a reference to any date expressed under the
form “Day/Month/Year”]

[Verweise in den anwendbaren Endgliltigen Bedingungen
auf ein Datum in dem Format ,TT/MM/JJJJ“ gelten als
Verweise auf ein Datum in dem Format ,, Tag/Monat/Jahr"]
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(i) Series Number:

(i) Seriennummer:

[Insert the series numben]

[Seriennummer einfligen]

(ii) Tranche Number:

(ii) Tranchennummer:

[Insert the tranche number]

[ Tranchennummer einfiigen]

(iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible:

(iii) Tag, an dem die Schuldverschreibungen fungibel
werden

[Not Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar]

[The Notes shall be assimilated and form a single
series with the [Insert title of the Notes related to
the previous tranche number of the series] on

[Die Schuldverschreibungen werden am [Datum einfligen]
[Emissionstag] [Emissionstag zuziglich vierzig Tagen]
zusammengefihrt und bilden eine einzige Serie mit

[Insert date] [the Issue Date] [issue date plus forty | [Bezeichnung der  Schuldverschreibungen fir die

days]] vorangegangene Tranchennummer der Serie einfligen]]

Specified Currency: Festgelegte Wahrung:

[Insert the currency of the Notes] [Renminbi | [Wéhrung der Schuldverschreibungen einfligen]

Currency Event applicable as per Condition 5.9] | [Renminbi-W&hrungsereignis anwendbar geman

[Relevant Currency: [Insert the relevant currency]] Bedingung 5.9] [MaBgebliche W&éhrung: [maBgebliche
Wéhrung einfligen]]

Aggregate Nominal Amount: Gesamtnennbetrag:

(i) Tranche: (i) Tranche:

[Insert the aggregate nominal amount of the | [Gesamtnennbetrag der Tranche einfiigen]

tranche]

(ii) Series: (ii) Serie:

[Insert the aggregate nominal amount of the series] | [Gesamtnennbetrag der Serie einfligen]

Issue Price: Emissionspreis:

[[Insert the percentage]l% of the Aggregate Nominal | [[Prozentsatz einfiigen] % des Gesamtnennbetrags]

Amount] [[Insert the currency and the amount] per
Note of [Insert the currency and the amount]
Specified Denomination] [plus an amount equal to
the interest accrued from and including [/Insert date]
to but excluding [Insert date] [the Issue Date]
(which is equal to [Insert the number of days] days'
accrued interest)] [Offer Price]

[[Wéhrung und Betrag einfiigen] je Schuldverschreibung
mit einer Festgelegten Stlckelung von [Wé&hrung und
Betrag einfiigen]] [zuzlglich eines Betrags in Héhe der
Zinsen, die vom [Datum einfiigen] (einschlieBlich) bis zum
[Datum  einfigen]  (ausschlieBlich)  [Emissionstag]
aufgelaufen sind (was einem Zinsanfall von [Anzahl der
Tage] Tagen entspricht)] [Angebotspreis]

[(i)] Specified Denomination:

[())] Festgelegte Stiickelung:

[Insert the currency and the amount]

[Wéhrung und Betrag einfligen]

[In respect of any Exempt Offer, the €100,000
minimum denomination is not required.]**

Bei einem Befreiten Angebot ist die Mindeststiickelung von
EUR 100.000 nicht erforderlich.]**

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes which are Single
Name Notes or  First-to-Default  Notes:
(in relation to each Note, and subject to Condition 1
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes, the Nominal Amount)]

[[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen in
Form von Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen oder First-
to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen: (in Bezug auf jede
Schuldverschreibung und vorbehaltlich Bedingung 1 der
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen far Kredit-
ereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen der Nenn-
betrag)]

[In the case of an issue of Notes with a specified
denomination below €1,000 or the equivalent in
another currency, specify the Automatic Exercise
Date)

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen mit einer Festgelegten
Stiickelung von weniger als EUR 1.000 oder dem
entsprechenden Gegenwert in einer anderen Wéhrung,
den Automatischen Auslibungstag einfiigen)

[(ii)] Adjusted Specified Denomination

[(i)]] Angepasste Festgelegte Stiickelung

[Insert the currency and the amount]

[Wéhrung und Betrag einfligen]

[NB: Only applicable to Instalment Notes.] [Anm.:  Nur anwendbar auf Teilzahlungsschuldver-
schreibungen]

(i) Issue Date: (i) Emissionstag:

[(DD/MM/YYYY)] (TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the date] [Tag einfiigen]

[NB: For Preference Share Linked Notes, the | [Anm.: Bei Vorzugsaktienbezogenen Schuldverschrei-

Preference Shares shall have been issued at least
one Business Day prior to the Issue Date. For
Warrant Linked Notes, the Warrants shall have

bungen sollen die Vorzugsaktien mindestens einen
Geschdftstag vor dem Emissionstag begeben worden sein.
Bei  Optionsscheinbezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen
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been issued at least one Business Day prior to the
Issue Date]

sollen die Optionsscheine mindestens einen Geschéftstag
vor dem Emissionstag begeben worden sein.]

(ii) Interest Commencement Date:

(ii) Zinsanfangstag:

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Not Applicable] [Issue Date] [specify]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Emissionstag] [angeben]

[NB: An Interest Commencement Date will not be
relevant for certain Notes, for example for Zero
Coupon Notes]

[Anm.: Fir bestimmte Schuldverschreibungen, beispiels-
weise Nullkupon-Schuldverschreibungen, ist ein Zins-
anfangstag nicht relevant.]

Maturity Date:

Falligkeitstag

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the date] [If Interest is unadjusted: [Insert the
date]] [If Interest is adjusted: The Interest Payment
Date scheduled to fall in or nearest to [Insert a
month and a year]]

[Tag einfligen] [bei nicht angepassten Zinsen: [Tag
einfiigen]] [bei angepassten Zinsen: Der Zinszahlungstag,
der planméBig in den [Monat und Jahr einftigen] fallt oder
mdglichst nahe an diesem liegt]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: [Insert the
scheduled maturity date] (such date being the
Scheduled Maturity Date), subject to the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Preference Share Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Vorzugsaktienbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:
[planméaBigen Félligkeitstag einfligen] (dieser Tag ist der
PlanmaBige Falligkeitstag) vorbehaltlich der
Bestimmungen der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
flr Vorzugsaktienbezogene Schuldverschreibungen.]

[In case of Open-ended Notes: Open-ended.]

[Bei Schuldverschreibungen mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit: mit
unbegrenzter Laufzeit.]

[In respect of Fund Linked Notes: [Insert the date],
subject to postponement upon the occurrence of a
Maturity Disruption Event, as provided in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Fondsbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: [Tag
einfigen], vorbehaltlich einer Verschiebung nach dem
Eintritt eines Falligkeitsstérungsereignisses, wie in den
Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir Fondsbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen vorgesehen.]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [Insert the scheduled maturity date] (such
date being the Scheduled Maturity Date), subject to
the provisions of paragraph [23(v)/23(vi)] “[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions” and the Additional
Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen oder
Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: [planmé&Bigen
Félligkeitstag einfiigen] (dieser Tag ist der PlanmaBige
Falligkeitstag) vorbehaltlich der Bestimmungen des
Absatzes [23(v)/23(vi)] ,Bestimmungen fir [Kreditereignis-
bezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldverschreibungen®
und der Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir [Kredit-
ereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldver-
schreibungen.]

(i) Status of the Notes:

(i) _ Status der Schuldverschreibungen:

[Unsecured] [In case of Secured Notes Issued by
SG Issuer only: Secured. See paragraph 25
“Secured Notes Provisions” below.]

[Unbesichert] [Nur bei von der SG Issuer begebenen
Besicherten Schuldverschreibungen: Besichert. Siehe
nachstehenden Absatz 25 ,Bestimmungen flr Besicherte
Schuldverschreibungen®]

(ii) Date of corporate authorisation obtained
for the issuance of Notes:

(ii) Tag der Erteilung der gesellschaftsrechtlichen
Erméachtigung fiir die Emission der Schuldver-
schreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Insert the date]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Tag einfiigen]

(iii) Type of Structured Notes:

(ili) Art der strukturierten Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar]

[Share Linked Notes] [Index Linked Notes] [SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Depositary Receipts Linked
Notes] [ETF Linked Notes] [Reference Rate Linked
Notes] [Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Notes]
[Commodity Linked Notes] [Fund Linked Notes]
[Credit Linked Notes] [Inflation Linked Notes] [Bond
Linked Notes] [ETP Linked Notes] [Non Equity
Security Linked Notes] [Preference Share Linked
Notes] [Warrant Linked Notes] [Future Linked
Notes] [Portfolio Linked Notes].

[Aktienbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Indexbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen]  [SGI-Indexbezogene  Schuld-
verschreibungen] [Depositary Receipts-bezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen] [ETF-bezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[Referenzsatzbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[Wechselkursbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Rohstoff-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Fondsbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Kreditereignisbezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen] [Inflationsbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Anleihebezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[ETP-bezogene  Schuldverschreibungen]  [Nichteigen-
kapitalwertpapierbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Vor-
zugsaktienbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Options-
scheinbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Futurebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Portfoliobezogene
Schuldverschreibungen].
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The provisions of the following Additional Terms
and Conditions apply:

Die  Bestimmungen der folgenden  Zusétzlichen

Emissionsbedingungen sind anwendbar:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign
Exchange Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms
and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for
ETF Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Non Equity Security Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference
Share Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Warrant Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Portfolio
Linked Notes].

[Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen flr Aktienbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  und  Depositary  Receipts-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir Indexbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen far SGl-
Indexbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen]  [Zusatzliche
Emissionsbedingungen for Referenzsatzbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissionsbe-
dingungen fir Wechselkursbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen far
Rohstoffbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Fondsbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen]  [Zu-
satzliche Emissionsbedingungen fir Inflationsbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen far Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen fir
ETP-bezogene Schuldverschreibungen und fir ETF-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir Nichteigenkapitalwertpapierbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen  fir  Vorzugsaktienbezogene  Schuld-
verschreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen flir
Optionsscheinbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen]  [Zu-
satzliche Emissionsbedingungen fiir Futurebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbeding-
ungen fir Portfoliobezogene Schuldverschreibungen].

(iv) Reference of the Product:

(iv) Produktreferenz:

[Not Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar]

[[Insert the Reference of the Product as per
Condition 3 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae]] [with Option [Insert the
reference of the Option] applicable], as described in
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae.]

[[Produktreferenz gemaB Bedingung 3 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln einfiigen]] [mit
anwendbarer Option [Referenz der Option einfligen]], wie
in den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln
beschrieben.]

[If one or more than one Add-on is/are applicable
for a particular Product:

Falls fiir ein bestimmtes Produkt ein oder mehrere Add-ons
anwendbar ist/sind:

[With  Add-on relating to Automatic Early
Redemption ~ Amount  applicable as  per
Condition 1.4.1 of the Additional Terms and

Conditions relating to Formulae: the [[*Automatic
Early Redemption Amount’] [Final Redemption
Amount] of the Product [Insert the Reference of the
Product from the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae]] [Option [Insert the reference
of the Option] as described in Condition 3] is
applicable] [With Add-on relating to Structured
Interest Amount applicable as per Condition 1.4.2 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae: the Structured Interest Amount of the
Product [Insert the Reference of the Product from
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae] is applicable] [With Add-on relating to
Credit Linked or Bond Linked Products applicable
as per Condition 1.4.3 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [With Add-on
relating to Memory Coupon(s) applicable as per
Condition 1.4.4 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [With Add-on
relating to Global Factors applicable as per
Condition 1.4.5 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [with Option [Insert
the reference of the Option] applicable] [With Add-
on relating to Foreign Exchange Rates applicable

[Mit anwendbarem Add-on zum Automatischen Vorzeitigen
Rickzahlungsbetrag  gemaB  Bedingung 1.4.1 der
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln: der
[[LAutomatische Vorzeitige Riickzahlungsbetrag] [End-
glltige Rickzahlungsbetrag] des Produkts [Produkt-
referenz aus den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu
Formeln einfligen]] [Option [Referenz der Option einfiigen)
wie in Bedingung 3 beschrieben] ist anwendbar] [Mit
anwendbarem Add-on zum Strukturierten Zinsbetrag
gemaB Bedingung 1.4.2. der Zusétzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen zu Formeln: der Strukturierte Zinsbetrag
des Produktis [Produktreferenz aus den Zusétzlichen

Emissionsbedingungen zu  Formeln  einfigen] st
anwendbar] [Mit anwendbarem Add-on zu
Kreditereignisbezogenen oder Anleihebezogenen

Produkten gemd&B Bedingung 1.4.3 der Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln] [Mit anwendbarem
Add-on zu(m) Memory-Kupon(s) geméaB Bedingung 1.4.4
der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln] [Mit
anwendbarem Add-on zu Globalen Faktoren gemafi
Bedingung 1.4.5 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
zu Formeln] [mit anwendbarer Option [Referenz der Option
einfigen]] [Mit anwendbarem Add-on zu Wechselkursen
gemaB Bedingung 1.4.6 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen zu Formeln] [mit anwendbarer Option [Referenz
der Option einfligen] [Mit anwendbarem Add-on zur
Kapitalisierungsrate geman Bedingung 1.4.7  der

67




Form of Final Terms

as per Condition 1.4.6 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [with Option [Insert
the reference of the Option] applicable] [With Add-
on relating to Capitalisation Rate applicable as per
Condition 1.4.7 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae] [With Add-on
relating to hedging fees applicable to a Product
Formula applicable as per Condition 1.4.8 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae.] [With Add-on relating to Optional
Redemption Amount applicable as per Condition
1.4.9 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae: the [Final Redemption Amount
of the Product [Insert the Reference of the Product
from the Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Formulae]] [Option [Insert the reference of the
Option] as described in Condition 3] is applicable]

[With Add-on relating to Variable Data applicable as
per Condition 1.4.10 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.]

[With Add-on relating to EU Allowance applicable
as per Condition 1.4.11 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae.]

Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln] [Mit
anwendbarem Add-on zu auf eine Produktformel
anwendbaren Absicherungskosten gemaB Bedingung
1.4.8 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln]
[Mit anwendbarem Add-on zum Optionalen
Rlckzahlungsbetrag gemaB Bedingung 1.4.9 der
Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln: der
[Endgiiltige Rlckzahlungsbetrag des Produkts
[Produktreferenz aus den Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen zu Formeln einfligen]] [Option [Referenz der
Option einfligen] wie in Bedingung 3 beschrieben]

[Mit anwendbarem Add-on zu Variablen Daten gemaf
Bedingung 1.4.10 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
zu Formeln.]

[Mit anwendbarem Add-on zum EU-Emissionszertifikat
gemafl Bedingung 1.4.11 der Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen zu Formeln.]

[With Add-on relating to Automatic Early Redemp-
tion Amount applicable pursuant to Condition 1.4.1
of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Formulae: the "Automatic Early Redemption
Amount" is modified as "Not Applicable"] [With Add-
on relating to Structured Interest Amount applicable
pursuant to Condition 1.4.2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae: the "Structured
Interest Amount” is modified as "Not Applicable"]]

[Mit anwendbarem Add-on zum Automatischen Vorzeitigen
Rickzahlungsbetrag gemaB Bedingung 1.4.1 der
Zusétzlichen  Emissionsbedingungen  zu  Formeln:
"Automatischer Vorzeitiger Rickzahlungsbetrag” wird in
"Nicht Anwendbar" geandert] [Mit anwendbarem Add-on
zum Strukturierten Zinsbetrag geman Bedingung 1.4.2 der
Zusatzlichen  Emissionsbedingungen  zu  Formeln:
"Strukturierter Zinsbetrag" wird in "Nicht Anwendbar"
geandert]]

9. Interest Basis: Zinsmodalitat:
[Not Applicable] [[/nsert the percentage]% Fixed | [Nicht Anwendbar] [[Prozentsatz einfligen] % Festzinssatz]
Rate] [[Specify the reference rate] [plus (+)] [minus | [[Referenzsatz angeben] [plus (+)] [minus (-)] [Prozentsatz
(-)] [Insert the percentagel% Floating Rate] | einfligen] % Variabler Zinssatz] [Fester/ Variabler Zinssatz]
[Fixed/Floating Rate] [Reverse Floating Rate] [Zero | [Umgekehrt Variabler Zinssatz] [Nullkupon]
Coupon] [Dual Currency] [See  section | [Doppelwdhrung] [Siehe nachstehenden  Abschnitt
“PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) | ,BESTIMMUNGEN ZUR VERZINSUNG"]
PAYABLE” below]
10. | Redemption/Payment Basis: Riickzahlungs-/Zahlungsmodalitéat:
[Redemption at [par] [Final Redemption Amount]] | [Ruckzahlung zum [Nennbetrag] [Endgulltigen Ruck-
[Physical Delivery. See paragraph 20 below] [Partly | zahlungsbetrag]] [Physische Lieferung. Siehe Absatz 20
Paid. See paragraph 31 below] [Instalment. See | unten] [Teilweise Eingezahlte Schuldverschreibungen.
paragraph 32 below] [Dual Currency] [[Credit] | Siehe Absatz 31 unten] [Teilzahlungsschuld-
[Bond] Linked. Redemption at Final Redemption | verschreibungen. Siehe Absatz 32 unten] [Doppel-
Amount on the Scheduled Maturity Date, subject as | wahrungs-] [[Kreditereignis-] [Anleihe-]bezogene Schuld-
otherwise provided in these Final Terms and to the | verschreibungen. Rlckzahlung ~ zum Endgdltigen
provisions of Condition 1 of the Additional Terms | Riickzahlungsbetrag am PlanmaBigen Falligkeitstag,
and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes] | sofern nicht in diesen Endglltigen Bedingungen etwas
[See section “PROVISIONS RELATING TO | anderes vorgesehen ist und vorbehaltlich der Bestim-
REDEMPTION” below ] mungen von Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fir [Kreditereignis-] [Anleihe-]bezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Siehe nachstehenden Abschnitt
,BESTIMMUNGEN FUR DIE RUCKZAHLUNG"]
11. | Issuer’s/Noteholders’ redemption option: Riickzahlungsoption der Emittentin/der
Schuldverschreibungsinhaber
[Not Applicable] [Redemption at the option of the | [Nicht Anwendbar] [RlUckzahlung nach Wahl der
Issuer] [Redemption at the option of the | Emittentin] [Rlickzahlung nach Wahl der Schuldver-
Noteholders] [See section “PROVISIONS | schreibungsinhaber] [Siehe nachstehenden Abschnitt

RELATING TO REDEMPTION” below]

,BESTIMMUNGEN FUR DIE RUCKZAHLUNG]
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY)
PAYABLE

BESTIMMUNGEN ZUR VERZINSUNG

12.

Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

Bestimmungen fiir Festverzinsliche Schuldver-

schreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.1 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 3.1 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 3.1 of the
General Terms and Conditions subject to the
provisions of the paragraph [23(iv)/23(v)] “[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions” and the Additional
Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen oder
Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Anwendbar
geman Bedingung 3.1 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen, vorbehaltlich der Bestimmungen
des Absatzes [23(iv)/23(v)] ,Bestimmungen fir [Kredit-
ereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldver-
schreibungen® und der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen fUr [Kreditereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene]
Schuldverschreibungen.]

[If Not Applicable,
subparagraphs]

delete  the remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze

streichen)

(i) Rate(s) of Interest:

(i) Zinssatz (Zinsséatze):

[Insert the percentage] [[Insert the percentage]¥o
[per annum] [payable [annually] [semi-annually]
[quarterly] [monthly] in arrear [at Maturity Date].] [up
to and including [insert date] [In case of Non-
exempt Offer to the public only. A percentage
(indicatively [Insert the percentage] % subject to a
minimum of [Insert the percentagel%) to be
published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date of
the publication].

[Prozentsatz einfliigen] [[Prozentsatz einfligen] % [p. a.l[,
[iahrlich] [halbjahrlich] [vierteljahrlich] [monatlich]
rickwirkend [am Falligkeitstag] zahlbar.] [bis zum [Tag
einfigen] (einschlieBlich).] [AusschlieBlich im Fall eines
Nicht  befreiten &ffentlichen Angebots: Prozentsatz
(indikativ  [Prozentsatz einfliigen] %, der mindestens
[Prozentsatz einfligen] % betragt), der von der Emittentin
auf der Website http://prospectus.socgen.com am [ Tag der
Veréffentlichung einfliigen] zu verdffentlichen ist.

(ii) Specified Period(s) /
Date(s):

Interest Payment

(ii) Festgelegte(r) Zins-periode(n)/
Zinszahlungstag(e):

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the interest payment date(s)] [[Insert the day
and the month] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date]

[Zinszahlungstag(e) einfligen] [[Tag und Monat einfiigen]
eines jeden Jahres bis zum Félligkeitstag (einschlieBlich)]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: [[Insert the day and the month] in each year
from and including [/nsert the date] to and including
the Scheduled Maturity Date]

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen oder
Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: [[Tag und
Monat einfligen] eines jeden Jahres ab [Tag einfligen]
(einschlieBlich) bis zum PlanmaBigen Falligkeitstag
(einschlieBlich).]

[NB: In the case of long or short coupons, insert the
relevant Specified Period(s) ]

[Anm.: Im Fall von langen oder kurzen Kupons die
Festgelegte(n) Zinsperiode(n) einfligen]

(iii) Business Day Convention:

Geschiftstag-Konvention:

[In respect of Unadjusted Fixed Rate Notes: Not
Applicable]

[Bei Festverzinslichen  Schuldverschreibungen ohne

Anpassung: Nicht Anwendbar]

[In respect of Adjusted Fixed Rate Notes, insert one
of the following business day convention: [Following

[Bei Festverzinslichen Schuldverschreibungen mit An-
passung eine der folgenden Geschdftstag-Konventionen

Business Day Convention] [Preceding Business | einfiigen: [Folgender-Geschéaftstag-Konvention] [Vorher-
Day Convention] [Modified Following Business Day | gehender-Geschéftstag-Konvention] [Modifizierter-
Convention]] Folgender-Geschéftstag-Konvention]]

[Or [Following Business Day Convention] | [Oder. [Folgender-Geschéftstag-Konvention]  [Vorher-
[Preceding Business Day Convention] [Modified | gehender-Geschaftstag-Konvention] [Modifizierter-

Following Business Day Convention] | Folgender-Geschéftstag-Konvention] [(angepasst/nicht
[(adjusted/unadjusted)] angepasst)]

(iv) Fixed Coupon Amount(s): Festzinsbetrag/Festzinsbetrige:

[Unless previously redeemed, on [each]the] | [Sofern die Schuldverschreibung nicht zuvor zuriickgezahlt

Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the
Noteholders, for each Note, an amount determined
by the Calculation Agent as follows:]

wurde, zahlt die Emittentin an  [jedem][dem]
Zinszahlungstag auf jede Schuldverschreibung einen wie
folgt von der Berechnungsstelle bestimmten Betrag an die
Schuldverschreibungsinhaber:]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the

[[Wéhrung und Betrag einfiigen] je Schuldverschreibung
mit einer Festgelegten Stlckelung von [Wé&hrung und
Betrag einfiigen]] [[Wé&hrung und Betrag einfiigen] je
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amount] per Calculation Amount] [Rate of Interest x
Specified Denomination [x Day Count Fraction]]

Berechnungsbetrag] [Zinssatz x Festgelegte Stiickelung [x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Not Applicable” in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes:

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen, falls
~,Beobachteter Zins“ im Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Nicht
Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist und es sich bei den
Schuldverschreibungen  um  Single-Name-Schuldver-
schreibungen oder First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen
handelt:

Rate of Interest x [Nominal Amount] [If “Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event” is stated as being
“Guaranteed Coupon” in paragraph 23(v) “Credit
Linked Notes Provisions”: Specified Denomination]
[x Day Count Fraction]]

Zinssatz x [Nennbetrag] [falls ,Zinsanfall bei Kreditereignis*
in Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen®  als  ,Garantierter =~ Kupon®
angegeben ist: Festgelegte Stiickelung] [x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Not Applicable” in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen, falls
~,Beobachteter Zins“ im Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Nicht
Anwendbar® bezeichnet ist und es sich bei den
Schuldverschreibungen um Korb-Schuldverschreibungen
oder Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen handelt:

Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the
Interest Calculation Amount] [If “Accrual of Interest
upon Credit Event” is stated as being “Guaranteed
Coupon” in paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes
Provisions”: Specified Denomination] [x Day Count
Fraction]]

Zinssatz x [MaBgeblicher Anteil des Zinsbe-
rechnungsbetrags] [falls ,Zinsanfall bei Kreditereignis® in
Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® als  ,Garantierter ~ Kupon®
angegeben ist: Festgelegte Stlickelung] [x Zinstage-
quotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Applicable” in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes:

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen, falls
~,Beobachteter Zins“ im Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen®  als
LAnwendbar” bezeichnet ist und es sich bei den Schuld-
verschreibungen um Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen
oder First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen handelt:

The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to : Rate of Interest x [Nominal Amount]
[If “Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event” is stated
as being “Guaranteed Coupon” in paragraph 23(v)
“Credit Linked Notes Provisions™ Specified
Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

Die Summe der Beobachteten Zinsen in Bezug auf jede
Zinsperiode, wobei jeder Beobachtete Zins dem folgenden
Betrag entspricht: Zinssatz x [Nennbetrag] [falls ,Zinsanfall
bei Kreditereignis® in Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen”  als
,Garantierter ~ Kupon“ angegeben ist: Festgelegte
Stiickelung] [x Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Applicable” in the
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:
The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to: Rate of Interest x [Relevant
Proportion of the Interest Calculation Amount] [/f
“Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event” is stated as
being “Guaranteed Coupon” in paragraph 23(v)
“Credit Linked Notes Provisions™ Specified
Denomination] [x Day Count Fraction]]

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen, falls
,Beobachteter Zins“ im Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen®  als
LAnwendbar® bezeichnet ist und es sich bei den
Schuldverschreibungen um Korb-Schuldverschreibungen
oder Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen  handelt: Die
Summe der Beobachteten Zinsen in Bezug auf jede
Zinsperiode, wobei jeder Beobachtete Zins dem folgenden
Betrag entspricht: Zinssatz x [MaBgeblicher Anteil des
Zinsberechnungsbetrags] [falls LZinsanfall bei
Kreditereignis® in Absatz 23(v) ,Bestimmungen fiir Kredit-
ereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Garan-
tierter Kupon“ angegeben ist: Festgelegte Stlickelung] [x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Single Bond Linked Notes:

[Bei Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen in Form
von Einzelanleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

Rate of Interest x Specified Denomination [x Day
Count Fraction]]

Zinssatz x Festgelegte Stlickelung [x Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Basket Bond Linked Notes:

[Bei Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen in Form
von Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

Rate of Interest x [Relevant Proportion of the
Interest Calculation Amount] [If “Accrual of Interest
upon Bond Event” is stated as being “Guaranteed
Coupon” in paragraph 23(vi) “Bond Linked Notes
Provisions”. Specified Denomination] [x Day Count
Fraction]]

Zinssatz x  [MaBgeblicher Anteil des Zinsbe-
rechnungsbetrags] [falls ,Zinsanfall bei Anleiheereignis® in
Absatz 23(vi)  ,Bestimmungen  fiir  Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Garantierter Kupon“ ange-
geben ist: Festgelegte Stuickelung] [x Zinstagequotient]]
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(v) Day Count Fraction:

(v) Zinstagequotient:

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360
convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
Konvention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)]
[Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360 Konvention]
[Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

(vi) Broken Amount(s):

(vi) Stickzinsen:

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Specified
Denomination] [[/nsert the currency and the
amount] per Calculation Amount], payable on the
Interest Payment Date falling on [Insert the date] [In
case of a long or short Interest Period (with regard
to paragraph 12(ii) “Specified Period(s) / Interest
Payment Date(s)” above), the amount of interest
will be calculated in accordance with the formula
specified in paragraph 12(iv) “Fixed Coupon
Amount(s)” above.]

[[Wédhrung und Betrag einfligen] je Festgelegter
Stickelung] [[W&hrung und Betrag einfigen] je
Berechnungsbetrag], zahlbar am letzten Zinszahlungstag,
der auf den [Tag einfiigen] fallt [Im Fall einer langen oder
kurzen Zinsperiode (in Bezug auf den vorstehenden

Absatz 12(ii)  ,Festgelegte(r)  Zinsperiode(n)/  Zins-
zahlungstag(e)®) wird der Zinsbetrag anhand der Formel im
vorstehenden  Absatz 12(iv)  ,Festzinsbetrag/  Fest-

zinsbetrdge* berechnet.]

(vii) Determination Date(s):

(vii) Feststellungstag(e):

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the determination date(s)]
[in each year]]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [[Feststellungstag(e) einfiigen] [eines
jeden Jahres]]

[NB: Insert regular Interest Payment Dates, ignoring
the Issue Date or Maturity Date in the case of a
long or short first or last coupon. Only relevant
where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[Anm.: RegelmédBige Zinszahlungstage einfiigen, ohne
Berlicksichtigung des Emissionstages bzw. des End-
gliltigen Félligkeitstages im Fall eines ersten oder letzten
langen oder kurzen Kupons. Nur relevant, wenn der
Zinstagequotient Actual/Actual (ICMA) ist).]

[NB: In the case of regular Interest Payment Dates
which are not of equal duration, indicate each of the
applicable Determination Date]

[Anm.: Im Fall von regelmiBigen Zinszahlungstagen
unterschiedlicher Ldnge jeden der anwendbaren Fest-
stellungstage angeben.]

13. Floating Rate Note Provisions: Bestimmungen fir Variabel Verzinsliche
Schuldverschreibungen
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.2 of | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von

the General Terms and Conditions]

Bedingung 3.2 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 3.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions, subject to the
provisions of the paragraph [23(iv)/23(v)] “[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions” and the Additional
Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes.]

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen  oder  Anleihebezogene  Schuldver-
schreibungen: Anwendbar gemaB Bedingung 3.2 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen, vorbehaltlich der
Bestimmungen von Absatz [23(iv)/23(v)] ,Bestimmungen
fir [Kreditereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldver-
schreibungen® und der Zuséatzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fir [Kreditereignisbezogene] [Anleihe-
bezogene] Schuldverschreibungen.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining | [Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
subparagraphs] streichen)

(i) Floating Coupon Amount: (i) Variabler Kuponbetrag:

[Unless previously redeemed, on [each][the] | [Sofern die Schuldverschreibung nicht zuvor zuriickgezahit

Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall pay to the
Noteholders, for each Note, an amount determined
by the Calculation Agent as follows:]

wurde, zahlt die Emittentin an  [jedem][dem]
Zinszahlungstag auf jede Schuldverschreibung einen wie
folgt von der Berechnungsstelle bestimmten Betrag an die
Schuldverschreibungsinhaber:]

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage
factor] [+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day
Count Fraction]]

[Festgelegte Stickelung x [Max((mafBgeblichen Prozent-
satz einfigen);] [Min((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz ein-
fugen);) [Referenzsatz] [x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor
einfigen] [+/- mafBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen]))][x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Not Applicable” in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes: [Nominal Amount] [If “Accrual of
Interest upon Credit Event” is stated as being
“Guaranteed Coupon” in paragraph 23(v) “Credit
Linked Notes Provisions”™ [Specified Denomination
x [Max((insert the relevant percentage);] [Min((insert
the relevant percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert
the relevant leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen, falls ,Beobachteter Zins“ in Absatz 23(v)
L,Bestimmungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen” als ,,Nicht Anwendbar*” bezeichnet ist und es
sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Single-Name-
Schuldverschreibungen oder First-to-Default-Schuldver-
schreibungen handelt: [Nennbetrag] [Falls ,Zinsanfall bei
Kreditereignis® als ,Garantierter Kupon® im Absatz 23(v)
~,Bestimmungen ftir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® angegeben ist: [Festgelegte
Stiickelung x [Max((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);]
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percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

[Min((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);] [Referenzsatz]
[x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor einfligen] [+/- maBgeblichen
Prozentsatz einfligen][))][x Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if “Observed
Interest” is stated as being “Not Applicable” in
paragraph “Credit Linked Notes Provisions” and the
Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

[in Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldver-
schreibungen, falls ,Beobachteter Zins“ im Absatz
L.Bestimmungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen” als ,,Nicht Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist und es
sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Korb-Schuldver-

schreibungen  oder  Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen
handelt:
[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation | [MaBgeblicher Anteil des Zinsberechnungsbetrags] [Falls
Amount] [If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" | ,Zinsanfall  bei  Kreditereignis® in  Absatz 23 (v)
is stated as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in | ,Bestimmungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuld-

paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions™.
[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage
factor] [+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day
Count Fraction]]

verschreibungen® als ,Garantierter Kupon“ angegeben ist:
[Festgelegte Stiickelung x [Max((mafgeblichen Prozent-
satz  einfigen);] [Min((maBgeblichen  Prozentsatz
einfigen);] [Referenzsatz] [x malBgeblichen Hebelfaktor
einfigen] [+/- mafBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen]))][x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest” is stated as being "Applicable” in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Single Name Notes or First-to-
Default Notes: The aggregate of the Observed
Interest in respect of each Interest Period, each
Observed Interest being equal to: [Nominal Amount]
[If "Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event" is stated
as being "Guaranteed Coupon" in paragraph 23(v)
“Credit Linked Notes Provisions™ [Specified
Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage
factor] [+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day
Count Fraction]]

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuld-
verschreibungen, falls ,Beobachteter Zins“ in Absatz 23 (v)
~Bestimmungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist
und es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Single-
Name-Schuldverschreibungen oder First-to-Default-
Schuldverschreibungen  handelt: Die Summe der
Beobachteten Zinssatze in Bezug auf jede Zinsperiode,
wobei jeder Beobachtete Zinssatz dem folgenden Betrag
entspricht: [Nennbetrag]  [Falls  ,Zinsanfall  bei
Kreditereignis“ als ,Garantierter Kupon® im Absatz 23 (v)
LBestimmungen fiir  Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuld-
verschreibungen® angegeben ist: [Festgelegte Stiickelung
X [Max((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);]
[Min((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);] [Referenzsatz]
[x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor einfligen] [+/- maBgeblichen
Prozentsatz einfligen][))][x Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if "Observed
Interest” is stated as being "Applicable" in
paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes Provisions”
and the Notes are Basket Notes or Tranche Notes:

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuld-
verschreibungen, falls  ,Beobachteter  Zins“ im
Absatz 23 (v) ,Bestimmungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® als ,Anwendbar® bezeichnet ist
und es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Korb-
Schuldverschreibungen oder Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen handelt:

The aggregate of the Observed Interest in respect
of each Interest Period, each Observed Interest
being equal to: [Relevant Proportion of the Interest
Calculation Amount] [If “Accrual of Interest upon
Credit Event” is stated as being “Guaranteed
Coupon” in paragraph 23(v) “Credit Linked Notes
Provisions”: [Specified Denomination x [Max((insert
the relevant percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant
leverage factor] [+/- insert the relevant
percentage][))][x Day Count Fraction]]

Die Summe der Beobachteten Zinsen in Bezug auf jede
Zinsperiode, wobei jeder Beobachtete Zins dem folgenden
Betrag entspricht: [MaBgeblicher Anteil des
Zinsberechnungsbetrags] [Falls ,Zinsanfall bei Kredit-
ereignis® in Absatz 23(v) LBestimmungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen®  als
,Garantierter ~Kupon® angegeben ist: [Festgelegte
Stuckelung x [Max((mafBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);
[Min((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);] [Referenzsatz]
[x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor einfiigen] [+/- malgeblichen
Prozentsatz einfligen][))][x Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Single Bond Linked Notes:

[Bei Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen in Form
von Einzelanleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

[Specified Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage
factor] [+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day
Count Fraction]]

[Festgelegte Stickelung x [Max((mafBgeblichen Prozent-
satz einfiigen);] [Min((maf3geblichen Prozentsatz ein-
figen);) [Referenzsatz] [x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor
einfiigen] [+/- malgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen]))][x
Zinstagequotient]]

[In respect of Bond Linked Notes and the Notes are
Basket Bond Linked Notes:

[Bei Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen in Form
von Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

[Relevant Proportion of the Interest Calculation
Amount] [If “Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event” is
stated as being “Guaranteed Coupon” in paragraph

[MaBgeblicher Anteil des Zinsberechnungsbetrags] [Falls
LZinsanfall bei Anleiheereignis® in Absatz 23(vi) ,Bestim-
mungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldverschreibungen” als
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23(vi) “Bond Linked Notes Provisions”: [Specified
Denomination x [Max((insert the relevant
percentage);] [Min((insert the relevant percentage);]
[Reference Rate] [x insert the relevant leverage
factor] [+/- insert the relevant percentage][))][x Day
Count Fraction]]

,Garantierter ~Kupon® angegeben ist. [Festgelegte
Stiickelung x [Max((mafBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfiigen);]
[Min((maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfligen);] [Referenzsatz]
[x maBgeblichen Hebelfaktor einfligen] [+/- malBgeblichen
Prozentsatz einfligen][))][x Zinstagequotient]]

[Or the following formula, which may be adapted in
respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes:

[Oder die folgende Formel, die in Bezug auf die Kredit-
ereignisbezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen oder die
Anleihebezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen  angepasst
werden kann:

[Specified  Denomination x  [Max((Floor(i));] | [Festgelegte Stiickelung x [Max((Floor(i));] [Min((Cap(i);]
[Min((Cap(i);] [Reference Rate] [x Leverage | [Referenzsatz] [x Hebelfaktor(i)] [+/- Spread(i)][))][x
Factor(i)] [+/- Spread(i)][))][x Day Count Fraction] Zinstagequotient]

Where : Dabei gilt:

[Cap(i)] [Floor(i)] [Leverage Factor(i)] [Spread(i)] | [Cap(i)] [Floor(i)] [Hebelfaktor(i)] [Spread(i)] steht flr

means [insert the relevant percentage] on the
[insert the relevant Interest Period]]

[maBgeblichen Prozentsatz einfiigen] in [maBgebliche
Zinsperiode einfiigen]]

[In case of Non-exempt Offer to the public only:

[AusschlieBlich im Fall eines Nicht befreiten o6ffentlichen
Angebots:

[Cap] [Floor] [Leverage Factor] [Spread] means a
percentage (indicatively [Insert the percentage] %
subject to a minimum of [Insert the percentage]%)
to be published by the Issuer on
http://prospectus.socgen.com on [insert the date of
the publication].

[Cap] [Floor] [Hebelfaktor] [Spread] bezeichnet einen
Prozentsatz (indikativ [Prozentsatz einfiigen] %, der
mindestens [Prozentsatz einfiigen] % betragt), der von der
Emittentin auf der Website http://prospectus.socgen.com
am [Tag der Verdffentlichung einfiigen] zu veroffentlichen
ist.

(ii) Specified Period(s) /Interest Payment | (ii) Festgelegte(r) Zinsperiode(n)/
Date(s): Zinszahlungstag(e):

[(DD/MM/YYYY)] (TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the interest payment date(s)] [In respect of | [Zinszahlungstag(e)  einfigen] [Bei  Kreditereignis-
Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked Notes: [Insert | bezogenen Schuldverschreibungen oder Anleihebe-
the day and the month] in each year from and | zogenen Schuldverschreibungen: [Tag und Monat
including [/nsert the date] to and including the | einfligen] eines jeden Jahres ab [Tag einfligen]
Scheduled Maturity Date.] (einschlieBlich) bis zum PlanmaBigen Falligkeitstag

(einschlieBlich).]

(ili) Business Day Convention:

(ili) Geschiftstag-Konvention:

[Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business Day
Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Modified Following Business Day Convention]
[adjusted] [unadjusted]

[Geschaftstag-Konvention ,Variabler Zinssatz*] [Folgender-
Geschéftstag-Konvention] [Vorhergehender-Geschéftstag-
Konvention] [Modifizierter-Folgender-Geschaftstag-
Konvention] [angepasst] [nicht angepasst]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the
relevant business day convention is not intended to
affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 3.7.1 of
the General Terms and Conditions of the German
Law Notes]

[Anm.: ,Nicht angepasst” einfiigen, falls sich die An-
wendung der entsprechenden Geschéftstag-Konvention
nicht auf den Zinsbetrag auswirken soll. Siehe
Bedingung 3.7.1 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen
der Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen]

(iv) Business Centre(s):

(iv) Finanzplatz (Finanzplatze):

[Not Applicable] [/nsert the business centre(s)]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Finanzplatz (Finanzpldtze) einfligen]

Method of determination of the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount:

)

(v) Methode zur Berechnung von Zinssédtzen und
Zinsbetragen:

[ISDA Determination] [Standard Screen Rate
Determination] [Compounded RFR Screen Rate
Determination] [Averaged RFR Screen Rate
Determination] ]| Compounding RFR Method -
[Compounding with Lookback] [Compounding with
Observation Shift] [Compounding with Lockout]
[OIS Compounding]][ Averaging RFR Method -
[Averaging with Lookback][Averaging  with
Observation Shift] [Averaging with
Lockout][Overnight Averaging] ]

[ISDA-Feststellung] [Standard-Bildschirmfeststellung]]
[Aufgezinste RFR-Bildschirmfeststellung] [Als Durchschnitt
Ermittelte RFR-Bildschirmfeststellung] I RFR-
Aufzinsungsmethode - [Aufzinsung mit Lookback]
[Aufzinsung mit Verschiebung des
Beobachtungszeitraums] [Aufzinsung mit Lockout] [OIS-
Aufzinsung]ll Methode zur RFR-Durchschnittsbildung -
[Durchschnittsbildung mit Lookback][Durchschnittsbildung
mit Verschiebung des Beobachtungszeitraums]
[Durchschnittsbildung mit Lockout][Tagesgeld-
Durchschnittsbildung] ]
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[If ISDA Determination is applicable as per
Condition 3.2.3.1 of the General Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Notes:

[Falls ISDA-Feststellung gemdfB Bedingung 3.2.3.1 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrecht-
lichen Schuldverschreibungen anwendbar ist:

- Floating Rate Option:

- Floating Rate Option:

[Insert the floating rate option] [If the Rate of
Interest is determined by linear interpolation in
respect of an interest period (as per Condition
3.2.3.1), insert the relevant interest period(s) and
the relevant two rates used for such determination]

[Floating Rate Option einfligen] [Falls der Zinssatz (gemé&n3
Bedingung 3.2.3.1) durch lineare Interpolation in Bezug auf
eine Zinsperiode ermittelt wird, mafgebliche
Zinsperiode(n) und die beiden mal3geblichen zur Ermit-
tlung herangezogenen Sétze einfligen]

- Designated Maturity:

- Vorbestimmte Laufzeit (Designated Maturity):

[Insert the designated maturity]

[Vorherbestimmte Laufzeit einfliigen]

- Reset Date:

- Neufestsetzungstag (Reset Date):

[Insert the reset date]

[Neufestsetzungstag einfligen]

[If Standard Screen Rate Determination is
applicable as per Condition 3.2.3.2 of the General
Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes:

[Falls Standard-Bildschirmfeststellung geman
Bedingung 3.2.3.2 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrechtlichen

Schuldverschreibungen anwendbar ist:

- Reference Rate:

- Referenzsatz:

[Insert the reference rate] [If the Rate of Interest is
determined by linear interpolation in respect of an
interest period (as per Condition 3.2.3.2), insert the
relevant interest period(s) and the relevant two
rates used for such determination]

[Referenzsatz einfligen] [Falls der Zinssatz (geméas
Bedingung 3.2.3.2) durch lineare Interpolation in Bezug auf
eine  Zinsperiode ermittelt  wird, mafBgebliche
Zinsperiode(n) und die beiden malBgeblichen zur
Ermittlung herangezogenen Sétze einfigen]

- Interest Determination Date(s):

- Zinsfeststellungstag(e):

[Insert the interest determination date(s)]

[Zinsfeststellungstag(e) einfiigen]

- Specified Time:

- Festgelegter Zeitpunki:

[Insert the specified time]

[Festgelegten Zeitpunkt einfligen]

- Relevant Screen Page:

- MaBgebliche Bildschirmseite:

[Insert the relevant screen pagel

[MaBgebliche Bildschirmseite einfligen]

[If Compounded RFR Screen Rate Determination or

[Falls Aufgezinste RFR-Bildschirmfeststellung oder Tag

Averaged RFR Screen Rate Determination Date is | der Als Durchschnitt Ermittelten RFR-
applicable as per Condition 3.2.3.3 of the General | Bildschirmfeststellung gemd3 Bedingung 3.2.3.3 der
Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes] Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der

Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen anwendbar ist]
—  Reference Rate: —  Referenzsatz:

[Insert the reference rate]

[Referenzsatz einfligen]

—  Underlying Benchmark:

— Basiswert-Benchmark

[Insert the underlying benchmark]

[Basiswert-Benchmark einfiigen]

- Interest Determination Date:

—  Zinsfeststellungstag:

[Insert the date(s)] [Tag(e) einfligen]
—  Specified Time: —  Festgelegter Zeitpunki:
[Insert the specified time] [Festgelegten Zeitpunkt einfiigen)

—  BRelevant Screen Page:

— MaBgebliche Bildschirmseite:

[Insert the relevant screen page]

[MaBgebliche Bildschirmseite einfligen]

— Tenor:

- Laufzeit:

[specify]

[angeben]

— [Compounding RFR Method] [ Averaging
RFR Method]:

- [RFR-Aufzinsungsmethode] [ Methode zur RFR-
Durchschnittsbildung]:

[Compounding with Lookback] [Compounding with
Observation Shift] [Compounding with Lockout]
[OIS Compounding]
[Averaging  with
Observation  Shift]
[Overnight Averaging]

Lookback] [Averaging with
[Averaging with Lockout]

[Aufzinsung mit Lookback] [Aufzinsung mit Verschiebung
des Beobachtungszeitraums] [Aufzinsung mit Lockout]
[OIS-Aufzinsung]

[Durchschnittsbildung mit Lookback] [Durchschnittsbildung
mit Verschiebung des Beobachtungszeitraums]
[Durchschnittsbildung mit Lockout] [Tagesgeld-
Durchschnittsbildung]

[If Compounding RFR Method - [Compounding with
Lookback] [Compounding with Observation Shift]

[Falls Methode zur RFR-Aufzinsung - [Aufzinsung mit
Lookback]  [Aufzinsung  mit  Verschiebung  des
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[Compounding with Lockout][OIS Compounding] or

Beobachtungszeitraums] [Aufzinsung mit Lockout][OIS-

if Averaging RFR Method - [Averaging with | Aufzinsung] oder falls Methode zur RFR-

Lookback][Averaging  with  Observation  Shift] | Durchschnittsbildung - [Durchschnittsbildung mit

[Averaging with Lockout][Overnight Averaging] | Lookback][Durchschnittsbildung mit Verschiebung des

applies as per as per Condition 3.2.3.4 of the | Beobachtungszeitraums] [Durchschnittsbildung mit

German Law General Terms and Conditions] Lockout][Tagesgeld-Durchschnittsbildung] geman
Bedingung 3.2.3.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrechtlichen
Schuldverschreibungen]

- Underlying Benchmark: — Basiswert-Benchmark

[specify] [angeben]

— Interest Determination Date(s): —  Zinsfeststellungstag(e)

[specify] [angeben]

—  Specified Time: - Festgelegter Zeitpunkt:

[specify] [angeben]

—  Daily Capped Rate:

- [Tagesreferenzsatz mit Obergrenze:]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[Anwendbar] [Nicht Anwendbar]

[if applicable:

[falls anwendbar:

—  Daily Capped Rate:

- Tagesreferenzsatz mit Obergrenze:

[specify the Daily Capped Rate]

[den Tagesreferenzsatz mit Obergrenze angeben]]

—  Daily Floored Rate

- [Tagesreferenzsatz mit Untergrenze:]

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[Anwendbar] [Nicht Anwendbar]

[if applicable:

[falls anwendbar:

—  Daily Floored Rate:

- Tagesreferenzsatz mit Untergrenze:

[specify the Daily Floored Rate]

[den Tagesreferenzsatz mit Untergrenze angeben]

[if Compounding with Lookback or Averaging with
Lookback applies

[falls Aufzinsung mit Lookback oder Durchschnittsbildung
mit Lookback anwendbar ist

— [Lookback “r’:]

[Lookback ,,r*:]

[specify if different from 5]]

[angeben, falls nicht 5]

[if  Compounding with Observation Shift or
Averaging with Observation Shift applies

[falls Aufzinsung mit Verschiebung des
Beobachtungszeitraums oder Durchschnittsbildung mit
Verschiebung des Beobachtungszeitraums anwendbar ist

- [Observation Period Shift Additional

Business Day:]

- [Zusatzlicher Geschéftstag mit Verschiebung des
Beobachtungszeitraums:]

[specify financial center(s) or if none specified it

[Finanzplatz/Finanzpldtze angeben; falls keiner angegeben

shall be deemed that no Observation Period Shift | wird, wird angenommen, dass kein Zusétzlicher

Additional Business Day applies] Geschéftstag mit Verschiebung des
Beobachtungszeitraums anwendbar isf]

- [s”1] - [»s*]

[specify if different from 5]]

[angeben, falls nicht 5]

- Set-In-Advance:

- Vorab Festgelegt:

[Applicable] [Not Applicable]

[Anwendbar] [Nicht Anwendbar]

[if applicable:

[falls anwendbar:

- First Set-In Advance Observation Period:

- Erster Vorab
Beobachtungszeitraum:]

festgelegter

[From and including [ ] to but excluding [ ]] (Both
dates must be an Observation Period Shift
Business Day)]]

[Ab dem [ ] (einschlieBlich) bis zum [ ] (ausschlieBlich)]
(Beide Daten miissen ein Geschéftstag mit Verschiebung
des Beobachtungszeitraums sein)]]

[if Compounding with Lockout or Averaging with
Lockout applies

[falls Aufzinsung mit Lockout oder Durchschnittsbildung mit
Lockout anwendbar ist

— [Lockout Period Business Day:]

- [Geschéftstag der Lockout-Periode:]

[Specify financial center][Applicable Business Day]

[Finanzplatz angeben][Anwendbarer Geschaftstag]

_ [“t!! :]

[»t*]

[specify if different from 5]]

[angeben, falls nicht 5]]
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(vi) Margin(s)/Spread(s):

(vi) Margin(s)/Spread(s):

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentage]% [Plus (+)]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [[Prozentsatz einfligen] % [Plus (+)]

[Minus (-)] [Insert the percentage]% per annum] [If | [Minus (-)] [Prozentsatz einfliigen] % p.a.] [Siehe
any, see formula in paragraph 13(i) “Floating | gegebenenfalls die Formel in Absatz 13(i) ,Variabler
Coupon Amount” above] Kuponbetrag® oben]
(vii) Leverage Factor: (vii) Hebelfaktor:
[Not Applicable] [Insert Leverage Factor] [If any, | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Hebelfaktor einfiigen] [Siehe
see formula in paragraph 13(i) “Floating Coupon | gegebenenfalls die Formel in Absatz 13(i) ,Variabler

Amount:” above]

Kuponbetrag:“ oben]

(viii) Minimum Rate of Interest:

(viii) Mindestzinssatz:

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentagel% [per
annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 13(i)
“Floating Coupon Amount” above]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [[Prozentsatz einfiigen] % [p. a.]] [Siehe
gegebenenfalls die Formel in Absatz 13(i) ,Variabler
Kuponbetrag“ oben]

(ix) Maximum Rate of Interest:

(ix) Héchstzinssatz:

[Not Applicable] [[Insert the percentagel% [per

[Nicht Anwendbar] [[Prozentsatz einfiigen] % [p. a.]] [Siehe

annum]] [If any, see formula in paragraph 13(i) | gegebenenfalls die Formel in Absatz 13(i) ,Variabler
“Floating Coupon Amount” above] Kuponbetrag“ oben]

(x) Day Count Fraction: (x) Zinstagequotient:

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360 | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 | Konvention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)]

(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360
convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360 Konvention]
[Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

(xi) Rate Multiplier:

(xi) Zinssatz-Multiplikator:

[Not Applicable] [Insert the rate multiplier]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Zinssatz-Multiplikator einfiigen]

[If Not Applicable, delete the
subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

- Benchmark Rate:

- Benchmark-Satz:

[Reference Rate USD-LIBOR] [Reference Rate
GBP-LIBOR] [Reference Rate EURIBOR]
[Reference Rate EUR-CMS] [Reference Rate USD-
CMS] [Reference Rate SHIBOR]

[Referenzsatz USD-LIBOR] [Referenzsatz GBP-LIBOR]
[Referenzsatz EURIBOR] [Referenzsatz EUR-CMS]
[Referenzsatz USD-CMS] [Referenzsatz SHIBOR]

[NB: Benchmark for the purposes of Condition 3.2.4
of the General Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Benchmark fiir die Zwecke von Bedingung 3.2.4 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrecht-
lichen Schuldverschreibungen]

- Floating Rate Option:

- Floating Rate Option:

[Insert the floating rate option]

[Floating Rate Option einfiigen]

- Designated Maturity:

- Vorbestimmte Laufzeit:

[Insert the designated maturity]

[Vorherbestimmte Laufzeit einfligen]

- Upper Limit: - Obergrenze:
[Insert the upper limif] [Obergrenze einfligen]
- Lower Limit: - Untergrenze:

[Insert the lower limif]

[Untergrenze einfligen]

14.

Structured Interest Note Provisions:

Bestimmungen fiir Schuldverschreibungen  mit
Strukturierter Verzinsung:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.3 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 3.3 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes or Bond Linked
Notes: Applicable as per Condition 3.3 of the
General Terms and Conditions, subject to the
provisions of paragraph [23(iv)][23(v)] “[Credit]
[Bond] Linked Notes Provisions” and the Additional
Terms and Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen oder
Anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Anwendbar
gemaB Bedingung 3.3 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen, vorbehaltlich der Bestimmungen von Ab-
satz [23(iv)][23(v)] ,Bestimmungen fur [Kreditereignis-
bezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldverschreibungen®
und der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen  flr
[Kreditereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldver-
schreibungen.]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining | [Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze

subparagraphs] streichen]

(i) Structured Interest Amount(s): (i) Strukturierter Zinsbetrag (Strukturierte Zins-
betrége):
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Unless previously redeemed, on [each] [the]
Interest Payment Date[(i) (i from [®] to [®])], the
Issuer shall pay to the Noteholders, for each Note,
an amount determined by the Calculation Agent as
follows:

[The sum of each Structured Interest Amount(i)
determined in respect of each Valuation Date(i) (i
from [®] to [®]) occurring before the Interest
Payment Date, each Structured Interest Amount(i)
being equal to:]

Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in paragraph
8(iv) “Reference of the Product” above]

Sofern die Schuldverschreibung nicht zuvor zurlickgezahlt
wurde, zahlt die Emittentin an [jedem][dem] Zins-
zahlungstag [(i) (wobei i von [®] bis [®] lauft)], auf jede
Schuldverschreibung  einen  wie folgt von  der
Berechnungsstelle bestimmten Betrag an die Schuld-
verschreibungsinhaber:

[Die im Hinblick auf jeden Bewertungstag(i) (wobei i von
[®] bis [®] lAuft), der vor dem Zinszahlungstag stattfindet,
bestimmte Summe jedes Strukturierten Zinsbetrags(i),
wobei jeder Strukturierte Zinsbetrag(i) dem folgenden
Betrag entspricht:]

Festgelegte Stiickelung x [die in den Zusatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen zu  Formeln  beschriebene
Produktformel entsprechend der Produktreferenz einfligen,
die in Absatz 8(iv) ,Produktreferenz® oben genannt wird,
einfigen]

[Definitions relating to the Structured Interest
Amount are set out in paragraph 24(ii) “Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

[Begriffsbestimmungen im Zusammenhang mit Struk-
turierten Zinsbetragen erfolgen in Absatz 24(ii) ,Begriffs-
bestimmungen in Bezug auf das Produkt*.]

(ii) Specified Period(s) /
Date(s) [(i)]:

Interest Payment

(ii) Festgelegte(r) Zins-periode(n)/ Zinszahlungstag(e)
[(D]:

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the interest payment date(s)]

[Zinszahlungstag(e) einfligen]

[NB: For Specified Period(s), see Condition 3.2.1(2)
of the Terms and Conditions of the General
German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Flr Festgelegte Zinsperiode(n) siehe Bedingung
3.2.1(2) der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen)

(iii) Business Day Convention:

(ili) Geschéftstag-Konvention:

[Floating Rate Convention] [Following Business Day
Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[Modified Following Business Day Convention]
[adjusted] [unadjusted]

Geschéftstag-Konvention ,Variabler Zinssatz“] [Folgender-
Geschéftstag-Konvention] [Vorhergehender-Geschéftstag-
Konvention]  [Modifizierter-Folgender-Geschaftstag-Kon-
vention] [angepasst] [nicht angepasst]

[NB: Insert "unadjusted" if the application of the
relevant business day convention is not intended to
affect the Interest Amount. See Condition 3.7.1 of
the General Terms and Conditions of the German
Law Notes]

[Anm.: ,Nicht angepasst” einfiigen, falls sich die An-
wendung der entsprechenden Geschéftstag-Konvention
nicht auf den Zinsbetrag auswirken soll. Siehe Bedingung
3.7.1 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen]

(iv) Day Count Fraction:

(iv) Zinstagequotient:

[Not Applicable] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
convention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365
(Fixed)] [Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360
convention] [Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360
Konvention] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/365 (Fixed)]
[Actual/365 (Sterling)] [Actual/360] [360/360 Konvention]
[Bond Basis] [30E/360 (ISDA)]

(v) Business Centre(s):

(v) Finanzplatz (Finanzplatze):

[Insert the business centre(s)]

[Finanzplatz (Finanzplétze) einfiigen]

15.

Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

Bestimmungen fiir Nullkupon-Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 3.4 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 3.4 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[If Not Applicable, delete the
subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen]

(i) Accrual Yield:

(i) Amortisationsrendite:

[Insert the accrual yield] [[Insert the percentage]¥
per annum]

[Amortisationsrendite einfiigen] [[Prozentsatz einfligen] %
p. al

(ii) Reference Price:

(ii) Referenzpreis:

[Insert the reference price]

[Referenzpreis einfiigen]

(iii) Day Count Fraction in relation to Early
Redemption Amounts and late payment:

(iii) Zinstagequotient in Bezug auf Vorzeitigen
Riickzahlungsbetrag und verspétete Zahlung:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable per Conditions 5.9 and
5.16 of the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 5.9 und 5.16 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen]
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

BESTIMMUNGEN FUR DIE RUCKZAHLUNG

16.

Redemption at the option of the Issuer:

Riickzahlung nach Wahl der Emittentin:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.5 of
the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 6.5 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes or
Bond Linked Notes: Subject to the provision of
notice in accordance with subparagraph 16 (iii), the
Issuer may redeem the Notes in whole, but not in
part, on [specify the date(s) or the type of date(s)]
[from but excluding the Issue Date to but excluding
the Scheduled Maturity Date].]

[Falls in Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen oder Anleihebezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen anwendbar: Die Emittentin kann, vorbehaltlich
einer Mitteilung nach MaBgabe von Unterabsatz 16 (iii), die
Schuldverschreibungen (vollstéandig, jedoch nicht teilweise)
an [den/die Tag(e) oder die Art des/der Tage(s) angeben]
[ab dem Emissionstag (ausschlieBlich) bis zum
PlanméBigen Falligkeitstag (ausschlieBlich)
zurlickzahlen].]

[If Not Applicable,
subparagraphs]

delete the remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze

streichen]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount(s) as per
Condition 6.4.1.4 of the General Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Optionaler Riickzahlungsbetrag (Optionale Riick-
zahlungsbetrége) geméni Bedingung 6.4.1.4 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen]

(i) Optional Redemption Amount:

(i) Optionaler Riickzahlungsbetrag:

Unless previously redeemed, at the option of the
Issuer, the Notes may be early redeemed on the
Optional Redemption Date[(i) (i from [®] to [®])] in
accordance with the following provisions in respect
of each Note:

[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage]¥%]

[Final Redemption Amount calculated on the
valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]

[if the Notes are Open-ended Notes: Specified
Denomination x [insert the Product Formula of the
Final Redemption Amount in the Additional Terms
and Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding
to the Reference of the Product specified in
paragraph 8(iv) “Reference of the Product” above
but calculated on the valuation date linked to the
relevant Optional Redemption Date.]

[Market Value]

Sofern die Schuldverschreibungen nicht zuvor, nach Wahl
der Emittentin, zurlickgezahlt wurden, kdnnen sie am
Optionalen Riickzahlungstag[(i) wobei i von [®] bis [®]
lauft)] gemaB den folgenden Bestimmungen im Hinblick
auf jede Schuldverschreibung vorzeitig zurlickgezahlt
werden:

[Festgelegte Stiickelung x [Prozentsatz einfiigen] %]

[Endgdltiger Rlickzahlungsbetrag, der an dem mit dem
mafgeblichen Optionalen Rlickzahlungstag verknipften
Bewertungstag berechnet wird]

[falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Schuld-
verschreibungen mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit handelt: Fest-
gelegte Stilckelung x [die in den Zusétzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen zu Formeln beschriebene Produktformel
des Endgiiltigen Riickzahlungsbetrags entsprechend der
Produktreferenz einfligen, die in Absatz 8(iv) ,Produkt-
referenz” oben genannt wird, die jedoch an dem mit dem
mafgeblichen Optionalen Rlickzahlungstag verknipften
Bewertungstag berechnet wird.]

[Marktwert]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation
Amount x (Preference Share Value Optional[(i)] /
Preference Share Value Initial)

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Optional[(i)] / Warrant Value Initial)]

[Bei Vorzugsaktienbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Be-
rechnungsbetrag x (Vorzugsaktienwert-Optional[(i)] /
Vorzugsaktienwert-Anféanglich)

[Bei Optionsscheinbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Be-

rechnungsbetrag x (Optionsscheinwert-Optional[(i)] /
Optionsscheinwert-Anfénglich)]

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 24(ii) "Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

[Begriffsbestimmungen im Zusammenhang mit dem
Optionalen Ruckzahlungsbetrag erfolgen in Absatz 24(ii)
,Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf das Produkt”.]

(ii) Optional Redemption Date(s) [(i)]:

(ii) [Optionale(r) Riickzahlungstag(e) [(i)]:

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify
other]

[Den (die) optionalen Rlckzahlungstag(e) einfligen]
[andere Tage angeben]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 6.4.1.6.1 of the
General Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Notes. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is
advised to consider the practicalities of distribution
of information through intermediaries, for example,
clearing systems and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for
example, as between the Issuer and the Fiscal
Agent]

[Anm.: Kindigungsfrist gemé3 Bedingung 6.4.1.6.1 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrecht-
lichen Schuldverschreibungen. Bei der Festlegung von
Kindigungsfristen ist die Emittentin gehalten, die
praktischen Aspekte der Verbreitung von Informationen
lber Intermedidre — zum Beispiel Clearingsysteme und
Verwahrstellen — sowie etwaige sonstige Vorschriften fiir
Mitteilungen zu  berlicksichtigen, die beispielsweise
zwischen der Emittentin und der Emissionsstelle gelten
kdnnen.]
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(iii) Notice Period:

(iii) Kindigungsfrist:

[[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
Optional Redemption Date] [specify other]

[[Anzahl der Tage] Tage vor dem Optionalen
Rlickzahlungstag] [einfiigen]] [anderen Zeitraum angeben]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes or
Bond Linked Notes: The Issuer shall give not less
than [Insert the number of days] Business Days' (as
defined in Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for [Credit] [Bond] Linked Notes) notice
to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13
of the General Terms and Conditions (which notice
shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed
for redemption), provided, however that any such
notice shall be deemed to be void and of no effect,
if a [Credit] [Bond] Event Notice has been, or is,
delivered to Noteholders in accordance with the
Conditions at any time on or prior to 5.00 p.m.
(Paris time) on the fourth Business Day preceding
the date fixed for redemption in accordance with
this paragraph 16.]

[Falls in Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene oder Anleihe-

bezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen anwendbar: Die
Emittentin  kindigt den Schuldverschreibungsinhabern
unter Einhaltung einer Frist von [Anzahl der Tage
einfigen] Geschaftstagen (wie in Bedingung 2 der
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen for
[Kreditereignisbezogene] [Anleihebezogene] Schuldver-
schreibungen festgelegt) nach MaBgabe von

Bedingung 13 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen
(wobei diese Mitteilung unwiderruflich ist und den fir die
Ricknahme festgelegten Tag enthalten muss), mit der
MaBgabe, dass eine solche Mitteilung als nichtig und
wirkungslos gilt, falls eine [Kreditereignis-][Anleiheereignis-
Mitteilung geman den Bedingungen um 17:00 Uhr (Pariser
Zeit) oder friher am vierten Geschéftstag vor dem fir die
Ricknahme festgelegten Tag gemal diesem Absatz 16
den Schuldverschreibungsinhabern zugestellt wurde oder
wird.]

[and any such notice of redemption at the option of
the Issuer, along with the Optional Redemption
Amount[(i) (i from [e] to [e])], shall be deemed to
prevail in the following casels]:

[(@)] a [Credit] [Bond] Event Notice has been
delivered prior to, or is delivered to the Noteholders
on the same day as, or after, any such notice of
redemption at the option of the Issuer [;] []

[(b) a [Potential Failure to Pay] [and a] [Potential
Repudiation/Moratorium] [has] [have] already
occurred and [is] [are] continuing at the relevant
Optional Redemption Date[(i)] [;] [.]]

[If applicable in respect of Credit Linked Notes: [(b)]
[(c)] a Notice of Pending Credit Event was delivered
less than 100 Business Days prior to the relevant
Optional Redemption Date[(i)] and, immediately
prior to such Optional Redemption Date[(i)], (x) no
DC No Credit Event Announcement has been
published and (y) no Credit Event Notice in relation
to the pending event has been delivered.]]]]

[und eine solche Mitteilung Uber eine Rickzahlung nach
Wabhl der Emittentin: gilt zusammen mit dem Optionaler
Riickzahlungsbetrag](i) (i von [e] bis [e])] in [dem] [den]
folgenden [Fall] [Fallen] als maBgebend:

[(@)] eine [Kreditereignis-] [Anleiheereignis-] Mitteilung
wurde vor einer Mitteilung Uber eine Ruckzahlung nach
Wabhl der Emittentin oder wird am gleichen Tag wie eine
solche Mitteilung oder nach einer solchen Mitteilung den
Schuldverschreibungsinhabern zugestellt [;] [.]

[(b) eine [Mdgliche Nichtzahlung] [und eine] [Mdgliche
Nichtanerkennung/Mégliches  Moratorium]  [ist] [sind]
bereits eingetreten und [dauert] [dauern] am mafBgeblichen
Optionalen Ruckzahlungstag[(i)] an [;] [.1]

[Falls in Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen anwendbar: [(b)] [(c)] weniger als 100
Geschéftstage vor dem maBgeblichen Optionalen Riick-
zahlungstag|[(i)] wurde eine Mitteilung Uber ein Bestehen-
des Kreditereignis zugestellt, und unmittelbar vor diesem
Optionalen Riickzahlungstag[(i)], (x) erfolgte keine Kein-
Kreditereignis-Bekanntgabe des Festlegungsausschusses,
und (y) es wurde keine Kreditereignis-Mitteilung im
Zusammenhang mit dem bestehenden Kreditereignis
zugestellt.]]]]

[NB: Redemption in part as per Condition 6.4.1.1.2
of the General Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Teilweise Rliickzahlung nach Bedingung 6.4.1.1.2
der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der
deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen]

(iv) Redemption in part:

(iv) Teilweise Riickzahlung:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[If Not Applicable, delete the
subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

- Minimum Redemption Amount:

- Mindestriickzahlungsbetrag:

[Insert the minimum redemption amount]

[Mindestriickzahlungsbetrag einfliigen]

- Maximum Redemption Amount:

- Héchstriickzahlungsbetrag:

[Insert the maximum redemption amount]

[Hd6chstriickzahlungsbetrag einfligen]

17. | Redemption at the option of the Noteholders: Riickzahlung nach Wahl der Schuldverschrei-
bungsinhaber:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
6.4.1.3 of the General Terms and Conditions] Bedingung 6.4.1.3 der  Allgemeinen  Emissionsbe-
dingungen]

[NB: Optional Redemption Amount as per Condition
6.4.1.4 of the General Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Optionaler Riickzahlungsbetrag nach Bedingung
6.4.1.4 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen)

79




Form of Final Terms

[If Not Applicable,
subparagraphs]

delete the remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze

streichen)

(i) Optional Redemption Amount:

(i) Optionaler Riickzahlungsbetrag:

Unless previously redeemed, at the option of the
Noteholders, the Notes held by the Noteholder
exercising the option may be early redeemed on the
Optional Redemption Date[(i) (i from [®] to [®])] in
accordance with the following provisions in respect
of each Note:

[Specified Denomination x [Insert percentage] %)

[Final Redemption Amount calculated on the
valuation date linked to the relevant Optional
Redemption Date]

[if the Notes are Open-ended Notes or EU
Allowance Notes: Specified Denomination x [insert
the Product Formula of the Final Redemption
Amount in the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae corresponding to the
Reference of the Product specified in the paragraph
8(iv) “Reference of the Product” above but
calculated on the valuation date linked to the
relevant Optional Redemption Date.]]

[Market Value]
[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Optional[(i)] / Warrant Value Initial)]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation
Amount x (Preference Share Value Optional[(i)] /
Preference Share Value Initial) ]

Sofern die Schuldverschreibungen nicht zuvor, nach Wahl
der Schuldverschreibungsinhaber, zuriickgezahlt wurden,
kénnen die Schuldverschreibungen, deren Schuldver-
schreibungsinhaber diese Option austbt, am Optionalen
Rickzahlungstag[(i) (wobei i von [®] bis [®] lauft)] geman
den folgenden Bestimmungen im Hinblick auf jede
Schuldverschreibung vorzeitig zurlickgezahlt werden:

[Festgelegte Stiickelung x [Prozentsatz einfiigen]

[Endgdltiger Rlickzahlungsbetrag, der an dem mit dem
mafBgeblichen Optionalen Rickzahlungstag verknlipften
Bewertungstag berechnet wird]

[falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Schuld-
verschreibungen mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit oder um EU-
Emissionszertifikatsbezogene Schuldverschreibungen
handelt: Festgelegte Stlickelung x [die in den Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  zu  Formeln  beschriebene
Produktformel des Endgiltigen Rlckzahlungsbetrags
entsprechend der Produktreferenz einfliigen, die in
Absatz 8(iv) ,Produktreferenz® oben genannt wird, die
jedoch an dem mit dem maBgeblichen Optionalen
Riickzahlungstag verkniipften Bewertungstag berechnet
wird.]

[Marktwert]

[Bei Optionsscheinbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:
Berechnungsbetrag x (Optionsscheinwert-Optional[(i)] /
Optionsscheinwert-Anféanglich)]

[Bei Vorzugsaktienbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

Berechnungsbetrag x (Vorzugsaktienwert-Optional[(i)] /
Vorzugsaktienwert-Anfanglich)]

[Redemption of the Notes will be subject to a
maximum aggregate nominal amount to be
redeemed equal to [insert currency / amount] per
[insert frequency: day, other] as stated in the duly
completed Put Notice deposited by the Noteholder
or any Paying Agent.]

[Definitions relating to the Optional Redemption
Amount are set out in paragraph 24(ii) ‘Definitions
relating to the Product”.]

[Die Ruckzahlung der Schuldverschreibungen unterliegt
einem maximalen zuriickzuzahlenden Gesamtnennbetrag,
der [Wéhrung / Betrag einfliigen] pro [Hé&ufigkeit: Tag,
sonstige einfiigen], wie in der ordnungsgeman ausgefiliten
Einldsungserkldrung angegeben, die von dem Schuldver-
schreibungsinhaber oder einer Zahlstelle hinterlegt ist.]

[Begriffsbestimmungen im Zusammenhang mit dem
Optionalen Rickzahlungsbetrag erfolgen in Absatz 24
(ii),,Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf das Produkt“.]

(ii) Optional Redemption Date(s) [(i)]:

(ii) Optionale(r) Riickzahlungstag(e) [(i)]:

[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[(TT/MM/JJJJ)]

[Insert the optional redemption date(s)] [Specify
other]

[Den (die) optionalen Rlickzahlungstag(e) einfligen]
[Andere Tage angeben]

[NB: Notice Period as per Condition 6.4.1.6 of the
General Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Notes]

[Anm.: Kindigungsfrist gemdB Bedingung 6.4.1.6 der
Allgemeinen  Emissionsbedingungen  der  Deutsch-
rechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen]

(iii) Notice Period:

(iii) Kundigungsfrist:

[[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
Optional Redemption Date] [specify other]

[[Anzahl der Tage] Tage vor dem Optionalen Rick-
zahlungstag] [einfligen]] [anderen Zeitraum angeben]

18.

Automatic Early Redemption:

Automatische Vorzeitige Riickzahlung:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.4.2
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 6.4.2 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[If Not Applicable, delete the
subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(i) Automatic Early Redemption Amount(s):

(i) Automatischer Vorzeitiger Riickzahlungsbetrag
(Automatische Vorzeitige Riickzahlungsbetréage):
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Unless previously redeemed, if an Automatic Early
Redemption Event has occurred, then the Issuer
shall redeem early the Notes on Automatic Early
Redemption Date[(i) (i from [®] to [®])], in
accordance with the following provisions in respect
of each Note:

[Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in paragraph
8(iv) “Reference of the Product” above]]

[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount—x
(Warrant Value Exercise[(i)] / Warrant Value Initial)]

Sofern sie nicht zuvor zuriickgezahlt wurden, zahlt die
Emittentin die Schuldverschreibungen nach dem Eintritt
eines Auslésers der Automatischen Vorzeitigen Ruick-
zahlung am Automatischen Vorzeitigen Riickzahlungstag(i)
(wobei i von [@] bis [®] I&uft) nach MaBgabe der folgenden
Bestimmungen in Bezug auf die einzelnen Schuldver-
schreibungen vorzeitig zurtck:

[Festgelegte Stiickelung x [die in den Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  zu  Formeln  beschriebene
Produktformel entsprechend der Produktreferenz einfligen,
die in Absatz 8(iv) ,Produktreferenz” oben genannt wird]]

[Bei Optionsscheinbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:
Berechnungsbetrag x (Optionsscheinwert-Ausubung((i)] /
Optionsscheinwert-Anfénglich)]

[Definitions relating to the Automatic Early
Redemption Amount are set out in paragraph 24(ii)
“Definitions relating to the Product”.]

[Begriffsbestimmungen im Zusammenhang mit dem
Automatischen Vorzeitigen Rickzahlungsbetrag erfolgen
in Absatz 24(ii) ,Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf das
Produkt®.]

(ii) Automatic Early Redemption Date(s) [(i)]:

(ii) Tag(e) der Automatischen Vorzeitigen Riick-
zahlung [(i)]:

[Insert the automatic early redemption date(s)]

[Den (die) automatischen vorzeitigen Riickzahlungstag(e)
einfigen]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if relevant:
[Insert the automatic early redemption date(s)]
(such date(s) being the Scheduled Automatic Early
Redemption Date), subject to the provisions of
paragraph 23(v) "Credit Linked Notes Provisions"
and the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes.]

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen, falls anwendbar: [den (die) automatischen
vorzeitigen Rlickzahlungstag(e) einfiigen] (diese(r) Tag(e)
ist/sind der/die PlanmaBige Automatische Vorzeitige
Rackzahlungstag(e)), vorbehaltlich der Bestimmungen in
Abschnitt 23(v)  "Bestimmungen  fir  Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen" und die Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen.]

(ili) Automatic Early Redemption Event:

(ili) Automatisches Vorzeitiges Riickzahlungsereignis

[Insert the relevant Automatic Early Redemption
Event as per the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Formulae]

[Das mafgebliche Automatische Vorzeitige
Rlickzahlungsereignis geman den Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln einfigen]

19.

[Final Redemption Amount]:

[Endgiiltiger Riickzahlungsbetrag]

Unless previously redeemed, the Issuer shall
redeem the Notes on the [Maturity Date] [Final
Exercise Date], in accordance with the following
provisions  in respect of each Note:

[At par]

[[Insert the currency and the amount] per Note of
[Insert the currency and the amount] Specified
Denomination] [[Insert the currency and the
amount] per Calculation Amount]

[Specified Denomination X
percentage] %]

[Specified Denomination x [Insert the Product
Formula described in the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Formulae corresponding to
the Reference of the Product specified in paragraph
8(iv) "Reference of the Product" abovel] [In case of
Open-ended Notes: Not Applicable, the Notes are
open-ended.]

[For Preference Share Linked Notes: Calculation

Amount x (Preference Share Value Final /
Preference Share Value Initial)]

[Insert the

Sofern sie nicht zuvor zurlickgezahlt wurden, zahlt die
Emittentin die Schuldverschreibungen am [Falligkeitstag]
[Endgultigen Ausiibungstag] nach MaBgabe der folgenden
Bestimmungen im Hinblick auf jede Schuldverschreibung
zurlck:

[Nennbetrag]

[[Wé&hrung und Betrag einfiigen] je Schuldverschreibung
von [Wédhrung wund Betrag einfiigen] Festgelegte
Stickelung] [[W&hrung und Betrag einfigen] je
Berechnungsbetrag]

[Festgelegte Stiickelung x [Prozentsatz einfiigen] %]

[Festgelegte Stlickelung x [die in den Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln beschriebene Produkt-
formel entsprechend der Produktreferenz einfligen, die in
Absatz 8(iv) ,Produktreferenz“ oben genannt wird, ein-
figenll] [Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen mit
unbegrenzter Laufzeit: Nicht anwendbar, die Schuldver-
schreibungen haben eine unbegrenzte Laufzeit.]

[Bei Vorzugsaktienbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:

Berechnungsbetrag x (Vorzugsaktienwert-Final / Vorzugs-
aktienwert-Anfanglich)]
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[For Warrant Linked Notes: Calculation Amount x
(Warrant Value Final / Warrant Value Initial)]

[Bei Optionsscheinbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen:
Berechnungsbetrag x (Optionsscheinwert-Final / Options-
scheinwert-Anfénglich)]

[Definitions relating to the Final [Redemption]
[Exercise] Amount are set out in paragraph 24(ii)
“Definitions relating to the Product”.]

[Begriffsbestimmungen im Zusammenhang mit dem
Endgultigen [Rickzahlungs-][Ausiibungs-]betrag erfolgen
in Absatz 24 (ii) ,Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf das
Produkt®.]

20.

Physical Delivery Provisions:

Bestimmungen fiir Physische Lieferung:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 5.11
of the General Terms and Conditions]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 5.11 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

[If Not Applicable, delete the
subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(i) Deliverable Asset(s):

(i) Lieferbare(r) Vermdégenswert(e):

[See paragraph “Underlying(s)’] [/f the deliverable
assets) is/are different from the underlying asset(s)
specified in the paragraph 23(i) “Underlying(s)”
below: [Insert the relevant deliverable asset
pursuant to the provisions of Condition 5.11 of the
General Terms and Conditions]] [In respect of
Credit Linked Notes: Specified Deliverable
Obligation(s)]

[Siehe Absatz ,Basiswert(e)] [Falls sich der (die)
lieferbare(n) Vermdgenswert(e) von dem (den) in Absatz
23(i) ,Basiswert(e)“ unten genannten Basiswert(en)
unterscheidet (unterscheiden): [maBgeblichen lieferbaren
Vermdgenswert nach MalBBgabe von Bedingung 5.11 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen einfligen]] [in Bezug
auf  Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen:
Festgelegte Lieferbare Verbindlichkeit(en)]

(ii) Physical Delivery Amount:

(ii) Physische Liefermenge:

[See paragraph 24(ii) “Definitions relating to the
Product’]

[Siehe Absatz 24(ii) "Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf
das Produkt"]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
Applicable, as provided in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen, falls anwendbar: Anwendbar, wie in den
Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen far Kredit-
ereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen vorgesehen]

(iii) Provisions governing whether transfer of
Deliverable Asset(s) or payment of a cash
sum will apply:

(ili) Bestimmungen zu der Frage, ob eine Ubertragung
eines oder mehrerer Lieferbarer Vermégenswerte
oder eine Barzahlung vorzunehmen ist:

[See paragraph 24(ii) “Definitions relating to the
Product’]

[Siehe Absatz 24(ii) "Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf
das Produkt"]

[In respect of Credit Linked Notes, if applicable:
Applicable, as provided in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen, falls anwendbar: Anwendbar, wie in den
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen vorgesehen]

(iv) Issuer’s to vary method of

settlement:

option

(iv) Moglichkeit der Emittentin zur Anderung der
Abwicklungsmethode:

[No] [Applicable as per Condition 5.11.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions] [In respect of Credit
Linked Notes, if applicable: Applicable, as provided
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes]

[Keine] [Anwendbar nach Bedingung 5.11.2  der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen] [In Bezug auf
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen,  falls
anwendbar: Anwendbar, wie in den Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen festgelegt]

(v) Method of transfer of Deliverable Asset(s)
in respect of Physical Delivery Amount (if
other than Delivery):

(v) Ubertragungsmethode fiir einen oder mehrere
Lieferbare Vermodgenswerte in Bezug auf die
Physische Liefermenge (falls abweichend von der
Lieferung):

[As per Condition 5.11.1 of the General Terms and
Conditions] [In respect of Credit Linked Notes:
Delivery through the relevant Clearing System
unless the Specified Deliverable Obligations are not
eligible for clearance by the relevant Clearing
System or otherwise as specified in Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes, in which case transfer will take place
outside the relevant Clearing System as set out in
Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes]

[GemaB Bedingung 5.11.1 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen] [In Bezug auf Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen: Lieferung durch das maBgebliche
Clearingsystem, es sei denn, die Festgelegten Lieferbaren
Verbindlichkeiten sind nicht zum Clearing durch das
mafgebliche Clearingsystem oder durch andere geeignet,
wie in Bedingung 1 der Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen flr Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen angegeben; in diesem Fall wird die Ubertragung
auBerhalb des maBgeblichen Clearingsystems erfolgen,
wie in Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angegeben]
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(vi) Consequences of Settlement Disruption
Event(s):

(vi) Folgen von Abwicklungsstérungen:

As per Condition 5.11.4 of the General Terms and
Conditions

Nach MaBgabe von Bedingung 5.11.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen

21. | Trigger redemption at the option of the Issuer: Ausléser-Riickzahlung (trigger redemption) nach Wahl
der Emittentin:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
6.4.1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions] Bedingung 6.4.1.2 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen]
[Insert the following subparagraph only if Trigger | [Den folgenden Unterabsatz nur einflgen, wenn
redemption at the option of the Issuer is Applicable | ,Ausléser-Riickzahlung nach Wahl der Emittentin® gemaf3
as per Condition 6.4.1.2 of the General Terms and | Bedingung 6.4.1.2 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
Conditions] bedingungen Anwendbar isf]
—  Outstanding Amount Trigger Level: Ausléoseschwelle in Bezug auf den Ausstehenden
Betrag:
[10% of the Aggregate Nominal Amount] [[/nsert | [10 % des Gesamtnennbetrags] [[andere AuslGseschwelle
other outstanding amount trigger levell % of the | in Bezug auf den ausstehenden Betrag einfiigen] % des
Aggregate Nominal Amount] Gesamtnennbetrags]
22. | Redemption for Tax Event, Special Tax Event, | Riickzahlung bei Eintritt eines Steuerereignisses,

Regulatory Event, Force Majeure Event or Event
of Default:

eines Besonderen Steuerereignisses, eines
Aufsichtsrechtlichen Ereignisses, eines Ereignisses
Hoéherer Gewalt oder eines Kiindigungsgrunds:

[Early Redemption] [Early Redemption or
Monetisation until the Maturity Date]

[Vorzeitige Ruickzahlung] [Vorzeitige Rlckzahlung oder
Monetarisierung bis zum Falligkeitstag]

[Monetisation with Early Redemption at the option
of the Noteholders, except for Force Majeure Event
or Event of Defauli]

[Monetarisierung mit Vorzeitiger Rickzahlung nach Wahl
der Schuldverschreibungsinhaber, ausgenommen bei
einem  Ereignis  Héherer Gewalt oder einem
Kiindigungsgrund]

Early Redemption Amount: [[Insert the currency
and the amount] per Note of [Insert the currency
and the amountf] Specified Denomination] [[/nsert
the currency and the amount] per Calculation
Amount] [Market Value] [In the case of Preference
Share Linked Notes or Warrant Linked Notes: the
Early Redemption Amount as defined in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Preference
Share Linked Notes]

Vorzeitiger Ruckzahlungsbetrag: [[Wédhrung und Betrag
einfigen] je Schuldverschreibung mit einer Festgelegten
Stickelung von [Wédhrung und Betrag einfiigen]]
[[Wéhrung und Betrag einfiigen] je Berechnungsbetrag]
[Marktwert] [Im Fall von Vorzugsaktienbezogenen
Schuldverschreibungen oder Optionsscheinbezogenen
Schuldverschreibungen: der Vorzeitige Riickzahlungs-
betrag, wie in den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Vorzugsaktienbezogene Schuldverschreibungen definiert]

[Market Value except for Early Redemption Amount
payable on Event of Default in which case such
amount will be equal to [insert the currency and the
amount] per Note of [insert the currency and the
amount] Specified Denomination]]

[Marktwert mit Ausnahme fir den Vorzeitigen
Ruickzahlungsbetrag, der im Falle eines Kiindigungsgrunds
zahlbar ist; in diesem Fall entspricht dieser Betrag
[Wéhrung und Betrag einfiigen] je Schuldverschreibung mit
einer Festgelegten Stickelung von [Wéhrung und Betrag
einfigen]]]

[Early Redemption [for Tax Event] [or] [for Special
Tax Event] will not apply for the purpose of
[Condition 6.2, and Condition 7.2 is not applicable
to this Series of Notes][and for the purpose of the
Additional Terms and Conditions [specified in
paragraph 23 below] [and] [the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes] [and] [the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]]

[Vorzeitige Rickzahlung [bei Eintritt eines
Steuerereignisses] [oder] [eines Besonderen Steuerer-
eignisses] ist nicht fir die Zwecke von [Bedingung 6.2
anwendbar, und Bedingung 7.2 ist nicht auf diese Serie
von Schuldverschreibungen][und fir die Zwecke der [im
nachstehenden Abschnitt 23 angegeben] Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen [und] [der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [und] [der Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fir Anleihebezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen] anwendbar]

[Condition 6.13 of the General Terms and | [Bedingung 6.13 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen
Conditions will not apply for the purpose of | ist nicht fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 6.2 der
Condition 6.2 of the General Terms and | Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen anwendbar.]
Conditions.]

[Condition 6.13 of the General Terms and | [Bedingung 6.13 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen

Conditions will not apply to Tax Event and Special
Tax Event for the purpose of Condition 6.2 of the
General Terms and Conditions.]

ist nicht auf Steuerereignisse und Besondere
Steuerereignisse fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 6.2 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen anwendbar.]

[- Events of Default with respect to Notes issued by
Societe Generale : Not Applicable]

[- Kindigungsgrinde in Bezug auf von der Societe
Generale  begebene  Schuldverschreibungen:  Nicht
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Anwendbar]
[N.B.: there will always be an Early Redemption | [Anm.: Es wird immer einen Vorzeitigen Rick-
Amount at least in case of early redemption | zahlungsbetrag geben, zumindest im Falle einer

following an event of default]

vorzeitigen Rlckzahlung aufgrund eines Kiindigungs-
grunds]

[NB: The provisions of Early Redemption Amount
payable following the occurrence of a Tax Event,
Special Tax Event and/or a Regulatory Event, or on
Event of Default as per Condition 9 of the General
Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes]

[Anm.: Die Bestimmungen des nach dem Eintritt eines
Steuerereignisses, eines Besonderen Steuerereignisses
und/oder eines Aufsichtsrechtlichen Ereignisses oder eines
Kiindigungsgrunds zahlbaren Vorzeitigen
Rlickzahlungsbetrags geman Bedingung 9 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen der Deutschrecht-
lichen Schuldverschreibungen]

PROVISIONS
UNDERLYING(S)

APPLICABLE TO THE

BESTIMMUNGEN FUR BASISWERTE

23.

(i) Underlying(s):

(i) Basiswert(e):

[Not Applicable] [If Credit Linked Notes or Bond
Linked Notes: As provided in paragraph [‘Credit
Linked Notes Provisions”] [‘Bond Linked Notes
Provisions”] below.]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Im Fall von Kreditereignisbezogenen
Schuldverschreibungen oder Anleihebezogenen
Schuldverschreibungen: Wie im Abschnitt [,Bestimmungen
fir  Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen®]
[,Bestimmungen far Anleihebezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen®] unten vorgesehen.]

[Where the underlying is a security, include the
name of the issuer of the security and the
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN)
or other such security identification code.

[Falls der Basiswert ein Wertpapier ist, Namen des
Emittenten des Wertpapiers und International Securities
Identification Number (ISIN) oder andere
Wertpapierkennnummer einfligen.

Where the underlying is an index, include the name
of the index. If the index is not composed by the
Issuer, need to include details of where the
information about the index can be obtained. In
case of SGI Linked Notes, if Advised SGI Index is
applicable, need to specify.

Falls der Basiswert ein Index ist, Bezeichnung des Index
einflgen. Falls der Index nicht von der Emittentin
zusammengestellt wird, sind Angaben dartiber zu machen,
wo Informationen Gber den Index erhéltlich sind. Im Fall
von SGl-bezogenen Schuldverschreibungen ist es
anzugeben, falls Beratener-SGl-Index anwendbar ist.

Where the underlying is an interest rate, include a
description of the interest rate

Falls der Basiswert ein Zinssatz ist, Beschreibung des
Zinssatzes einfligen

Where the underlying does not fall within the
categories specified above, the applicable Final
Terms shall contain equivalent information.

Falls der Basiswert nicht in eine der vorstehenden
Kategorien féllt, sind in den anwendbaren Endgiiltigen
Bedingungen vergleichbare Angaben zu machen.

Where the underlying is a Future or a Basket of
Futures, need to disclose the Future, the Next
Active Future Contract, the Exchange, the Future
Start Time, the Future End Time, the Future
Underlier, the relevant weightings of each
Underlying in the Basket.

Falls der Basiswert ein Future oder ein Korb von Futures
ist, sind der Future, der Ndchste Aktive Future-Kontrakt,
die Boérse, die Startzeit des Futures, die Endzeit des
Futures, der Future-Basiswert, die malBgeblichen
Gewichtungen jedes Basiswerts im Korb anzugeben.

Where the underlying is a Portfolio or a basket of
Portfolios: The [basket of] [Portfolio[s]] as described
in the Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes attached
hereto.]

Falls der Basiswert ein Portfolio oder ein Korb von
Portfolios ist: Der [Korb von] [Portfolio[s]], wie im
beigefiigten ,Annex for Portfolio Linked Notes" (Anhang fiir
Portfoliobezogene Schuldverschreibungen) beschrieben.]

[In the case of Notes listed on SIX: insert ISIN code
(if any) as well as initial effective value of the
Underlyings and insert the information on the
underlying instruments required by section 4 of
scheme F (for derivatives) or sections 2.5.2 and
2.5.3 of scheme E (for bonds) of SIX Swiss
Exchange, to the extent such information is not
already included elsewhere in the applicable Final
Terms.]

[Im Fall von an der SIX notierten Schuldverschreibungen:
ISIN-Code  (falls  vorhanden) sowie anfdnglichen
Effektivwert der Basiswerte einfliigen und die Angaben zu
den Anlageinstrumenten, die durch Ziffer 4 von Schema F
(fir Derivate) oder die Ziffern2.5.2 und 2.5.3 von
Schema E (fir Anleihen) der SIX Swiss Exchange
vorgeschrieben werden, einfiigen, soweit diese Angaben
nicht bereits an anderer Stelle in den anwendbaren
Endgiiltigen Bedingungen enthalten sind.]

(ii) Information relating to the past and future
performances of the Underlying(s) and
volatility:

historischen und
und Volatilitat

(ii) Angaben zur
Wertentwicklung
Basiswert(e)(s):

kinftigen
des/der

[Not Applicable] [Need to include details of the
relevant website or screen page where information
on past and future performance and volatility can be
obtained, as specified in item 23(i).]*

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Es sind Angaben der maBgeblichen
Website oder Bildschirmseite zu machen, auf der
Informationen  zur  historischen  und  zukdlnftigen
Wertentwicklung und Volatilitdt erhéltlich sind, wie in
Ziffer 23 (i) angegeben.]*

(iii) Provisions relating, amongst others, to the

(iii) Bestimmungen u. a. zu dem/den
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Market Disruption Event(s) and/or
Extraordinary  Event(s) and/or any
additional disruption event as described in
the relevant Additional Terms and
Conditions:

Marktstorungsereignis(sen) und/oder dem/den
AuBerordentlichen Ereignis(sen) und/oder zu
etwaigen in den maBgeblichen Zusatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen beschriebenen
zusétzlichen Stérungen:

[Not Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar]

The provisions of the following Additional Terms
and Conditions apply:

Die  Bestimmungen der folgenden  Zusétzlichen

Emissionsbedingungen sind anwendbar:

[Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked
Notes and Depositary Receipts Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI
Index Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Reference Rate Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign
Exchange Rate Linked Notes] [Additional Terms
and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Inflation Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for ETP Linked Notes and for ETF
Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Non Equity Security Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Preference Share Linked
Notes] [Additional Terms and Conditions for
Warrant Linked Notes] [Additional Terms and
Conditions for Future Linked Notes] [Additional
Terms and Conditions for Portfolio Linked Notes]
[Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes [and Condition 3 “Additional Provisions
related to CDS Spread”]] Additional Terms and
Conditions for Bond Linked Notes].

[Zusétzliche Emissionsbedingungen flr Aktienbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  und  Depositary  Receipts-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Indexbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen fir
SGl-Indexbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zuséatzliche
Emissionsbedingungen for Referenzsatzbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Zuséatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir Wechselkursbezogene  Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Rohstoffbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Fondsbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen fir
Inflationsbezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen flir ETP-bezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen und flir ETF-bezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusétzliche Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Nichteigenkapitalwertpapierbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen far
Vorzugsaktienbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[Zuséatzliche Emissionsbedingungen fiir Optionsschein-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen fir Futurebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen] [Zusatzliche Emissionsbedingungen flr
Portfoliobezogene Schuldverschreibungen] [Zusétzliche
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen [und Bedingung 3 ,Zuséatzliche
Bestimmungen in Bezug auf CDS-Spread“]] Zusatzliche
Emissionsbedingungen far Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen].

[Specify if Hedging Disruption is not applicable]

[Angeben, falls Absicherungsstérung nicht anwendbar ist.]

[Specify if Increased Cost of Hedging is not
applicable]

[Angeben, falls nicht

anwendbar ist.]

Erhéhte  Absicherungskosten

[Specify if Stop-Loss Event is not applicable]

[Angeben, falls Stop-Loss-Ereignis nicht anwendbar ist.]

[For Fund Linked Notes, specify if “Fund Linked
Notes_Events2 is applicable]

[Bei Fondsbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen angeben,
ob ,Fondsbezogene Schuldverschreibungen_Ereignisse2”
anwendbar ist]

(iv) Other information the

Underlying(s):

relating to

(iv) Sonstige Informationen tiber den/die Basiswert(e)

[Not Applicable] [Where information has been
sourced from a third party, provide a confirmation
that this information has been accurately
reproduced and that as far as the issuer is aware
and is able to ascertain from information published
by that third party, no facts have been omitted
which would render the reproduced information
inaccurate or misleading. In addition, the issuer
shall identify the source(s) of the information] [In the
case of Notes to be listed to SIX Swiss Exchange:
To the extent information or summaries of
information contained herein with respect to the
Underlying(s) has been extracted from general
databases publicly available or by any other
available information, each of the Issuer and the
Guarantor, if any, confirms that this information has
been accurately reproduced and that as far as the
Issuer and the Guarantor, if any, is aware and is
able to ascertain from information published by that

[Nicht Anwendbar] [In Féllen, in denen die Informationen
von Dritten stammen, eine Bestdtigung dahingehend
einfigen, dass diese Informationen  zutreffend
wiedergegeben wurden und dass, sofern dem Emittenten
dies bekannt ist und er dies anhand der von dem Diritten
verdffentlichten Informationen (berpriifen kann, keine
Tatsachen ausgelassen wurden, die dazu fiihren wiirden,
dass die wiedergegebenen Informationen ungenau oder
irrefdhrend werden. Ferner hat der Emittent die Quelle(n)
der Informationen  anzugeben] [Im  Fall  von
Schuldverschreibungen, die fiir eine Notierung an der SIX
Swiss Exchange bestimmt sind: Soweit in diesem
Dokument enthaltene Informationen oder
Zusammenfassungen von Informationen Uber den/die
Basiswert(e) aus Offentlich zugénglichen allgemeinen
Datenbanken oder anderen verfligbaren Informationen
entnommen wurden, bestétigen sowohl die Emittentin als
auch eine etwaige Garantin, dass diese Informationen
zutreffend wiedergegeben wurden und dass, sofern der
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third party, no facts have been omitted which would
render the reproduced information inaccurate or
misleading. In addition, the issuer shall identify the
source(s) of the information.]

Emittentin und gegebenenfalls der Garantin dies bekannt
ist und sie dies anhand der von dem Dritten
verodffentlichten Informationen Uberprifen kann/kdnnen,
keine Tatsachen ausgelassen wurden, die dazu flhren
wirden, dass die wiedergegebenen Informationen
ungenau oder irrefihrend werden. Ferner hat der Emittent
die Quelle(n) der Informationen anzugeben.]

(v) Credit Linked Notes Provisions: (v) Bestimmungen fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar, vorbehaltlich der Bestim-

provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes. [The provisions of the
"Additional Provisions related to CDS Spread" in
Condition 3 shall apply.]]

mungen der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir
Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldverschreibungen.  [Es
gelten die Bestimmungen von den "Zusatzlichen
Bestimmungen fiir CDS Spread" in Bedingung 3.]]

[If Not Applicable, delete the remaining | [Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
subparagraphs] streichen)
(@) Type of Credit Linked Notes: (@) Art der Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldver-

schreibungen:

[Single Name Notes] [First-to-Default
[Basket Notes] [Tranche Notes]

Notes]

[Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen] [First-to-Default-
Schuldverschreibungen] [Korb-Schuldverschreibungen]
[Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen]

(b) Terms relating to Settlement:

(b) Abwicklungsmodalitéaten:

(A.) Settlement Type:

(A.) Ausiibungsart:

[American Settlement] [European Settlement]

[Amerikanische Auslibung] [Europaische Ausiibung]

(B.) Settlement Method:

(B.) Abwicklungsmethode:

[Cash Settlement, pursuant to Condition 1.1.3 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Or but ONLY for Single Name Notes and
First-to-Default Notes and the Settlement Type is
American  Settlement.  Physical  Settlement,
pursuant to Condition 1.1.1 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[Barausgleich, gemaB Bedingung 1.1.3 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen] [Oder, jedoch AUS-
SCHLIESSLICH bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen
und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen und wenn als
Ausiibungsart Amerikanische Auslibung angegeben ist:
Physische Abwicklung, nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 1.1.1 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
flir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]

(C.) Final Value:

(C.) Endgiiltiger Wert

[Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage]per cent.]

[Festgelegte Anpassung: [Prozentsatz einfligen] Prozent.]

[If Floating Recovery with Auction Method applies:
the Final Value is to be determined pursuant to a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms and if a
Transaction Auction Settlement Terms is published
on or before 140 Business Days following the Credit
Event Determination Date, that provides for the
valuation of obligations of a Reference Entity in
respect of which a Credit Event has occurred,
subject to the occurrence of a Fallback Settlement
Event, means the Auction Final Price (as specified
in the relevant Transaction Auction Settlement
Terms and expressed as a percentage) determined,
if any, under such Transaction Auction Settlement
Terms and applicable to the seniority of the
Reference Obligation or if a Fallback Settlement
Event occurs or no Transaction Auction Settlement
Terms is published on or before 140 Business Days
following the Credit Event Determination Date,
means the amount determined by the Calculation
Agent on the Credit Valuation Date as follows:

[Falls  Variable Anpassung mit  Auktionsmethode
anwendbar ist: Der Endglltige Wert ist geman
Bedingungen fur die Transaktionsbezogene Auktions-
basierte Abwicklung zu ermitteln, und falls Bedingungen
fir die Transaktionsbezogene Auktionsbasierte Abwicklung
innerhalb  von 140 Geschaftstagen nach dem
Kreditereignis-Feststellungstag verdffentlicht werden, in
denen die Bewertung von Verbindlichkeiten eines
Referenzschuldners vorgeschrieben ist, bei denen ein
Kreditereignis eingetreten ist, vorbehaltlich des Eintritts
eines Ersatzbestimmung Abwicklungsereignisses,
bezeichnet Variable Anpassung mit Auktionsmethode den
Auktions-Endkurs (wie in den maBgeblichen Bedingungen
fir die Transaktionsbezogene Auktionsbasierte Abwicklung
angegeben und als Prozentsatz ausgedrickt), der
gegebenenfalls im Rahmen der Bedingungen fir die

Transaktionsbezogene  Auktionsbasierte ~ Abwicklung
ermittelt wird und far die Vorrangigkeit der
Referenzverbindlichkeit anwendbar ist, oder, falls ein
Ersatzbestimmung  Abwicklungsereignis  eintritt  oder
innerhalb von 140 Geschaftstagen nach dem
Kreditereignis-Feststellungstag keine Bedingungen flr die
Transaktionsbezogene  Auktionsbasierte ~ Abwicklung

verdffentlicht werden, den von der Berechnungsstelle am
Kreditereignis-Bewertungstag folgendermafen bestimmten
Betrag:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(x) bei nur einer den

Endpreis; oder

Ausgewdhlten Verbindlichkeit
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(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio,

(y) den gewichteten Durchschnitt der Endkurse der
Ausgewadhlten Verbindlichkeiten, falls es sich bei den
Letzteren um ein Portfolio handelt,

in each case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for
such Selected Obligation(s).]

in jedem Fall abziglich der Bewertungsabsicherungs-
kosten flr diese Ausgewahlte(n) Verbindlichkeit(en).]

[Floating Recovery with Quotation Dealers Method:
Final Value means the amount determined by the
Calculation Agent on the Credit Valuation Date as
follows:

[Variable Anpassung mit Quotierungshandlermethode:
Endgultiger Wert bezeichnet den von der Berechnungs-
stelle am Kreditereignis-Bewertungstag folgendermafBen
bestimmten Betrag:

(x) the Final Price if there is only one Selected
Obligation; or

(x) bei nur einer den

Endpreis; oder

Ausgewadhlten Verbindlichkeit

(y) the weighted average of the Final Prices of the
Selected Obligations if the latter are a portfolio, in
each case, minus the Valuation Hedging Cost for
such Selected Obligation(s).

(y) den gewichteten Durchschnitt der Endkurse der
Ausgewadhlten Verbindlichkeiten, falls es sich bei den
Letzteren um ein Portfolio handelt; in jedem Fall abzlglich
der Bewertungsabsicherungskosten flr diese Ausge-
wahlte(n) Verpflichtung(en).

[If Physical Settlement. Not Applicable]

[Bei Physischer Abwicklung: Nicht Anwendbar]

(D.) Unwind Costs:

(D.) Abwicklungskosten:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [Standard Unwind Costs Standard Unwind
Costs means in respect of each Note, an amount,
subject to a minimum of zero, determined by the
Calculation Agent equal to the sum of (without
duplication) all costs, expenses (including break
funding charges and loss of funding, which, for the
avoidance of doubt, represents the loss of future
interest amounts to be received under the funding
arrangement(s) entered into in relation to the
Notes), tax and duties incurred directly or indirectly
by Societe Generale or any of its Affiliates in
relation to the occurrence of a Credit Event
Determination Date and the related partial or total
termination, settlement or re-establishment of any
Hedge Position, such amount to be apportioned pro
rata amongst the outstanding Notes.] [Not
Applicable: the Unwind Costs in respect of each
Note will be equal to zero.]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen

Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [Standardab-
wicklungskosten bezeichnet in Bezug auf jede

Schuldverschreibung einen Betrag — mindestens null —, der
von der Berechnungsstelle bestimmt wird, in Héhe der
Summe (ohne Doppelzahlung) aller Kosten,
Aufwendungen (einschlieBlich Vorfinanzierungskosten und
Geldverlust, wobei zur Klarstellung festgehalten wird, dass
dieser den Verlust zuklnftiger Zinsbetrage darstellt, auf die
im Rahmen eines oder mehrerer in Verbindung mit den
Schuldverschreibungen eingegangener Finanzierungs-
geschéfte ein Anspruch besteht), Steuern und Abgaben,
die unmittelbar oder mittelbar von der Societe Generale
oder einem ihrer Verbundenen Unternehmen im
Zusammenhang mit dem Eintritt eines Kreditereignis-
Feststellungstags und die damit verbundene teilweise oder
vollstandige Kundigung, Abwicklung oder
Wiederbegriindung einer etwaigen Absicherungsposition
entstehen, wobei dieser Betrag anteilig auf die
ausstehenden Schuldverschreibungen aufgeteilt wird.]
[Nicht Anwendbar: die Abwicklungskosten in Bezug auf
jede Schuldverschreibung betragen null.]

()

Provisions relating to Basket Notes:

(c) Bestimmungen in Bezug auf Korb-

Schuldverschreibungen

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[If (c) Not Applicable, delete
subparagraphs]

the remaining

[Falls (iii) Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen]

(A.) Relevant Proportion:

(A.) MaBgeblicher Anteil:

[As per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.]

[Nach MaBgabe von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen.]

(B.) Aggregate Loss Amount:

(B.) Gesamtverlustbetrag:

[If the Notes are Basket Notes which are not
Tranche Notes: As per Condition 2 of the Additional
Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes,
means at any time for a Basket Note that is not a
Tranche Note, the aggregate of the Loss Amount in
respect of all Reference Entities in respect of which
a Credit Event Determination Date has occurred.] [/f
the Notes are Tranche Notes: As per Condition 2 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes, means at any time for a Tranche
Note, the lowest of (i) the Tranche Notional Amount;
and (ii) the highest of (x) zero and (y) the difference
between (xx) the aggregate of the Loss Amount for

[Falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um Korb-
Schuldverschreibungen handelt, die keine Tranchen-
Schuldverschreibungen  sind:  Nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 2 der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen flr
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen
bezeichnet ,Gesamtverlustbetrag” zu einem beliebigen
Zeitpunkt flr eine Korb-Schuldverschreibung, die keine
Tranchen-Schuldverschreibung ist, die Summe aus dem
Verlustbetrag in Bezug auf samtliche Referenzschuldner,
bei denen ein Kreditereignis-Feststellungstag eingetreten
ist.] [Falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um
Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen handelt: Nach MaBgabe
von Bedingung 2 der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
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all Reference Entities in respect of which a Credit
Event Determination Date has occurred and (xy)
the Tranche Subordination Amount.]

for Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen
bezeichnet ,Gesamtverlustbetrag® zu einem beliebigen
Zeitpunkt bei einer Tranchen-Schuldverschreibung den
geringsten Wert aus (i) dem Tranchen-Nennbetrag und
(i) dem hdéchsten Wert aus (x) null und (y) der Differenz
zwischen (xx) der Summe des Verlustbetrags fir samtliche
Referenzschuldner, bei denen ein Kreditereignis-
Feststellungstag eingetreten ist, und (xy) dem Betrag der
Nachrangigen Tranchen.]

(C.) Loss Amount:

(C.) Verlustbetrag:

[In respect of Basket Notes and Tranche Notes if
the paragraph “N-to-M-to-Default” is stated as being
as “Not Applicable”: In relation to each Reference
Entity in respect of which a Credit Event
Determination Date has occurred, an amount equal
to the product of:

[In Bezug auf Korb-Schuldverschreibungen und Tranchen-
Schuldverschreibungen, falls der Absatz ,N-to-M-Default”
als ,Nicht Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist: In Bezug auf jeden
Referenzschuldner, bei dem ein Kreditereignis-Fest-
stellungstag eingetreten ist, ein Betrag in Hbhe des
Produkts aus:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) dem Referenzschuldner-Nominalbetrag und

(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of
zero.]

(ii) der Differenz zwischen dem Referenzpreis und dem
Endgultigen Wert, jedoch mindestens null.]

[In respect of Tranche Notes if the paragraph “N-to-
M-to-Default” is specified as “Applicable”. In relation
to each Reference Entity in respect of which a
Credit Event Determination Date has occurred:

[In Bezug auf Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen, falls der
Absatz ,N-to-M-Default” als ,Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist: In
Bezug auf jeden Referenzschuldner, bei dem ein
Kreditereignis-Feststellungstag eingetreten ist:

- which has a Ranking strictly lower than N: an
amount equal to the product of:

- dessen Rang strikt niedriger als N ist: ein Betrag in Héhe
des Produkts aus:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) dem Referenzschuldner-Nominalbetrag und

(i) the Reference Price;

(i) dem Referenzpreis;

- which has a Ranking higher than or equal to N
and lower than or equal to M: an amount equal to
the product of:

- dessen Rang mindestens bei N und hdchstens bei M
liegt: ein Betrag in Hohe des Produkts aus:

(i) the Reference Entity Notional Amount and

(i) dem Referenzschuldner-Nominalbetrag und

(i) the difference between the Reference Price
and the Final Value, subject to a minimum of
zero;

(ii) der Differenz zwischen dem Referenzpreis und dem
Endgultigen Wert, jedoch mindestens null;

- which has a Ranking strictly higher than M: an
amount equal to zero.]

- dessen Rang strikt héher als M ist: ein Betrag von null.]

(D.) Reference Entity Notional Amount:

(D.) Referenzschuldner-Nominalbetrag:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the amount equal to the
product of the Reference Entity Weighting and the
Reference Portfolio Notional Amount]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  angeben] [Fir jeden im
Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenzschuldner: der
Betrag in Ho6he des Produkis aus der Referenz-
schuldnergewichtung und dem  Referenzportfolio-
Nominalbetrag]

(E.) Tranche Notes:

(E.) Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[If (E) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

[Falls (E) Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen]

(1) Tranche Subordination Amount:

(1) Betrag der Nachrangigen Tranchen:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Reference Portfolio Notional Amount
multiplied by the Attachment Point]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [Der Referenzportfolio-
Nominalbetrag multipliziert mit der Verlustschwellen-
untergrenze]

(2) Tranche Notional Amount:

(2) Tranchen-Nennbetrag:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen

Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked | Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Notes] [The Aggregate Nominal Amount] Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [Der Gesamtnenn-
betrag]
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(3) N-to-M-to-Default: (3) N-to-M-to-Default:

[Not Applicable] [Nicht Anwendbar]

[N = [number corresponding to the Ranking starting | [N = [Zahl, die dem Rang entspricht, ab der der
at which the Aggregate Loss Amount will be an | Gesamtverlustbetrag Gber null liegt]

amount greater than zero]

M = [number corresponding to the Ranking above | M = [Zahl, die dem Rang entspricht, ab der der

which the Aggregate Loss Amount ceases to
increase]

Gesamtverlustbetrag nicht mehr steigt]

P= [number of Reference Entities within the
Reference Portfolio]]

P = [Zahl der Referenzschuldner im Referenzportfolio]]

(4) Attachment Point:

(4) Verlustschwellenuntergrenze:

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes if the paragraph “N-
to-M-to-Default” is specified as “Not Applicable”:
[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]%)] [if the paragraph “N-to-M-to-Default” is
specified as “Applicable”: [(N-1)/P]%]

[Falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um
Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen handelt, falls der Absatz
,N-to-M-to-Default® als ,Nicht Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist:
[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben] %)] [falls der Absatz ,N-
to-M-to-Default” als ,Anwendbar” bezeichnet ist: [(N-
1)/P] %]

(5) Detachment Point:

(5) Verlustschwellenobergrenze:

[If the Notes are Tranche Notes with N-to-M-to-
Default is Not Applicable: [Specify for the purposes
of Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]%]] [If N-to-M-to-
Default is specified as Applicable : [M/P]%]

[Falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen um
Tranchen-Schuldverschreibungen handelt, bei denen N-to-
M-to-Default als Nicht Anwendbar bezeichnet ist: [Flir die
Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fiir ~ Kreditereignisbezogene  Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben] %]] [Falls N-to-M-to-Default als
Anwendbar bezeichnet ist: [M/P] %]

(F.) Reference Portfolio Notional Amount:

(F.) Referenzportfolio-Nominalbetrag:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [If the Notes are Tranche Notes: An amount
equal to the Aggregate Nominal Amount divided by
the difference between the Detachment Point and
the Attachment Point] [If the Notes are Basket
Notes: An amount equal to the Aggregate Nominal
Amount]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [Falls es sich bei den
Schuldverschreibungen um  Tranchen-Schuldverschrei-
bungen handelt: Ein Betrag in Hohe des Gesamt-
nennbetrags, dividiert durch die Differenz zwischen der
Verlustschwellenobergrenze und der Verlustschwellen-
untergrenze] [Falls es sich bei den Schuldverschreibungen
um Korb-Schuldverschreibungen handelt: Ein Betrag in
Hohe des Gesamtnennbetrags]

(G.) Reference Price:

(G.) Referenzpreis:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [[Insert the percentage] %]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen

Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  angeben] [[Prozentsatz ein-
figen] %]

[For each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the percentage specified as
such in "Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto or, if
not specified, 100%.]

[FUr jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner: der als solcher im ,Anhang fiir Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissions-
bedingungen  angegebene  Prozentsatz  oder, in
Ermangelung einer solchen Angabe, 100 %.]

(H.) Reference Entity Weighting:

(H.) Referenzschuldnergewichtung:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [For Each Reference Entity comprised in the
Reference Portfolio: the proportion specified as
such in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto
which will be adjusted in accordance with the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Credit Linked Notes]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen far Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  angeben] [Fir jeden im
Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenzschuldner: der als
solcher im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
angegebene Anteil, der nach MaBgabe der Bestimmungen
der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen far
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen angepasst
wird]

() Interest Recovery:

(l.) Zinsanpassung:

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] %] [Floating Interest
Recovery]] [Not relevant. The Notes do not bear

[Feste Zinsanpassung mit einem Zinsanpassungssatz von
[Prozentsatz einfligen] %] [Variable Zinsanpassung]] [Nicht
relevant. Die Schuldverschreibungen sind unverzinslich.]
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interest.] [Not relevant. The sub-paragraph “Accrual
of Interest upon Credit Event” is specified as being
“Guaranteed Coupon”]

[Nicht relevant. Der Unterabsatz ,Zinsanfall bei Kredit-
ereignis” ist als ,Garantierter Kupon*“ angegeben]

(d) Transaction Type:

(d) Transaktionsart:

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: wie im ,Anhang
fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser
Emissionsbedingungen angegeben]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Fir Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner, wie im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
angegeben]

(e) [Deliverable/Selected] Obligation(s):

(e) [Lieferbare/Ausgewdhlte] Verbindlichkeit(en):

[[/f Cash Settlement and Fixed Recovery: Not
Applicable] [Applicable]]

[[Falls Barausgleich und Festgelegte Anpassung: Nicht
Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]]

[If (v) Not Applicable, delete the remaining]

[Falls (v) Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(A.) [Deliverable/
Category:

Selected] Obligation

(A.) [Lieferbare/Ausgewahlte] Verbindlichkeiten-

kategorie:

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Category specified in “Annex for Credit
Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: Die im ,Anhang
fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser
Emissionsbedingungen  bezeichnete  [Lieferbare/Aus-
gewadhlte] Verbindlichkeitenkategorie]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-

Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation  Category

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
FOr jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner die im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene

specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto] | Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnete [Lieferbare] [Ausgewahlte] Verbindlich-
keitenkategorie]
(B.) [Deliverable/ Selected] Obligation | (B.) [Lieferbare/Ausgewaihite] Verbindlichkeiten-
Characteristics: merkmale:

[For Single Name Notes: The [Deliverable/Selected]
Obligation Characteristics specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: Die im ,Anhang
fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen” dieser
Emissionsbedingungen bezeichneten [Lieferbaren/Aus-
gewadhlten] Verbindlichkeitenmerkmale]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the
[Deliverable] [Selected] Obligation Characteristics
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner die im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichneten [Lieferbaren] [Ausgewahlten] Verbindlich-
keitenmerkmale]

(f)  Accrual of Interest upon Credit Event:

(f) Zinsanfall bei Kreditereignis:

[In respect of [Fixed Rate Note Provisions:]
[Floating Rate Note Provisions:] [Structured Interest
Note Provisions:]] [No Accrued Interest upon Credit
Event] [Accrued Interest upon Credit Event]
[Guaranteed Coupon] [If no coupon: Not relevant.
The Notes do not bear interest.]

[In Bezug auf [Bestimmungen flir Festverzinsliche
Schuldverschreibungen:] [Bestimmungen fiir Variabel
Verzinsliche Schuldverschreibungen:] [Bestimmungen fiir
Schuldverschreibungen mit Strukturierter Verzinsung:]]
[Keine  Aufgelaufenen  Zinsen bei  Kreditereignis]
[Aufgelaufene Zinsen bei Kreditereignis] [Garantierter

Kupon] [Falls kein Kupon: Nicht relevant. Die
Schuldverschreibungen sind unverzinslich.]
[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where “Settlement | [Anm.: Garantierter Kupon nur, wenn ,Europdische

Type” is “European Settlement’]

Austlibung“ als ,Austlibungsart” angegeben ist]

(g) Observed Interest:

(g) Beobachteter Zins:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.2 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 1.2 der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]

[If (vi) Not Applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraph]

[Falls (vii) Nicht Anwendbar, den weiteren Unterabsatz
streichen)
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[- Interest Observation Dates

[- Zinsbeobachtungstage:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben]]

(h) First Credit Event Occurrence Date:

(h) Erster Tag des Aufiretens des Kreditereignisses:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben]

(i) Scheduled Last Credit Event Occurrence
Date:

(i) PlanméaBiger Letzter Tag des Auftretens des
Kreditereignisses:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The 4t Business Day immediately
preceding the Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen  angeben] [Der 4. dem
Planmé&Bigen Falligkeitstag unmittelbar vorausgehende
Geschéftstag.]

(j) Reference Entity(ies):

(j) Referenzschuldner:

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto (or any Successor
thereto)]

[Bei  Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: ~ Wie  im
»Anhang fur Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnet (oder
ein Nachfolger dieses Referenzschuldners)]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: The Reference Entities comprised in
the Reference Portfolio as described in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto (or any Successor
thereto)]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Die im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenzschuldner,
wie im ,Anhang fur Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnet
(oder ein Nachfolger dieser Referenzschuldner)]

[so far as the Issuer is aware and/or able to
ascertain from information published by the
Reference Entity:

[soweit der Emittentin bekannt und/oder aus den vom
Referenzschuldner verdffentlichten  Informationen  er-
sichtlich:

Information required under item 2.2.2 of Annex 17
to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No
2019/980 to be provided]

Informationen, die gemans Punkt 2.2.2 von Anhang 17 der
Delegierten Verordnung (EU) der Kommission Nr.
2019/980 bereitzustellen sind]

(k) Multiple Successor(s): (k) Einer von Mehreren Nachfolgern/Mehrere
Nachfolger:

[For Single Name Notes: [Not Applicable] | [Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: [Nicht An-

[Applicable (i.e. Condition 1.4 (Multiple Successors) | wendbar] [Anwendbar (d. h. Bedingung 1.4 (Multiple

of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes apply to the Notes to deal with the
split, if any, of the Reference Entity into several
resulting entities).]

Successors) der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen flr
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen findet auf
die Schuldverschreibungen im Fall einer eventuellen
Aufteilung des Referenzschuldners in mehrere neue
Einheiten Anwendung).]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: Not relevant. The provisions of
Condition 1.4 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes do not apply. For
the avoidance of doubt, splits into several resulting
entities are dealt with in the definition of Successor
as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes.]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Nicht relevant. Die Bestimmungen von Bedingung 1.4 der
Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen sind nicht anzuwenden.

Zur Klarstellung gilt: Aufteilungen in mehrere neue
Einheiten werden in der Begriffsbestimmung von
,2Nachfolger* nach Malgabe von Bedingung2 der

Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen flir Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen behandelt.]

() Reference Obligation(s):

() Referenzverbindlichkeit(en):

[CUSIP/ISIN:
[None]]

[Insert the identification number]

[CUSIP/ISIN: [Kennnummer einfligen] [Keine]]

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei  Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen:  Wie  im
»+Anhang far Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen” dieser Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnet]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Reference
Obligation(s) specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto] [(or any obligation replacing such
original Reference Obligation as per the Additional

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden in dem Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner die im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnete(n) Referenzverbindlichkeit(en)] [(oder eine
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Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes).]

diese  urspringliche  Referenzverbindlichkeit  nach
MaBgabe der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen
ersetzende Verbindlichkeit).]

(m) Credit Events:

(m) Kreditereignisse:

[For Single Name Notes: The Credit Event(s)
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: Das (die) im
»Anhang fur Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnete(n)
Kreditereignis(se)]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Credit
Event(s) specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner das (die) im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnete(n) Kreditereignis(se)]

(n) Notice of Publicly Available Information: (n) Mitteilung tiber Offentlich Verfligbare
Informationen:

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for | [Bei  Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: ~ Wie  im

Credit Linked Notes” hereto] »<Anhang fur Kreditereignisbezogene Schuld-

verschreibungen® dieser

bezeichnet]

Emissionsbedingungen

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
FOr jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner, wie im ,Anhang flr Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnet]

(o) Obligation(s):

(o) Verbindlichkeit(en):

(A.) Obligation Category:

(A.) Verbindlichkeitenkategorie:

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation Category
specified in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: Die im ,Anhang
fur Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser
Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnete Verbindlichkeiten-
kategorie]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Obligation
Category specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner die im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnete Verbindlichkeitenkategorie]

(B.) Obligation Characteristics:

(B.) Verbindlichkeitenmerkmale:

[For Single Name Notes: The Obligation
Characteristics specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto]

[Bei Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: Die im ,Anhang
fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser
Emissionsbedingungen bezeichneten Verbindlichkeiten-
merkmale]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to-
Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Obligation
Characteristics specified in “Annex for Credit Linked
Notes” hereto]

[Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-
schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner die im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichneten Verbindlichkeitenmerkmale]

(p) All Guarantees:

(p) Alle Garantien:

[For Single Name Notes: As specified in “Annex for | [Bei  Single-Name-Schuldverschreibungen: ~ Wie  im

Credit Linked Notes” hereto] ~Anhang fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
angegeben]

[For Basket Notes, Tranche Notes and First-to- | [Bei Korb-Schuldverschreibungen, Tranchen-Schuldver-

Default Notes: For each Reference Entity
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, as specified
in “Annex for Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

schreibungen und First-to-Default-Schuldverschreibungen:
Fir jeden im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen Referenz-
schuldner, wie im ,Anhang flur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen® dieser Emissionsbedingungen
bezeichnet]
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(q) Additional provisions relating to certain | (q) Zuséatzliche Bestimmungen in Bezug auf
specific Reference Entities: bestimmte spezifische Referenzschuldner:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable, if relevant, as per | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar, falls relevant, nach

Condition 1.8 of the Additional
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

Terms and

MaBgabe von Bedingung 1.8 der Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen]

(r) Business Days (for the purposes of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes):

(r) Geschiftstage (fur die Zwecke der Zusitzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fir Kredit-
ereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen):

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes] [The Business Days specified in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [Die im ,Anhang fir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen® dieser
Emissionsbedingungen angegebenen Geschéftstage]

(s) Reference Entities Switch and/or Maturity
Extension at the option of the Issuer:

(s) Wechsel (Switch) der Referenzschuldner
und/oder Laufzeitverlangerung nach Wahl der
Emittentin

[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.11
of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes.

The Reference Portfolio as described in “Annex for
Credit Linked Notes” hereto constitutes the
components of the [specify the Initial Index Name]
Serie [i] Version [j], as published by Markit on
[specify the Website link].

By no later than [specify the date], the Issuer will

have the right but not the obligation to apply
Reference Entities Switch [and Maturity Extension].

Amended Reference Portfolio: components of the
[specify the Initial Index Name] Series [i]+1, Version
1, to be published by Markit on [specify the Website
linK].

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
Bedingung 1.11 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen.

Das im ,Anhang fir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen® bezeichnete Referenzportfolio umfasst
die Bestandteile des von Markit unter [Link zur Website
angeben) verdffentlichten [Namen des Anfdnglichen Index
angeben] Serie [i] Version [j],

Die Emittentin ist berechtigt, aber nicht verpflichtet, bis
spatestens zum [den Tag angeben] einen Wechsel
(Switch) der Referenzschuldner [und eine Laufzeitver-
langerung] vorzunehmen.

Geéandertes Referenzportfolio: Bestandteile des von Markit
unter [Link zur Website angeben] verdffentlichten [Namen
des Anfénglichen Index angeben) Serie [i]+1 Version 1.

[Maturity Extension: Amended [Scheduled] Maturity
Date: [specify the Amended [Scheduled] Maturity
Date]).] ]

[Laufzeitverlangerung: Geénderter [PlanméaBiger] Fallig-
keitstag: [den Geanderten [PlanmaBigen] Falligkeitstag
angeben]).] ]

(If (s) Not Applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraph)

(Falls (s) ,Nicht Anwendbar” ist, den weiteren Unterabsatz
streichen)

- Notice Period:

- Kiindigungsfrist:

[Insert the number of days] days prior to the
effective date of the Reference Entities Switch [and
Maturity Extension].

- [Anzahl der Tage] Tage vor dem Tag des
Wirksamwerdens  des  Wechsels (Switch) der
Referenzschuldner [und der Laufzeitverlangerung]
[einflgen].

(t) Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes:

(t) Sonstige anwendbare Optionen nach MaBgabe
der Zusiétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir
Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Specify the source of Publicly
Available Information which must be used when the
Public Source is different from the sources specified
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit
Linked Notes] [Specify the Specified Number if
such number is different from the Specified Number

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Die Quelle der Offentlich Verfiigbaren
Informationen angeben, die zu verwenden ist, wenn die
Offentliche Informationsquelle von den in den Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Kreditereignisbezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angegebenen Quellen abweicht]
[Die Festgelegte Anzahl angeben, falls diese Anzahl von

anticipated in the Additional Terms and Conditions | der in den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir

for Credit Linked Notes] Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen
prognostizierten Festgelegten Anzahl abweichf]

[If “Physical Settlement” applies: Specify if Include | [Falls ,Physische Abwicklung“ Anwendung findet:

Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest | Angeben, falls ,Mit Aufgelaufenen  Zinsen  auf

applies] Lieferbare/Ausgewéhite  Verbindlichkeiten® Anwendung
findet]

[If “Cash Settlement” applies and one of the
following options applies to the Notes; Specify if
[Include Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued

[Falls ,Barausgleich® Anwendung findet und eine der
folgenden Optionen auf die Schuldverschreibungen
Anwendung findet: Angeben, falls [Mit Aufgelaufenen
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Interest]  or  [Exclude  Deliverable/Selected
Obligation Accrued Interest] applies]

Zinsen auf Lieferbare/Ausgewéhlte Verbindlichkeiten] oder
[Ohne Aufgelaufene Zinsen auf Lieferbare/ Ausgewdéhite
Verbindlichkeiten] anzuwenden ist]

[Specify the [Excluded Obligation], [Excluded
Deliverable ~ Obligation]  [Excluded  Selected
Obligation] if different from the provisions of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked
Notes]

[Die [Ausgenommene Verbindlichkeit], [Ausgenommene
Lieferbare Verbindlichkeit] [Ausgenommene Ausgewéhite
Verbindlichkeit] falls von den Bestimmungen der
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir Kreditereignis-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen abweichend]

[Specify if Non-Reference Entity Original Non-
Standard Reference Obligation is applicable]

[Angeben, falls Urspringliche Nicht-StandardméBige-
Referenzverbindlichkeit eines Nicht-Referenzschuldners
anwendbar ist]

[Specify if Substitution Event Early Redemption is
not applicable]

[Angeben, falls »Vorzeitige Rickzahlung bei

Ersetzungsereignis* nicht anwendbar ist]

[Specify Trigger Percentage applicable to a

Reference Entity if applicable]

[Fiir einen Referenzschuldner geltenden Trigger-Prozent-
satz angeben, falls anwendbar]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Credit Factor if different from 100%)]

[Falls  Korb-Schuldverschreibungen oder  Tranchen-
Schuldverschreibungen: Zins-Kredit-Faktor angeben, falls
von 100 % abweichend]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify Interest
Loss Factor if different from 100%)

[Falls  Korb-Schuldverschreibungen oder Tranchen-
Schuldverschreibungen: Zins-Verlust-Faktor angeben, falls
abweichend von 100 %]

[Specify Principal Credit Factor if different from
100%)

[Prinzipal-Kredit-Faktor angeben, falls abweichend von
100 %]

[Specify Principal Loss Factor if different from
100%]

[Prinzipal-Verlust-Faktor angeben, falls abweichend von
100 %]

[If Basket Notes or Tranche Notes: Specify if
Preliminary Cash Redemption is not applicable]

Tranchen-
Vorldufiger

[Falls  Korb-Schuldverschreibungen  oder
Schuldverschreibungen:  Angeben,  falls
Barriickzahlungsbetrag nicht anwendbar ist]

[Only if Condition 3 "Additional Provisions related to
CDS Spread” applies:

[Nur falls Bedingung 3 "Zusatzliche Bestimmungen fir
CDS Spread" anzuwenden ist:

[Specify the External Provider Time if different from
15.00 London time]

[die Zeit des Externen-Anbieters angeben, sofern

abweichend von 15:00 Uhr Londoner Zeit]

[Specify the Quotation Deadline Time if different
from 17.00 London time]

[den Zeitounkt der Quotierungsfrist angeben, sofern
abweichend von 17:00 Uhr Londoner Zeif]

[Specify the Quotation Method if different from
Offen

[die Quotierungsmethode angeben, sofern abweichend
vom Angebof]

[Specify the Reference CDS Currency if different
from that specified in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]

[die Referenz-CDS Wéhrung angeben, sofern abweichend
von der Wéhrung, die in den Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fiir Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschrei-
bungen angegeben ist]

[Specify the Reference CDS Maturity if different
from 5-yearn]

[die Referenz-CDS Fiélligkeit angeben, sofern abweichend
von 5-Jahren]

[Specify if Switch Option is not applicable]

[Angeben, wenn die Wechseloption nicht anwendbar isf]

[Specify if Credit Index Option is applicable]]

[Angeben, falls Kreditindexoption anwendbar ist]]

[Specify if Limited Recourse Provisions are
applicable]]

[Angeben, wenn Bestimmungen beziiglich Beschrinkter
Rlickgriffsrechte anwendbar sind]|

(vi) Bond Linked Notes Provisions:

(vi) Bestimmungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Bond Linked Notes]

[Nicht Anwendbar[ [Anwendbar, vorbehaltlich der Be-
stimmungen der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir
Anleihebezogene Schuldverschreibungen]

[If Not Applicable,
subparagraphs]

delete  the remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(a) Type of Bond Linked Notes:

(a) Art der Anleihebezogenen Schuldver-
schreibungen:

[Single Bond Linked Notes] [Basket Bond Linked
Notes]

[Einzelanleihebezogene Schuldverschreibungen]
[Anleihekorbbezogene Schuldverschreibungen]

(b) Terms relating to Settlement:

(b) Abwicklungsmodalitéaten:

(A.) Settlement Type:

(A.) Ausiibungsart:

[American Settlement] [European Settlement]

[Amerikanische Auslibung] [Europdische Ausiibung]
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[NB : American Settlement only if Single Bond
Linked Notes]

[Anm.: Amerikanische Ausidbung nur bei Einzel-

anleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen]

(B.) Bond Final Value:

(B) Endgiiltiger Anleihewert:

[Fixed Recovery: [Insert the percentage] per cent.]

[Festgelegte Anpassung: [Prozentsatz einfligen] Prozent.]

[Floating Recovery: For each Bond, the percentage
determined by the Calculation Agent as follows:

[Variable Anpassung: Fir jede Anleihe der von der
Berechnungsstelle wie folgt ermittelte Prozentsatz:

(i)  the Bond Final Price;

(i) der Endgultige Anleihekurs;

(ii) plus, if any, any partial or total repayment in
cash of the Bond which would have been paid
to the holders of the Bond under the Bond as
of the Bond Final Value Determination Date as
determined by the Calculation Agent,
expressed as a percentage of the Bond
Notional Amount;

(i) gegebenenfalls zuziglich einer teilweisen oder
vollstandigen Barrlickzahlung der Anleihe, die nach
Feststellung der Berechnungsstelle am Fest-
stellungstag des Endgiiltigen Anleihewerts an die
Inhaber der Anleihe im Rahmen der Anleihe gezahit
worden waére, ausgedriickt als Prozentsatz des
Anleihenennbetrags;

(iii) plus, if any, the price (expressed as a
percentage of the Bond Notional Amount),
calculated using a method similar to that to
determine the Bond Final Price, of any
securities which would have been delivered to
the holders of the Bond under the Bond as of
the Bond Final Value Determination Date as

determined by the Calculation Agent;

(iii) gegebenenfalls zuzuglich des mit einer vergleichbaren
Methode wie derjenigen fir die Ermittlung des
Endgultigen Anleihekurses berechneten Kurses von
Wertpapieren (ausgedrickt als Prozentsatz des
Anleihenennbetrags), die nach Feststellung der
Berechnungsstelle am Feststellungstag des
Endgultigen Anleihewerts im Rahmen der Anleihe an

die Inhaber der Anleihe geliefert worden wéren;

minus the Valuation Hedging Cost;

abzlglich der Bewertungsabsicherungskosten;

(v) minus any amount due and payable under the
Bond in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Bond as in force and effect
as of the Issue Date (expressed as a
percentage of the Bond Notional Amount)
which is still unpaid at the Bond Final Value
Determination Date, as determined by the
Calculation Agent.

(v) abzlglich eines Betrags (ausgedrickt als Prozentsatz
des Anleihenennbetrags), der im Rahmen der Anleihe
gemaR den zum Emissionstag glltigen Emissions-
bedingungen der Anleihe fallig und zahlbar ist und
zum Feststellungstag des Endgiltigen Anleihewerts
nach Feststellung der Berechnungsstelle noch nicht
gezahlt wurde.

[The Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of
zero per cent. and to a maximum of 100 per cent.]
[The Bond Final Value is subject to a minimum of
zero per cent. and may be higher than one hundred
per cent. (100%).]

[Der Endgultige Anleihewert betragt mindestens 0 Prozent
und héchstens 100 Prozent.] [Der Endgultige Anleihewert
betragt mindestens 0 Prozent und kann hundert Prozent
(100 %) Ubersteigen.]

(C.) Auction Period for the purposes of the
Bond Final Price determination:

(C.) Auktionszeitraum fiir die Bestimmung des
Endgiiltigen Anleihekurses:

[Specify number] consecutive Business Days (as
defined in paragraph 22(k) below)

[Anzahl angeben] aufeinanderfolgende Geschéftstage (wie
in Absatz 22(k) unten definiert)

(D.) Bond Final Price Accrued Interest:

(D.) Aufgelaufene Zinsen auf

Anleihekurs:

Endgiiltigen

[In the case of Fixed Recovery: Not Applicable] [In
the case of Floating Recovery : [Excluding Accrued
Interest] [Including Accrued Interest]]

[Im Fall einer Festgelegten Anpassung: Nicht Anwendbar]
[Im Fall einer Variablen Anpassung: [Ohne Aufgelaufene
Zinsen] [Mit Aufgelaufenen Zinsen]]

(E.) Breakage Cost Amount:

(E.) Betrag der Vorfélligkeitsentschadigung:

[Not Applicable: the Breakage Cost Amount will be
equal to zero] [Applicable: means an amount
determined by the Calculation Agent expressed in
the Specified Currency of the Notes using the
Relevant Spot Exchange Rate on the relevant
calculation date(s), as determined by the
Calculation Agent, equal to the fees, costs and
expenses arising directly or indirectly, in connection
with (i) terminating, unwinding, realizing or
enforcing any repurchase transaction (if any) with
the Bond as underlying asset, the purpose of which
is to refinance the relevant Bond and (ii) entering
into, trading or increasing any repurchase
transaction (or any transaction with similar
purposes) with the Collateral Assets (if any) as
underlying asset, the purpose of which is to
refinance the Collateral Assets (if any). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Breakage Cost Amount

[Nicht Anwendbar: der Betrag der Vorfélligkeits-
entschadigung bezeichnet einen Betrag in Héhe von null]
[Anwendbar: bezeichnet einen von der Berechnungsstelle
ermittelten Betrag, ausgedrickt in der Festgelegten
Wahrung der Schuldverschreibungen, der anhand des
MaBgeblichen Devisenkassakurses an dem (den)
jeweiligen Berechnungstag(en) (wie von der
Berechnungsstelle festgestellt) ermittelt wird und der den
Geblhren, Kosten und Aufwendungen entspricht, die
direkt oder indirekt im Zusammenhang mit (i) der
Kindigung, Rickabwicklung, Realisierung oder
Durchsetzung eines (gegebenenfalls) bestehenden
Pensionsgeschéfts mit der Anleihe als Basiswert, das zur
Refinanzierung der betreffenden Anleihe abgeschlossen
wurde, und (ii) dem Abschluss, dem Handel oder der

Erhéhung eines  Pensionsgeschafts (oder einer
Transaktion zu vergleichbaren Zwecken) mit den
Sicherheiten (gegebenenfalls) als Basiswert, das der
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may be a positive amount (if to be received by
Societe Generale or any of its Affiliates) or a
negative amount (if to be paid by Societe Generale
or any of its Affiliates)]

Refinanzierung der Sicherheiten (gegebenenfalls) dient,
entstehen. Zur Klarstellung gilt: Der Betrag der
Vorfalligkeitsentschadigung kann ein positiver Betrag —
wenn er an die Societe Generale oder eines ihrer
Verbundenen Unternehmen zu zahlen ist — oder ein
negativer Betrag — wenn er von der Societe Generale oder
einem ihrer Verbundenen Unternehmen zu zahlen ist —
sein]

(F.) Relevant Proportion:

(F.) MaBgeblicher Anteil:

[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes.]

[Nach MaBgabe von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fur Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen angeben.]

()

Provisions relating to Basket Bond Linked
Notes:

(c) Bestimmungen fir
Schuldverschreibungen:

Anleihekorbbezogene

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[If (c) Not Applicable, delete
subparagraphs]

the remaining

[Falls (c) Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(A.) Aggregate Loss Amount:

(A.) Gesamtverlustbetrag:

[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes],

[Nach MaBgabe von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben)

(B.) Loss Amount:

(B.) Verlustbetrag:

[Specify as per Condition 2 of the Additional Terms
and Conditions for Bond Linked Notes]

[Nach MaBgabe von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben]

(C.) Reference Portfolio Notional Amount:

(C.) Referenzportfolio-Nominalbetrag:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben]

(D.) Reference Price:

(D.) Referenzpreis:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the Reference
Portfolio: the percentage specified as such in
paragraph “Tables” below]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zuséatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben] [Flr jede im Referenzportfolio
enthaltene Anleihe: der als solcher im nachstehenden
Absatz ,Tabellen* angegebene Prozentsatz]

(E.) Bond Weighting:

(E.) Anleihegewichtung:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes] [For each Bond comprised in the Reference
Portfolio: the proportion specified as such in
paragraph “Tables” below]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben] [Fir jede im Referenzportfolio
enthaltene Anleihe: der als solcher im nachstehenden
Absatz ,Tabellen* angegebene Anteil]

(F.) Interest Recovery Rate:

(F.) Restwert-Zinssatz:

[Fixed Interest Recovery with an Interest Recovery
Rate of [Insert the percentage] per cent.] [Floating
Interest Recovery] [Not Applicable. The Notes do
not bear interest.] [Not Applicable. The sub-
paragraph “Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event” is
specified as “Guaranteed Coupon”]

[Festgelegte Zinsanpassung mit einem Restwert-Zinssatz
von [Prozentsatz einfiigen] Prozent.] [Variable
Zinsanpassung] [Nicht Anwendbar. Die Schuldver-
schreibungen sind unverzinslich.] [Nicht Anwendbar. Der
Unterabsatz ,Zinsanfall bei Anleiheereignis® ist als
,Garantierter Kupon“ angegeben]

(d) Accrual of Interest upon Bond Event:

(d) Zinsanfall bei Anleiheereignis:

[No Accrued Interest upon Bond Event] [Accrued
Interest upon Bond Event] [Guaranteed Coupon] [/f

[Keine Aufgelaufenen Zinsen bei Anleiheereignis]
[Aufgelaufene Zinsen bei Anleiheereignis] [Garantierter

no coupon: Not relevant. The Notes do not bear | Kupon] [Falls kein Kupon: Nicht relevant. Die
interest.] Schuldverschreibungen sind unverzinslich.]

[NB: Guaranteed Coupon only where “Settlement | [Anm.: Garantierter Kupon nur, wenn ,Européische
Type” is “European Settlement’] Austlibung“ als ,Austlibungsart” angegeben ist]

(e) First Bond Event Occurrence Date: (e) Erster Tag des Auftretens des

Anleiheereignisses:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  fiir ~Anleihebezogene Schuld-
verschreibungen angeben]
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(f) Bond(s):

(f)  Anleihe(n):

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond

described in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Bei Einzelanleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Die
im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen® beschriebene
Anleihe]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bonds
comprised in the Reference Portfolio as described
in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Bei Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Die
Anleihen, die in dem im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen®
beschriebenen Referenzportfolio enthalten sind]

[so far as the Issuer is aware and/or able to
ascertain from information published by the Bond
Issuer:

[soweit der Emittentin bekannt und/oder aus den von der
Anleiheemittentin veréffentlichten Informationen ersichtlich:

Information required under item 2.2.2 of Annex 17
to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No
2019/980 to be provided]

Informationen, die geméaB Punkt 2.2.2 von Anhang 17 der
Delegierten Verordnung (EU) der Kommission Nr.
2019/980 bereitzustellen sind]

(g) Bond Currency:

(g) Anleihewéhrung:

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Currency
described in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Bei Einzelanleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Die
im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen® beschriebene
Anleihewahrung]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: The Bond
Currency described in respect of the Bonds
comprised in the Reference Portfolio as described
in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Bei Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Die
Anleihewahrung, die fur die Anleihen angegeben ist, die in
dem im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen“ beschriebenen
Referenzportfolio enthalten sind]

(h) Bond Notional Amount:

(h) Anleihenennbetrag:

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue Date,
the Bond Notional Amount in the Bond Currency,
each as described in paragraph “Tables” below and
thereafter as modified in accordance with the
definition of “Bond Notional Amount” in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes.]

[Bei Einzelanleihebezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Am
Emissionstag der Anleihenennbetrag in der Anleihe-
wahrung, jeweils wie im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen®
beschrieben, und  danach der gemaB  der
Begriffsbestimmung von ,Anleihenennbetrag® in den
Zuséatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen gednderte Betrag.]

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: On the Issue Date,
the Bond Notional Amount in the Bond Currency
described in respect of the Bonds comprised in the
Reference Portfolio, all as described in paragraph
“Tables” below and thereafter as modified in
accordance with the definition of “Bond Notional
Amount” in the Additional Terms and Conditions for
Bond Linked Notes]

[Bei Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Am
Emissionstag der Anleihenennbetrag in der Anleihe-
wahrung, die fir die im Referenzportfolio enthaltenen
Anleihen angegeben ist, jeweils wie im nachstehenden
Absatz ,Tabellen® beschrieben, und danach der gemaf der
Begriffsbestimmung von ,Anleihenennbetrag® in den
Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen gednderte Betrag.]

(i) Bond Events:

(i) Anleiheereignisse:

[For Single Bond Linked Notes: The Bond Event(s)
specified in paragraph “Tables” below]

[Bei Einzelanleihebezogenen
Das/Die im nachstehenden
bezeichnete(n) Anleiheereignis(se)]

Schuldverschreibungen:
Absatz  ,Tabellen®

[For Basket Bond Linked Notes: For each Bond
comprised in the Reference Portfolio, the Bond

[Bei Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen: Fur
jede in dem Referenzportfolio enthaltene Anleihe das/die

Event(s) specified in paragraph “Tables” below] im nachstehenden Absatz ,Tabellen® beschriebene(n)
Anleiheereignis(se)]
(j) Notice of Publicly Available Information: (i) Mitteilung tber Offentlich Verfiigbare

Informationen:

[Applicable] / [Not Applicable]

[Anwendbar]/[Nicht Anwendbar]

(k) Business Days (for the purposes of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes):

(k) Geschiftstage (fiir die Zwecke der Zusitzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen):

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung2 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben]

() Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes:

() Sonstige anwendbare Optionen nach MaBgabe
der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Anleihebezogene Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Specify the source of Publicly
Available Information which must be used when the
Public Source is different from the sources specified
in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond
Linked Notes] [Specify the Specified Number if

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Die Quelle der Offentlich Verfiigbaren
Informationen angeben, die zu verwenden ist, wenn die
Offentliche Informationsquelle von den in den Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene Schuldver-
schreibungen angegebenen Quellen abweichf] [Die
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such number is different from the Specified Number
anticipated in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Bond Linked Notes] [Specify the number of
Business Days which must be used in relation to
the definition of First Quotation Day if such number
is different from the number anticipated in the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Bond Linked
Notes]

Festgelegte Anzahl angeben, falls diese Anzahl von der in
den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihe-
bezogene Schuldverschreibungen prognostizierten
Festgelegten Anzahl abweichfl [Die Anzahl von
Geschéftstagen angeben, die in Bezug auf die
Begriffsbestimmung von ,Erster Quotierungstag” zu
verwenden ist, falls diese Anzahl von der in den
Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir Anleihebezogene
Schuldverschreibungen prognostizierten Anzahl abweicht]

[If Basket Bond Linked Notes: Specify if Preliminary
Cash Redemption Amount is Not Applicable]

[Specify if Reference Transaction Price is Not
Applicable]

[Bei  Anleihekorbbezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen:
Angeben, ob ,Vorldufiger Barrlickzahlungsbetrag“ Nicht
Anwendbar isf]

[Angeben,
Anwendbar isf]

ob ,Referenztransaktionspreis*” Nicht

[Specify if Reference Transaction Price is | [Angeben, ob ,Referenztransaktionspreis” Anwendbar ist]
Applicable]
(m) Tables: (m) Tabellen:

[Insert the following table if “Type of Bond Linked

[Die folgende Tabelle einfiigen, falls ,Art der Anleihe-

Notes” is “Single Bond Linked Notes”: bezogenen  Schuldverschreibungen® ,Einzelanleihebe-
zogene Schuldverschreibungen® ist:
Bond Bond | Underlyi| Bond Bond Bond Maturity Anleihe- Emittentin ISIN- Anleihe- | Anleihe- | Laufzeit
Issuer | Guaranto ng ISIN | Currency | Notional garantin des Code | wahrung | nenn-
r[ifany |Borrowe| Code Amount [agfs. [falls | Basiswerts | der An- betrag
[if none | r[if any Anleihe- keine, die [ggfs. [falls | leihe
then [if none emittentin | maBgebliche | keine, die
delete then Spalte maBgebliche
relevant | delete léschen]] Spalte
column]] | relevant I6schen]]
column]]
[®] [®] [®] [®] [®] [®] [®]] [®] [e] [e] (o] [e] [e] [e]]

[For the following tables,
necessary:

add as many lines as

[In den folgenden Tabellen weitere Zeilen nach Bedarf
einfligen:

[Insert the following table if ‘type of Bond Linked

[Die folgende Tabelle einfiigen, falls ,Art der Anleihe-

Notes” is “Basket Bond Linked Notes”: bezogenen Schuldverschreibungen®  ,Anleihekorbbe-
zogene Schuldverschreibungen” ist:
Reference Portfolio: Referenzportfolio:
Bond | Bond |Underlyin Bond | Bond | Bond | Bond |Maturi| Ref- Anleihe-| Anleihe- Emittenti ISIN- | An- An- An- | Lauf- | Refe-
Issuer |Guaranto g ISIN |Weight-|Curren|Notion| ty |erence| [emitten-| garantin n des Code |leihe-| leihe- |leihe-| zeit |renz-
r [if any |Borrower| Code ing cy al Price tin [gafs. Basis- der An- | ge- | wéh- [nenn- preis
[if none |[if any [if Amoun [falls werts leihe |wich-| rung | be-
then none t keine, die [agfs. tung: trag
delete then maBgeb- [falls
relevant | delete liche keine, die
column] | relevant Spalte maBgeb-
column]] loschen]] liche
(o1 | (o | (o | (o1 | (o | (o] | [0] | (0] ][] P
[®] [®] [®] [®] [®] [®] [®] | [®] | [e]]

[For all Basket Bond Linked Notes where there is
more than one Bond, split the Bond ISIN Code
column into the relevant number of columns):

[Bei allen Anleihekorbbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen
mit mehr als einer Anleihe die Spalte mit dem ISIN-Code
der Anleihe in die entsprechende Anzahl von Spalten
unterteilen.]

Terms applicable to a Bond are the ones specified
in the table below.

Die auf eine Anleihe anwendbaren Bedingungen sind in
der nachstehenden Tabelle angegeben.

In the table below, "X" means "Applicable" | In der nachstehenden Tabelle steht ,X* fir ,Anwendbar*
(conversely, when left in blank, means “Not | (wurde das Feld freigelassen, bedeutet dies umgekehrt
Applicable”). ,Nicht Anwendbar*).
Bond Events [Insert Anleiheereignisse [ISIN-Code
Bond ISIN der Anleihe
Code] einfiigen]
Bond Acceleration [X] Vorzeitige Félligstellung der Anleihe [X]
Bond Default [X] Potenzieller Anleihekliindigungsgrund [X]
Bond Early Redemption [X] Vorzeitige Rickzahlung der Anleihe [X]
Bond Governmental Intervention [X] Behordlicher Eingriff in Bezug auf die [X]
Bond Issuer ISDA Event IX] Anleihe
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Bond Restructuring [X] ISDA-Ereignis in Bezug auf Anleihe- [X]
Bond Failure to Pay [X] emittentin
Anleiherestrukturierung [X]
Nichtzahlung der Anleihe [X]

DEFINITIONS APPLICABLE TO INTEREST (IF

BEGRIFFSBESTIMMUNGEN FUR ZINSEN (SOFERN

ANY), REDEMPTION AND THE UNDERLYING(S) | VORHANDEN), RUCKZAHLUNG UND BASISWERTE

IF ANY (SOFERN VORHANDEN)

24. | (i) Definitions relating to date(s): (i) Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf den Tag/die
Tage:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable] [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[- Insert any relevant date(s): [- etwaige(n) maBgebliche(n) Tag(e) einfiigen:

[Insert date(s)]] [Tag(e) einfligen]]

(ii) Definitions relating to the Product: (ii) Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf das Produki:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar, vorbehaltlich der

provisions of Condition 4 of the Additional Terms | Bestimmungen von Bedingung 4 der Zusétzlichen

and Conditions relating to Formulae] [Applicable. All | Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln] [Anwendbar. Bei allen
or part of the definitions relating to the Product | oder einem Teil der Begriffsbestimmungen in Bezug auf
being those used in the Additional Terms and | das Produkt handelt es sich um die in den Zusétzlichen

Conditions relating to Formulae.]] Emissionsbedingungen  zu Formeln  verwendeten

Begriffsbestimmungen.]]

[- Insert any relevant defined term(s)|[- MaBgebliche(n) definierte(n) Begriff(e) in Bezug
applicable to interest (if any), redemption auf Zinsen (sofern vorhanden), Riickzahlung und
and the underlying(s) (if any), from the den/die Basiswert(e) (sofern vorhanden) aus den
Additional Terms and Conditions relating Zusiétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen zu Formeln
to Formulae: einfiigen:

[Insert the relevant definition(s) corresponding to | [MaBgebliche Begriffsbestimmung(en) entsprechend der

the reference of the product in the Additional Terms | Produktreferenz in den Zuséizlichen Emissionsbe-

and Conditions relating to Formulae and mentioned | dingungen zu Formeln und wie im vorstehenden
in paragraph 8(iv) ‘[Reference of the Product]” | Absatz 8 (iv) ,[Produktreferenz]” genannt einfligen]]
abovel]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SECURED NOTES BESTIMMUNGEN IN BEZUG AUF BESICHERTE

SCHULDVERSCHREIBUNGEN
25. | Secured Notes Provisions: Bestimmungen fur Besicherte Schuldver-

schreibungen:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable, subject to the
provisions of the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Secured Notes]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar, vorbehaltlich der Bestim-
mungen der Zusatzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fir
Besicherte Schuldverschreibungen]

[If Not Applicable, delete the

subparagraphs]

remaining

[Falls Nicht Anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsétze
streichen)

(i) Collateral Pool:

(i) Sicherheitenpool:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  fiir =~ Besicherte  Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben]

(ii) Type of Collateral Pool:

(ii) Art des Sicherheitenpools:

[Single Series Collateral
Collateral Pool]

Pool] [Multiple Series

[Sicherheitenpool fiir Einzelserien] [Sicherheitenpool flr
Mehrere Serien]

(ili) Type of Collateralisation:

(ili) Art der Besicherung:

[MV Collateralisation] [NV Collateralisation] [Max
(MV, NV) Collateralisation] [Min (MV, NV)
Collateralisation]

[MW-Besicherung] [NW-Besicherung] [Max (MW, NW)-
Besicherung] [Min (MW, NW)-Besicherung]

- Collateral Valuation at Nominal Value:

- Sicherheitenbewertung zum Nennwert:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

(iv) Eligibility Criteria:

(iv) Eignungskriterien:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Fur die Zwecke von Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  fir ~ Besicherte  Schuldver-
schreibungen angeben]

(v) Collateral Rules:

(v) Sicherheitenvorschriften:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen  fiir  Besicherte  Schuldver-
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Secured Notes]

schreibungen angeben]

(vi) Collateralisation Percentage:

(vi) Besicherungsprozentsatz:

[Specify the percentage or the formula for
calculating this percentage] [Where Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation or Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation is
applicable, specify percentage level for MV and NV
Collateralisation if different]

[Prozentsatz oder Formel fiir die Berechnung des Prozent-
satzes angeben] [Falls Max (MW, NW)-Besicherung oder
Min (MW, NW)-Besicherung anwendbar ist, Hbhe des
Prozentsatzes fiir MW- und NW-Besicherung angeben,
falls abweichend]

[Specify where the Collateralisation Percentage
may vary after a certain date, following the
occurrence of a trigger event or following a
unanimous decision of the Noteholders]

[Angeben, falls sich der Besicherungsprozentsatz nach
einem bestimmten Tag infolge des Eintritts eines Ausldser-
Ereignisses oder eines einstimmigen Beschlusses der
Schuldverschreibungsinhaber dndern kann]

[Where the Collateralisation Percentage may vary
following an unanimous decision of the
Noteholders, specify a notification period]

[Falls sich der Besicherungsprozentsatz infolge eines
einstimmigen Beschlusses der Schuldverschreibungs-
inhaber &ndern kann, Frist angeben]

(vii) Haircuts:

(vii) Haircuts:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable. [specify details of the
haircut to be applied in relation to each type or
class of Collateral Assef]]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar. [Einzelheiten zu dem auf
die einzelnen Arten oder Klassen von Sicherheiten
anzuwendenden Haircut angeben]]

(viii) Collateral Test Dates:

(viii) Sicherheitentest-Tage:

[Specify for the purposes of Condition 1 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes] [No periodic Collateral Test Dates]

[Fir die Zwecke von Bedingung 1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen flir Besicherte Schuldverschrei-
bungen angeben] [Keine regelmaBigen Sicherheitentest-
Tage]

(ix) Collateral Substitution:

(ix) Ersetzung von Sicherheiten:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

(x) Waiver of Rights:

(x) Rechtsverzicht:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

(xi) Early Redemption Amount following the
occurrence of a Collateral Disruption
Event:

(xi) Vorzeitiger Riickzahlungsbetrag nach dem Eintritt
eines Sicherheitenstérungsereignisses:

[Market Value as per Condition 6.5 of the General
Terms and Conditions] [as defined in paragraph 22
“Redemption for Tax Event, Special Tax Event,
Regulatory Event, Force Majeure Event or Event of
Default, or at the option of the Calculation Agent
pursuant to the Additional Terms and Conditions”]
[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2.7 of the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Marktwert nach MaBgabe von Bedingung 6.5 der
Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen] [wie in Absatz 22
“Vorzeitige Rickzahlung bei Eintritt eines Steuer-
ereignisses, aus besonderen steuerlichen Griinden, eines
regulatorischen Ereignisses, einem Ereignis HOherer
Gewalt, eines Kindigungsgrunds oder nach Wahl der
Berechnungsstelle gemaB den Zusatzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen” definiert] [Fir die Zwecke von
Bedingung 2.7 der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Besicherte Schuldverschreibungen angeben]

(xii) Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets:

(xii) Physische Lieferung von Sicherheiten:

[Not Applicable] [Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar]

[If (xii) Not Applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraph]

[Falls (xii) Nicht Anwendbar, den weiteren Unterabsatz
streichen)

[- Method of transfer of Collateral Assets in
respect of Collateral Assets Entitlement:

[ Ubertragungsmethode fiir Sicherheiten im
Hinblick auf den Sicherheitenanspruch

[Delivery through Clearstream, Luxembourg or
Euroclear or any other relevant clearance institution
(the Collateral Assets Clearing System) unless
the Collateral Assets are not eligible for clearance
by the Collateral Assets Clearing System, in which
case transfer will take place outside the Collateral
Assets Clearing System.]]

[Lieferung Uber Clearstream, Luxemburg oder Euroclear

oder jedes andere malBgebliche Clearinginstitut (das
Sicherheiten-Clearingsystem), es sei denn, die
Sicherheiten sind nicht fir ein Clearing Uber das

Sicherheiten-Clearingsystem geeignet; in diesem Fall
erfolgt die Ubertragung auBerhalb des Sicherheiten-
Clearingsystems.]]

(xiii) Order of Priority:

(xiii) Rangfolge:

[The Standard Order of Priority (as such term is
defined in Condition 1 of the Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to Secured Notes) applies]
[Insert any alternative Order of Priority pursuant to
the definition of “Order of Priority” in Condition 1 of
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Notes]

[Die Standard-Rangfolge (wie in Bedingung1 der
Zusétzlichen  Emissionsbedingungen  flir  Besicherte
Schuldverschreibungen definiert) ist anwendbar.] [Etwaige
alternative Rangfolge nach MaBgabe der Begriffs-
bestimmung von ,Rangfolge“ in Bedingung 1 der
Zusétzlichen  Emissionsbedingungen  fir ~ Besicherte
Schuldverschreibungen einfligen]
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(xiv) Other applicable options as per the
Additional Terms and Conditions relating
to Secured Notes:

(xiv) Sonstige anwendbare Optionen nach MaBgabe
der Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen fiir
Besicherte Schuldverschreibungen:

[Not Applicable]

[Nicht Anwendbar]

[Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is Euro,
specify where the Collateral Valuation Currency
Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation Currency
Specified Time differ from the Collateral Valuation
Currency Screen Page and the Collateral Valuation
Currency Specified Time specified in the Additional
Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Notes]

[Falls die Sicherheitenbewertungswéhrung der Euro ist,
angeben, falls die Bildschirmseite der Sicherheiten-
bewertungswéhrung und der Festgelegte Zeitpunkt fir die
Sicherheitenbewertungswéhrung von der Bildschirmseite
der Sicherheitenbewertungswdhrung und dem Fest-
gelegten Zeitpunkt fir die Sicherheitenbewertungs-
wéhrung, die in den Zusétzlichen Emissionsbedingungen
fir Besicherte Schuldverschreibungen angegeben sind,
abweichen]

[Where the Collateral Valuation Currency is other
than Euro, specify the Collateral Valuation
Currency, the Collateral Valuation Currency Screen
Page and the Collateral Valuation Currency
Specified Time ]

[Falls die Sicherheitenbewertungswéhrung eine andere
Wéhrung als der Euro ist, Sicherheitenbewertungs-
wéhrung, Bildschirmseite der Sicherheitenbewertungs-
wédhrung und Festgelegten Zeitpunkt fir die Sicherheiten-
bewertungswéhrung angeben ]

[Predetermined Collateral Valuation Currency Rate
of Exchange is applicable]

[Vorher Festgelegter Wechselkurs der Sicherheiten-

bewertungswahrung ist anwendbar]

[Where  Predetermined  Collateral  Valuation
Currency Rate of Exchange is applicable specify
the predetermined rate of the Collateral Valuation
Currency]

[Falls Vorher Festgelegter Wechselkurs der Sicherheiten-
bewertungswédhrung anwendbar ist, vorher festgelegten
Wechselkurs der Sicherheitenbewertungswéhrung an-
geben]

[Specify where a different Valuation Point shall be
used]

[Angeben, falls ein abweichender Bewertungszeitpunkt zu
verwenden isf]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE
NOTES

ALLGEMEINE BESTIMMUNGEN DER SCHULDVER-
SCHREIBUNGEN

26. Provisions applicable to payment date(s): Bestimmungen fiir Zahlungstag(e)
- Payment Business Day: - Zahlungsgeschaftstag:
[Following Payment Business Day] [Modified | [Folgender Zahlungsgeschéftstag] [Modifizierter Folgender
Following Payment Business Day] Zahlungsgeschéftstag]
[NB: "Payment Business Day" election in | [Anm.: Spezifizierung des ,Zahlungsgeschéftstags“ nach
accordance with Condition 5.6 of the General | MaBgabe von Bedingung 5.6 der Allgemeinen Emissions-
Terms and Conditions of the German Law Notes] bedingungen der Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschrei-
bungen]
- Financial Centre(s): - Finanzplatz (Finanzplatze):
[Insert the financial centre(s)] [Finanzplatz (Finanzplétze) einfiigen]
[In respect of Credit Linked Notes with Physical | [Bei Kreditereignisbezogenen Schuldverschreibungen mit
Settlement. [Insert the financial centre(s)] and | Physischer Abwicklung: [Finanzplatz  (Finanzpldtze)
solely for the purposes of physical settlement, if | einfigen] und ausschlieBlich fir die Zwecke einer
applicable, a day in any other jurisdiction in which a | physischen Abwicklung, falls anwendbar, einen Tag in
bank must be open in order to effect settlement of | einer anderen Jurisdiktion, in der eine Bank gedffnet sein
any Deliverable Obligations being Delivered.] muss, um die Abwicklung von gelieferten Lieferbaren
Verbindlichkeiten durchzufiihren.]
27. | Form of the Notes: Form der Schuldverschreibungen:

(i) Form:

(i) Form:

[If German law Notes in bearer form: [Temporary
Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global
Note] [Permanent Global Notes]]

[Bei Deutschrechtlichen Schuldverschreibungen in Form
von Inhaberschuldverschreibungen: [Vorlaufige Global-
urkunde, die in eine Dauerglobalurkunde umgetauscht
werden kann] [Dauerglobalurkunden]]

[If SIS Notes in bearer form: [CHF SIS Notes]
[Other SIS Notes] in the form of a Permanent
Global SIS Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer
SIS Note only upon a Bearer SIS Notes Exchange
Event]

[Bei SIS-Schuldverschreibungen in Form von Inhaber-
schuldverschreibungen: [CHF-SIS-Schuldverschreibungen]
[Sonstige SIS-Schuldverschreibungen] in Form einer SIS-
Dauerglobalurkunde, die ausschlieBlich bei einem SIS-
Inhaberschuldverschreibungs-Umtauschereignis in
Effektive SIS-Inhaberschuldverschreibungen umgetauscht
werden kann]

[NB: Elect “Yes” opposite “New Global Note (NGN)
/ New Safekeeping Structure (NSS)” if “Yes” is
elected in Part B under the heading “Operational
Information” opposite the paragraph entitled

[Anm.: ,Ja“ neben ,Neue Globalurkunde (NGN)/Neue
Verwahrstruktur (NVS)“ auswéhlen, wenn in Teil B im
Abschnitt ,Angaben zur Abwicklung“ neben dem Absatz
,(Vi) EZB-F&higkeit der Schuldverschreibungen“ ,Ja“
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“(vi) Eurosystem eligibility of the Notes”]

ausgewdéhit wurde]

(ii) New Global Note (NGN — bearer notes) /
New Safekeeping Structure (NSS -
registered notes):

Inhaberschuldver-
(NVS -

Neue Globalurkunde (NGN -
schreibungen)/Neue Verwahrstruktur
Namensschuldverschreibungen:

[Yes] [No]

[Ja] [Nein]

28. Language of the Terms and Conditions of the | Sprache der Emissionsbedingungen der Schuldver-
Notes schreibungen
[English language only][English language together | [ausschlieBlich Englisch][Englisch zusammen mit einer
with a German language translation (English | Ubersetzung in die deutsche Sprache (Englisch bindend)]
binding)] [German language only] [German | [ausschlieBlich Deutsch][Deutsch zusammen mit einer
language together with a English language | Ubersetzung in die englische Sprache (Deutsch bindend)]
translation (German binding)]
29. Redenomination: Wahrungsumstellung:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 1.4 of | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
the General Terms and Conditions] Bedingung 1.4 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]
30. | Consolidation: Konsolidierung:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 14.2 | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
of the General Terms and Conditions] Bedingung 14.2 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]
31. Partly Paid Notes Provisions: Bestimmungen fiir Teilweise Eingezahlte Schuld-
verschreibungen:
[Not Applicable] [Applicable as per Condition 6.9 of | [Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar nach MaBgabe von
the General Terms and Conditions] Bedingung 6.9 der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]
[NB: Insert amount of each payment comprising the | [